DISSERTATION FROM THE NORWEGIAN SCHOOL OF SPORT SCIENCES 2021

Ingeborg Barth Vedøy

## Physical activity, mental health and academic achievement in adolescents

A longitudinal study exploring the role of physical activity on dimensions of mental health and academic achievement in Norwegian adolescents at lower secondary school



nih.no

Ingeborg Barth Vedøy

# Physical activity, mental health and academic achievement in adolescents

A longitudinal study exploring the role of physical activity on dimensions of mental health and academic achievement in Norwegian adolescents at lower secondary school

DISSERTATION FROM THE NORWEGIAN SCHOOL OF SPORT SCIENCES • 2021

ISBN 978-82-502-0596-3

#### Samandrag på norsk

Introduksjon: God psykisk helse i ungdomsåra er viktig for å unngå fråfall i skulen, seinare tilknyting til arbeidslivet, samt for evna til å meistre motgang og utfordringar i livet. Det vil også danna eit godt fundament for vaksenlivet. Vidare er det vist at å oppnå gode skuleprestasjonar gjennom utdanningsløpet er assosiert med seinare akademisk suksess, betre løn, i tillegg til betre fysisk og psykisk helse. Å inneha god psykisk helse, samt oppnå gode skuleprestasjonar er difor eit vesentleg premiss for ungdommar si framtid. Av den grunn er det viktig å få meir kunnskap om faktorar som kan fremje psykisk helse og skuleprestasjonar i denne perioden av livet. Tidlegare forsking har peikt på at fysisk aktivitet (FA) kan vera ein slik faktor. Likevel er forskinga som understøttar denne konklusjonen hefta med metodiske utfordringar knytt til målemetodane som er nytta, samt at forskinga som føreligg også primært har nytta eit tversnittsdesign for å studera desse samanhengane. Dette medfører usikkerheit knytt til resultata konklusjonane kviler på, og eit uttalt behov for ny forsking som kan adressera desse tilkortkommingane.

Hensikt med avhandlinga: Det overordna målet med denne avhandlinga var difor å bruka både eit tverrsnitt- og longitudinelt forskingsdesign til å utforska forholdet mellom objektivt målt FA og psykisk helse (målt som psykiske problem og psykisk well-being), og mellom objektivt målt FA og skuleprestasjonar hos ungdom.

**Metode:** Avhandlinga er basert på ei treårig prospektiv kohortstudie av 599 elevar frå 8. til 10. steg i ungdomsskulen (12-16 år). Elevane sokna til ulike 11 skular i Noreg på aust- og vestlandet. Mål på psykisk helse vart innhenta ved bruk av instrumenta: *Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale* og *Self-Perception Profile for adolescents*. Skuleprestasjonar vart målt ved bruk av gjennomsnittskarakter frå 1. termin av kvart skuleår. FA vart målt objektivt ved bruk av akselerometer over 7 samanhengande dagar. Data vart innhenta årleg frå 2016 til 2018.

Hovudresultat: Artikkel I nytta tverrsnittsdata og fann samanhengar mellom FA og psykisk wellbeing, samt med domenespesifikk sjølvtillit. Desse var imidlertid små. Ingen samanheng var til stade mellom FA og psykiske problem eller mellom FA og skuleprestasjonar. Artikkel II nytta longitudinelle data og fann ingen direkte eller indirekte samanhengar mellom endring i FA volum eller intensitet og skuleprestasjonar. Artikkel III nytta longitudinelle data og fann ein samanheng mellom auke i stillesitjande tid og høgare nivå av psykisk well-being hos gutar. Hos jenter var det ein liten samanheng mellom auke i FA volum og psykisk well-being. Ingen relasjon var til stade mellom endring i stillesitjande tid, FA volum eller intensitet og psykiske problem. Konklusjon: Overordna syner resultata ingen klar samanheng mellom FA eller stillesitjande tid og psykiske problem. Sidan tydelegare samanhengar har blitt funnet gjennom forsking på utval med kliniske diagnosar, kan dette tyda på at forholdet mellom fysisk aktivitet og psykisk helse er mindre uttalt i tilsynelatande friske studieutval. Med omsyn til positive dimensjonar av psykisk helse, synte resultata ein liten samanheng mellom FA og domenespesifikk sjølvtillit, samt også med psykisk wellbeing, men då særskilt hos jenter. Då ein positiv samanheng mellom stillesitjande tid og psykisk wellbeing vart funnet hos gutar, er det eit behov for å studera om dette forholdet er ulikt for ulike stillesitjande aktivitetar. Det vart ikkje funnet noko støtte for ein samanheng mellom FA og skuleprestasjonar, noko som peiker mot at desse faktorane ikkje er relatert i det undersøkte studieutvalet. Desse resultata understøttar moglegheita for at FA kan ha ulik betydning for ulike indikatorar på psykisk helse, og at mengda og intensiteten av FA i liten grad ser ut til å ha betydning for psykiske problem og skuleprestasjonar.

**Nøkkelord:** Ungdom, psykisk helse, psykisk well-being, psykiske problem, skuleprestasjonar, fysisk aktivitet, stillesitjande tid, akselerometer, midjemål, søvnlengde, tverrsnitt, longitudinell, prospektiv, epidemiologi, folkehelse

#### Summary

**Introduction:** Good mental health during adolescence is seen as important for positive social and educational outcomes, as well as a healthy transition to adulthood. Similarly, achieving academic success at school is associated with later educational success, higher income and better physical and mental health. Mental health and academic achievement during adolescence thus serve as important determinants of future health and wellbeing. Consequently, it is important to explore factors that may promote mental health and academic achievement during adolescence. Physical activity (PA) has been identified as a factor that may promote both mental health and academic achievement among young people. Nevertheless, research in this field to date has been replete with methodological issues related to measurement of PA, mental health and academic achievement as well as primarily reliant on cross-sectional study designs.

**Purpose:** The overall purpose of this thesis was to explore the cross-sectional and longitudinal relationships between objectively measured PA and mental health (both in terms of mental health problems and mental well-being) and objectively measured PA and academic achievement among Norwegian adolescents.

**Methods:** This thesis is based on a three-year prospective cohort study of 599 lower secondary school students (aged 12 to 16 years) recruited from 11 schools in the east and west side of Norway. Mental health was assessed by the *Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire*, the *Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale* and the *Self-Perception Profile for adolescents*. Academic achievement was measured by grade point average from midterm grades and PA was measured objectively using accelerometers over a period of 7 days. Data were collected annually from 2016 to 2018.

Main results: Paper I found small cross-sectional associations between PA and mental wellbeing, as well as with domain-specific self-esteem. There was no association between PA and mental health problems or academic achievement. Paper II found no longitudinal relationship between change in volume or intensity of PA and academic achievement, neither through direct nor indirect associations. Paper III found a longitudinal relationship between increase in sedentary time and higher levels of mental wellbeing among boys, as well as a small relationship between increase in sedentary time, volume and mental wellbeing in girls. No relationships were present for change in sedentary time, volume or intensity of PA and mental health problems.

**Conclusion:** Overall, the results point towards no clear relationship between either PA or sedentary behaviour and mental health problems. As stronger associations between PA and indicators of mental health is found in clinical samples, these results may suggest that the relationship is less clear among an apparently healthy study sample. With regard to the positive dimensions of mental health,

results showed small associations between PA and domain-specific self-esteem, as well as with mental wellbeing, especially for girls. Based on the positive relationship between sedentary behaviour and mental wellbeing among boys, there is a need to further explore whether this relationship varies with different activities when sedentary. No evidence of a relationship between PA and academic achievement was found, and thus suggest them to be largely unrelated in the current study sample. These results provide some weight to the possibility that PA may relate differently to diverse indicators of mental health, and that the determinants of mental health problems and how well adolescents do at school may lie beyond the amount and intensity of PA.

**Keywords:** Adolescents, mental health, mental wellbeing, mental health problems, academic achievement, physical activity, sedentary behaviour, accelerometer, waist circumference, sleep duration, cross-sectional, longitudinal, prospective, epidemiology, public health

#### Acknowledgements

A PhD may look like a lonely one-woman show from the outside. However, it is the result of the contribution from a number of people. I would not be where I am today without the help and support from them. In that regard, there are several people I would like to thank specifically.

First, I would like to thank my main supervisor, **Sigmund Alfred Anderssen**. Our relationship dates far back from when I started as a student at The Norwegian School of Sport Sciences (NSSS), and I am extremely grateful for everything you have taught me, both at a professional and a personal level throughout these years. Your ability to make me understand what this PhD journey is all about, as well as your never-ending optimism and support have been invaluable. Even though we have been in different cities during my PhD, you were never more than a phone call away, and have frequently checked in with me just to say 'hi' and see how I am doing.

My co-supervisors, **Knut Ragnvald Skulberg** and **Hege Eikeland Tjomsland**, you are two of the kindest people I know. Your contribution to my PhD stretches far beyond your professional expertise. Thank you for your support, your availability whenever I reached out and for making the threshold so low that no question was ever too dumb to ask.

PI, **Miranda Thurston**: I am immensely grateful that you provided me with the opportunity to do a PhD in this project and allowed me to develop it towards my area of expertise. Your dedication to the project and to public health in general is admirable. I have learned so much from working close with you since we started this journey. As a bonus, my English has also improved substantially throughout these years.

**Morten W. Fagerland**: Your statistical guidance has been essential. You have showed me that there are several analytic ways of approaching the data, and that one should not make things more complicated than needed. Thank you for all your help.

**Elin Kolle:** First and foremost, I am so grateful for our friendship and that your home is always open whenever I am in Oslo. Furthermore, thank you for your willingness to share your knowledge and always being available for questions from less experienced researchers as myself.

**Linda** and **Ellen**, my fellow PhD-students. Thank you for all fruitful discussions both regarding our PhD's, but also about life in general.

Sidsel, Patrick, Marte, Anne, Gisle and Carina: Thank you for all help regarding data collection.

No project would be possible without the willingness of schools and students to participate. I am both humble and thankful for all time devoted to this project by the students and contact persons at the participating schools. Thank you so much.

Librarian **Elin Opheim**, thank you for helping me with references and EndNote. **Odd Kristian Lundby**, thank you for helping me with the technicalities with Checkbox.

To all colleagues and friends at HINN, thank you for making my life at work so enjoyable. To my colleagues at NSSS: although I have not been able to see you as frequently as I would like, you are always so welcoming whenever I am able to come to NSSS, when we meet up at conferences or at digital channels. I am very glad to be a part of your group. I feel lucky to be surrounded by so many good people in my working life!

To all my friends, thank you for all support and for being great friends. I would be lost without you!

To my family who has contributed in several ways to this project: **mum** and **dad** for being teachers at two of the participating schools and helping me with the pilot as well as the data collection. On a personal level, I cannot express how important you have been for me, both during this process and in life in general. My sister **Oda** and her family, for providing a second home for me during data collection in Bergen. You have made hectic times bearable by allowing me to be a part of your family life whenever I came over. I think you are the reason why I did not go under during the first year of data collection. My brother **Jørund**, for your help during the first year of data collection and for always creating time to meet-up whenever I came to Bergen. I love your company just as much as our never-ending discussions about everything from science to politics. You keep me on my toes.

My dearest **Patrick** and **Oline**, you mean the world to me, and are my best achievements in life. Your sheer presence has enabled me to see and appreciate the important things in life, as well as creating some sort of balance throughout this process.

For all you have taught me and everything you are; **mum** and **dad**, I dedicate this thesis to you.

Elverum, May 2021 Ingeborg Barth Vedøy

### List of papers

This PhD thesis is based on the following three research papers:

#### Paper I:

Barth Vedøy, I., Anderssen, S. A., Tjomsland, H. E., Skulberg, K. R., & Thurston, M. (2020). Physical activity, mental health and academic achievement: a cross-sectional study of Norwegian adolescents. *Mental Health and Physical Activity, 18*, 100322. doi:10.1016/j.mhpa.2020.100322

#### Paper II:

Barth Vedøy, I., Skulberg, K. R., Anderssen, S. A., Tjomsland, H. E., & Thurston, M. (2021). Physical activity and academic achievement among Norwegian adolescents: Findings from a longitudinal study. *Prev Med Rep, 21*, 101312-101312. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101312

#### Paper III:

Barth Vedøy, I., Skulberg, K. R., Anderssen, S. A., Fagerland, M. W., Tjomsland, H. E., & Thurston, M. (2021). The longitudinal association between objectively measured physical activity and mental health among Norwegian adolescents. Status: Currently being revised after reviewers' feedback with *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*.

#### **Abbreviations**

BMI: Body mass index

- CI: Confidence interval
- CPM: Counts per minute
- FAS: Family affluence scale
- GPA: Grade-point average
- HBSC: Health Behaviour in School-aged Children Study
- ICAD: International children's accelerometer database
- LPA: Light physical activity
- MET: Metabolic equivalent
- MHP: Mental health problems
- MWB: Mental wellbeing
- MPA: Moderate physical activity
- MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity
- NSD: Norwegian Centre for research data PA: Physical activity
- PAEE: Physical activity energy expenditure
- PANCS: Physical activity among Norwegian children study
- PISA: Programme for International Student Assessment
- SD: Standard deviation
- SDQ: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire
- SED: Sedentary behaviour
- SES: Socio-economic status
- SPPA-R: Self-perception profile for adolescents
- T1: First wave of data collection
- T2: Second wave of data collection
- T3: Third wave of data collection
- VPA: Vigorous physical activity
- WC: Waist circumference
- WEMWBS: Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale
- WHO: World health Organization

## List of tables

Tables		Page
Table 1.	Physical activity level among young people in Norway presented as adherence to national recommendations (%) and total volume (mean (95% CI)).	9
Table 2.	Secular trends in mental health among young people in Norway presented as life satisfaction and measures of mental health problems.	16
Table 3.	Academic achievement among adolescents presented as mean GPA and results on national tests among boys and girls.	19
Table 4.	Overview of selected cross-sectional and longitudinal studies exploring the relationship between objectively measured physical activity and variables of mental health among children and adolescents.	21
Table 5.	Overview of selected cross-sectional and longitudinal studies exploring the relationship between objectively measured physical activity and academic achievement among children and adolescents.	23
Table 6.	Cut-points defining different intensities within physical activity	32
Table 7a.	Descriptive characteristics and mean differences on possible confounding variables of the study sample by sex, all time points (mean ± SD unless otherwise specified)	39
Table 7b.	Descriptive characteristics and mean differences on PA and outcome variables of the study sample by sex, all time points (mean $\pm$ SD unless otherwise specified)	40
Table 8.	Score distribution of SDQ within a 4-band categorization in T1-T3 (n + %).	41
Table 9.	Differences in key variables between participants who provided valid PA measurements in T1 (2016) and T3 (2018), and participants who did not provide valid PA measurements at both time points.	43
Table 10.	Associations between physical activity and measures of mental health and academic achievement analysed with a multiple linear regression model (n=474-537)	44

## List of figures

Figures		Page
Figure 1.	Map of the participating schools in Norway	28
Figure 2.	Flowchart of the study sample.	30
Figure 3.	The ActiGraph GT3X-bt worn at the right hip.	31
Figure 4.	Score distribution of WEMWBS in <b>a</b> = T1, <b>b</b> = T2, <b>c</b> = T3	42
Figure 5.	Parameter estimates of the regression coefficient of the longitudinal associations between changes (2016-2018) in physical activity (total PA and MVPA), WC, sleep duration and academic achievement. (n= 379-468)	45
Figure 6.	Association between change in intensities of PA (2016-2018) and mental health outcomes in 2018 among <b>BOYS</b> . (n = 139-159).h	46
Figure 7.	Association between change in intensities of PA (2016-2018) and mental health outcomes in 2018 among <b>GIRLS</b> . (n = 196-222).	47

## **Table of contents**

Samandrag på norsk	I
Summary	III
Acknowledgements	v
List of papers	VII
Abbreviations	VIII
List of tables	IX
List of figures	x
1. Introduction and background	1
1.1 Clarifying the construct of mental health	2
1.2 Physical activity and sedentary behaviour	
1.2.1 Assessment of physical activity	
1.2.2 Physical activity in adolescence	6
1.3 Mental health	
1.3.1 Assessment of mental health	
1.3.2 Mental health in adolescence	
1.4 Academic achievement	
1.4.1 Assessment of academic achievement	
1.4.2 Academic achievement in adolescence	
1.5 Physical activity and mental health in adolescence	
1.6 Physical activity and academic achievement in adolescence	
1.7 Additional factors related to predictor and/or outcomes	
2. Study aims	27
3. Methods	28
3.1 Study design and sampling	
3.2 Measures	
3.2.1 Anthropometrics	
3.2.2 Physical activity	
3.2.3 Academic achievement	
3.2.4 Mental wellbeing	
3.2.5 Self-esteem	
3.2.6 Mental health problems	
3.2.7 Socio-economic status	
3.3 Ethics	
3.4 Statistics and data processing	

3.4.1 Sample size	35
3.4.2 Paper I	35
3.4.3 Paper II	36
3.4.4 Paper III	36
4. Summary of results	38
4.1 Characteristics of the study sample/participants (Papers I-III)	38
4.1.1 Loss to follow-up on valid PA measurements	43
4.2 Paper I	44
4.3 Paper II	45
4.4 Paper III	46
5. General discussion	48
5.1 Main findings	48
5.2 Physical activity and mental health	48
5.2.1 Positive dimensions of mental health	48
5.2.2 Mental health problems	51
5.2.3 Too mentally healthy?	52
5.3 Physical activity and academic achievement	53
5.4 Physical activity, mental health, and academic achievement – multifactorial concepts	56
5.5 Methodological discussion	57
5.5.1 Study design	57
5.5.2 Selection bias	59
5.5.3 Methodological consideration of measurements	60
5.5.4 Summary: Strengths and limitations of study design and measurements	64
6. Conclusions	66
7. Implications and future directions	67
8. References	69

#### PAPERS I-III

#### Appendix I-VII (Norwegian)

- I. Questionnaire
- II. WEMWBS original Norwegian version
- III. WEMWBS Norwegian back-translations from bokmål to nynorsk
- IV. Study approval from the Norwegian Centre for Research data (NSD)
- V. Study information and informed consent
- VI. Time spent cycling and/or swimming in T1 to T3
- VII. Adherence to PA measurements in T1 to T3

#### 1. Introduction and background

Public health has been defined as "the science and art of preventing disease, prolonging life and promoting health through the organized efforts of society" (1, p4). In order to promote health and prevent disease and disability in the population the field of public health draws on many disciplines, such as biology, psychology, sociology, education, medicine and public policy (2, 3). The foundation for public health is that the causes of health and illness go beyond individual biology and behaviour (4) and, in particular, draws on evidence that a good start in life has lifelong effects on many aspects of health and wellbeing (5). Thus, there is a need to give particular attention to the formative period of the early years and adolescence. Adolescence is defined as the period spanning from 10-19 years of age (6). In this period of life, the physical, cognitive, emotional, social and economic resources that lay the foundations for later life in terms of health and wellbeing are developed (7, 8). On this basis, there is a profound need to explore factors that might promote good health among adolescents in order to build good health for the future as well as 'prevent' rather than 'repair'. As the major determinants of health lie outside the health care sector, other sectors potentially have an important role in addressing the health and wellbeing of young people (7).

Education serves as a powerful determinant of adolescent health (7). More years of education as well as greater academic success are associated with broad and enduring advantages for later educational success, income and better physical and mental health (5, 9). Those who accumulate more years in education also live longer lives and have less ill health compared with those who have fewer years. This trend is apparent in both high-income and low-income countries (7). The possibility to participate in education and achieve educational success is thus of major importance for young people and serves as an essential factor for public health.

Good mental health is considered critical for a healthy transition to adulthood, and has implications for growth and development, as well as for social and educational outcomes (8). Promoting good mental health throughout the life course and ensuring that mental health is an equal part of public health work is amongst the goals of both global (10) and national (11) policy plans. The Norwegian policy plan further underscores the importance of a healthy lifestyle in terms of a healthy diet, sufficient amounts of physical activity (PA) and sleep, reduction in use of alcohol and drugs and smoke cessation for obtaining good mental health in the population (11).

The belief that PA could promote both physical and mental health is not new and can be found (in different versions) in many ancient cultures. Concepts of health and prevention have been found in writings from India and China since 3000 B.C. In ancient Greece, the father of preventive medicine, Hippocrates, advocated extensively for the benefits of exercise for different complaints, including

mental illnesses (12). However, it was not until *The London Transport Workers Study* by Morris et al. in 1953 (13), that systematic research on PA and health emerged. Since then, the field of study has increased considerably and PA is now widely accepted as beneficial for a diverse number of health outcomes for all age groups (14, 15). In 1994, Morris deemed PA to be the "best buy" for public health (16). In what follows, PA, mental health and academic achievement among adolescents is explored, specifically with regard to the putative relationships between PA and mental health and PA and academic achievement.

#### 1.1 Clarifying the construct of mental health

The purpose of this section is to clarify the concepts of the different indicators of mental health for the thesis to build on.

#### Mental wellbeing

In the literature, the term "mental wellbeing (MWB)" is widely applied as an overall measure of positive mental health. Although there is a conceptual overlap of the most common indicators of MWB (17), there are still substantial differences between which aspect of MWB they are measuring. To simplify matters throughout this thesis, the terms will be used in accordance with the literature cited and a discussion of semantics will be provided under the methodological discussion.

#### Self-esteem

One dimension of mental health used in this thesis is self-esteem. This is considered to be a complex field which is filled with definitional and conceptual ambiguity (18). In the current study, the instrument used to measure this concept is the revised version of the Self-perception profile for adolescents (SPPA-R) (19, 20). One of the items captured by this instrument is global self-worth, which is an overall sense of worth as a person and is considered to be analogous to overall self-esteem (20). These concepts will therefore be used synonymously when addressing results from SPPA-R. Once again, the thesis will refer to the term of use in the cited literature and provide a discussion of semantics under the methodological discussion.

#### Mental health problems

Terminology for symptom-based conditions of mental health varies considerably across studies. For the purpose of the current thesis, "mental health problems (MHP)" will be used to represent preclinical psychological states, whereas "mental disorders" represent clinically diagnosed psychological disorders (e.g. depression and anxiety) (17, 21). Where a mental disorder is a diagnosis according to specified criteria (22), MHP refer to conditions or states that are perceived as stressful, but not to the extent that they are characterised as a diagnosis (23). The term used to describe preclinical psychological states is often dependent on the terminology of the instrument of use and will therefore vary across studies. Despite differences across instruments, their aim is to assess levels of mental health in a population or identify high risk groups, not to set a diagnosis. To simplify matters in this thesis, the terms will be used in accordance with the literature cited and again a discussion of semantics will be provided under the methodological discussion.

#### 1.2 Physical activity and sedentary behaviour

PA is defined as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that result in energy expenditure" (24, p126). Sedentary behaviour (SED) on the other hand, is defined as "any waking behaviour characterised by an energy expenditure ≤1.5 metabolic equivalents (METs), while in a sitting, reclining or lying posture" (25, p9). This is not to be confused with physical inactivity, which is defined as a level that is insufficient to meet present physical activity recommendations (25). SED includes use of electronic devices, reading/writing/drawing while sitting, reclining or lying, or sitting at school or during transportation (25). Contrarily, PA is a multidimensional behaviour which can be carried out through basic human movement, occupational activities, sports, conditioning, household, or other activities (24). Total volume of PA is made up of intensity (how strenuous an activity is), duration (how long the activity lasts) and frequency (how often the activity is conducted) (26). Energy expenditure from PA is often expressed in METS, where 1 MET is equivalent to 3.5 ml  $O_2/kg/min$  (27). As PA usually is separated into SED, or PA with light, moderate or vigorous intensity, the equivalent energy costs are calculated to be 1.0-1.5 METs, 1.6-2.9 METs, 3.0-5.9 METs or ≥6 METs respectively (28). To quantify energy cost of different physical activities and enhance comparability across studies using subjective measures of PA, a compendium of physical activities with MET values showing energy costs for 821 different activities have been created (28). However, as this is based on studies of adults, it has been argued that these MET values are inappropriate for children and adolescents and might overestimate their PA level (27). Recently youth MET values have been created where the intensity of different activities was calculated by dividing basal metabolic rate on the measured oxygen consumption, creating a youth MET ( $MET_v$ ) which is used to characterise 196 activities across four age-groups of children and adolescents (29). Although large differences exist, PA roughly accounts for 20-30 % of the total daily energy expenditure of an individual (2).

#### 1.2.1 Assessment of physical activity

Given that a goal of PA research is to better understand its relationship with health outcomes, the validity and reliability of the instruments used to measure PA is of major importance (27). To be able to draw meaningful conclusions about PA, compare PA levels between different cohorts in time and make cross-national comparisons, there is a need to critically review the varying ways in which PA is measured in studies. Accurate measurement of PA is especially challenging in children and

adolescents because of their complex and multidimensional activity patterns (27). Currently, no single method can capture all dimensions of free-living PA (30). A lot of different methods exit with varying benefits and disadvantages. Since no single gold-standard exists, the measurement of use will mainly depend on the characteristics of the study (e.g. type of study, age of participants, size of study sample, budget, etc.) (27). A combination of different methods will often provide the most precise estimate of PA undertaken. However, this may not always be feasible and the increased accuracy of using multiple instruments must be weighed against the extra burden and cost it generates (30).

Broadly, measurements of PA can be categorised as subjective (e.g. questionnaires, interviews, PA diaries and direct observation) or objective/device-based measures (e.g. pedometers, accelerometers, heart rate monitors) (30). Using these instruments, habitual energy expenditure from PA (PAEE) can be estimated with a varying degree of uncertainty (30). A more precise way to estimate PAEE is to assess it by doubly labelled water. This method are sometimes characterised as a criterion measure for PA (31) and other times referred to as "laboratory measures of energy expenditure", and can estimate the amount of energy spent for a person to be physically active (2). The method uses the elimination rate of radioactive isotopes from the body to assess energy expenditure (2). Although the method is shown to be very precise, it is fairly expensive, cannot say anything about PAEE unless the basal metabolic energy expenditure of the individual is known, and is unable to provide other details about the PA that has been conducted than energy expenditure (2, 31). However, as a criterion measure, it serves as a gold standard where other measures of PAEE is being compared (31). In epidemiological research, self-report instruments and different types of movement sensors are the most used instruments for assessing PA (30).

#### Subjective measure: Self-report

Among the self-reported measures of PA, questionnaires have been used most frequently in large populations. Their advantages are that they are relatively inexpensive and enable assessment of PA from a large number of participants (32). In addition, they can collect information about the type of activity that has been conducted, where, and with whom (33). However, they are limited by the inherent subjectivity when individuals respond to questions about their PA behaviours (31). Their use is especially challenging among young people because of recall bias, question misinterpretation, socially desirability bias and reactivity (27, 31). In addition, they risk over- or underestimation of true PA level because of particular difficulties with estimating intensity levels of PA, especially with regards to MPA and VPA (27, 34). A previous validation study found self-reported PA to be associated with total energy expenditure when compared with doubly labelled water, but not with PAEE (32).

#### **Objective measure: Movement sensors**

Objective measures are considered to produce more robust estimates of PA by removing the problems related to recall- and response bias. However, they are often more time-consuming, expensive, intrusive and burdensome than self-report measures (27). Due to technological improvements of the movement sensors in recent years, in particular with regard to the accelerometer, the inconvenience for use have been lessened (35). In addition, reducing their cost has made them increasingly feasible for use in larger populations (35). Accelerometry is found to be a significant predictor of both total energy expenditure and PAEE among adolescents (32). Several reviews thus conclude that the accelerometer provides an accurate, reliable, and practical objective measure of PA among children and adolescents (30, 36).

An accelerometer can quantify one or more dimensions of movement from the body part to which it is attached (30). As the name suggests, the accelerometer measures accelerations (35). Acceleration is a change in velocity with respect to time (m/s<sup>2</sup>), and the accelerometer is thus able to quantify the intensity of movement for that body part (30). The accelerometer generates "counts" based on the number of accelerations it is exposed to in a pre-defined time interval (epoch). The frequency of counts within the epoch assesses the time spent in different intensities of PA (37). Among accelerometers, the ActiGraph (LLC, Pensacola, Florida, USA) has the largest body of evidence to support its use (38).

Nonetheless, in order to obtain valid and comparable data using accelerometry, there are important methodological issues to address: criteria for daily wear time to make up a valid day and total number of valid days; placement of the monitor; choice of epoch; and cut-points for SED and different intensity levels of PA (36, 37). Because there are several choices available for each step of data processing, these decisions depend on the research questions of the study (39). When accelerometers are used to measure PA, researchers must determine the amount of wear time needed to provide a reliable estimate of PA and thus be included in further analysis (40). The number of days the accelerometer is worn must be able to provide a reliable estimate of the participant's habitual PA. In addition, the number of hours the accelerometer is worn to produce a valid day must both be long enough to remove days when the monitor was not worn as well as short enough to avoid unnecessary days being removed from further analyses (40). As a reliable measure will rely on a combination of both factors, longer daily wear and fewer days can achieve the same reliability as shorter daily wear and more days (40). Although a minimum of 4 days of measurements has been a widely accepted standard for achieving an adequate reliability coefficient (r =.8), 3 days of wear with  $\geq$ 7 to  $\geq$ 10 hours daily has shown a reliability coefficient of .7, which is deemed satisfactory (41). As

the first day of wear is viewed as likely to produce somewhat higher estimates of PA not seen on subsequent days (30, 41), a much used solution is to discard the first day of measurement (30).

The ActiGraph accelerometer is typically worn in an elastic belt on the right hip, or on the nondominant wrist where the appropriate location is dependent on specific research objectives (42). For children and adolescents, a higher adherence is seen for the wrist-worn versus the hip-worn monitors (37). Nonetheless, waist-worn monitors are still widely applied in research studies of PA (43-46).

Because earlier versions of accelerometers had poorer storage capability, an epoch of 60 sec was usually applied to enable additional days of monitoring (47). Newer versions have considerably more storage capabilities and thus enable a shorter epoch to be used. Children's activity level can be intermittent and made up of short bursts of higher intensity PA lasting less than 15 sec (48). A 60 sec epoch will not capture these bursts. Shorter epoch lengths generate a more detailed picture of PA within each time interval. There is some consensus that shorter epochs (1-15 sec) should be obtained to provide a more accurate representation of the PA level of young people, especially with regard to children (37, 47).

There are multiple cut-points available for categorising PA intensity. Despite several attempts to find universal cut-points for the different age groups, there is still no consensus in the literature regarding use of intensity based cut-points for children and adolescents (37). However, multiple calibration studies have found that a SED cut-point of <100 counts per minute (cpm) showed excellent classification accuracy, this cut-point is now frequently applied (38, 49). Despite more variation in the literature regarding the best cut-point to assess MVPA, a cut-point of around 2200 cpm has shown the best classification accuracy when comparing different cut-points in youth (49). The proportion of time spent in MVPA will depend on the processing criteria of the accelerometer (50). To exemplify this point, more people will meet PA recommendations if the cut-point for MVPA is set lower than if it is set higher. However, by also including the total volume of daily PA (total PA) in the data analyses, a less processed measure of PA is available (50).

#### 1.2.2 Physical activity in adolescence

Physical activity has multiple acute and more long-term benefits for adolescent health. It is wellestablished that PA contributes to lower levels of overweight and obesity in adolescents, in addition to reducing the risk of obesity in adulthood, improving cardiometabolic biomarkers by increasing HDL-C levels, reducing triglyceride- and glucose levels and lowering blood pressure among adolescents with hypertension, as well as increasing bone health by enhancing bone mass, -structure and strength of the bones (14, 51, 52). Experiences from a variety of PA also support the natural development, as well as contribute to positive development of motor skills (26, 53). Further, beneficial effects on some mental health outcomes, including cognition, have been shown (14, 18, 51). In addition, PA during adolescence tracks moderately into adulthood (54, 55), and is therefore a factor of importance for maintaining an active lifestyle in a life-course perspective. In a long-term perspective, the lack of sufficient amounts of PA (a.k.a. physical inactivity) is associated with increased risk of non-communicable diseases (e.g. cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes and different types of cancer) and premature death (56). Although the onset of most of these diseases is during adult life, their aetiologies often trace back to behaviours during childhood and adolescence (7, 27).

#### Physical activity recommendations

In order to stay healthy and promote development, the WHO states that all children and youth should be physically active daily as part of play, games, sports, transportation, household chores, recreation, physical education, or planned exercise (26, 57). The current recommended dose for children and adolescents aged 5-17 years is to perform [...]at least 60 minutes per day of moderateto vigorous-intensity, mostly aerobic, physical activity, across the week. Vigorous-intensity aerobic activities, as well as those that strengthen muscle and bone, should be incorporated at least 3 days a week (57, p25). Although a substantial number of health benefits occur with 60 minutes of moderate- to vigorous intensity (MVPA) per day, the dose-response relationship is less studied among children and adolescents, further limiting the possibility to address threshold values or identify the exact shape of the dose-response curve (57). The Norwegian recommendations for PA (58, p12) are derived from the international recommendations and currently state that: 1) Children and adolescents should engage in at least 60 minutes of physical activity every day. The activity should be of moderate- to vigorous intensity. At least three times per week, physical activity of vigorous intensity that increases muscle- and bone strength should be implemented. 2) Physical activity in excess of 60 minutes per day provides additional health benefits. 3) Reduce sedentary behaviour. More recently it has become evident that movement behaviours (PA of different intensities, SED and sleep) cluster and interact in a way that "their combined effects extend beyond the individual contribution of each behaviour" (59, piii). As MVPA only makes up <5 % of the 24-hour day, sleep (~40 %), SED (~40 %) and LPA (~15 %) accounts for the remaining parts of the 24 hours (60). Consequently, it is suggested that their relationship should be viewed as co-dependent (59). Canada has thus developed the first 24-hour movement guidelines for children and youth which integrate recommended levels of PA, SED, and sleep (59). This way of viewing movement behaviours as co-dependent has also been adopted by Australia, who developed national 24-hour movement guidelines for children and young people in 2019 (61).

#### Physical activity level in children and adolescents

Globally, data from 2016 showed that about 81 % (77.6 % boys and 84.7 % girls) of (1.6 million) school-going adolescents (11-17 years) did not meet the current PA recommendations (62). This assessment was solely based on self-reported questionnaire data. Although not based on global data, an international assessment of PA measured by accelerometry (The International Children's Accelerometry Database [ICAD]), found that only 9 % of boys and 1.9 % of girls (5-17 years) met the PA recommendations (63). However, both estimates are based on strict criteria requiring participants to accumulate ≥ 60 min of MVPA every day to meet PA recommendations. In addition, both estimates are subject to multiple methodological challenges (62, 63). Still, they provide useful estimates of the proportion of children and adolescents meeting PA recommendations using strict criteria for adherence. If meeting PA recommendations instead are based on achieving an average of  $\geq$  60 min/day, the proportion of participants meeting PA recommendations increases (63). In a recent study using ICAD data to present variations in accelerometer measured activity level of (47.497) European children and adolescents, meeting PA recommendations was defined as achieving an average of at least 60 min of MVPA per day (64). Here, authors found that 29 % of children (age 2-9.9 years) and 29 % of adolescents (age 10-18 years) met the PA recommendations. In comparison, Norwegian data from a nationally representative study population found that 44 % of 15-year old girls and 55 % of 15-year old boys met the PA recommendations accumulated as an average of at least 60 min/day (65).

#### Trends in physical activity

To be able to monitor PA levels among youth over time, it is important to explore secular- and longitudinal changes. In a Norwegian context, surveillance of PA among population-based samples of children and adolescents have been conducted regularly for three waves (Physical activity among Norwegian children study [PANCS] 1-3) and thus allow exploration of secular trends from 2005 to 2018 (43, 65, 66) (see table 1). The data from these studies show no significant change in PA volume, except for 9-year old boys, where a reduction in total volume of PA was found in 2018 compared with 2005 and 2011 (65). The same pattern was also evident in adherence to national recommendations for PA, where the proportion of 9-year old boys achieving an average of  $\geq$  60 min MVPA/day decreased by 6 % from 2005 to 2018 (65). Findings from the three waves of PANCS also indicated a similar pattern of reduction in PA levels among 6- and 9- year old girls, however, these changes were not statistically significant (65). Further, there has also been a shift in accumulated time in SED and light PA (LPA) where both 9- and 15-year olds spent more time sedentary and less time in LPA in 2011 than in 2005 (43). Between 2011 and 2018 an additional increase in SED at the expense of LPA was evident among boys. This was, however only significant among 9-year olds (67).

Year/Study	Adherence to	national	Total PA (cpm)	
	PA recomme	ndations <sup>a</sup>		
	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys
2005/PANCS 1*				
9-year olds	74.0	89.7	597 (567 <i>,</i> 627)	698 (671, 726)
15-year olds	48.5	52.5	428 (404, 452)	479 (448, 511)
2011/PANCS 2*				
9-year olds	69.4	86.8	582 (563 <i>,</i> 602)	694 (671, 717)
15-year olds	40.8	55.0	410 (393 <i>,</i> 428)	492 (469, 516)
2018/PANCS 3*				
9-year olds	68.1	83.6	584 (564 <i>,</i> 603)	636 (611, 662)
15-year olds	44.1	55.3	422 (402, 442)	493 (465, 522)

 Table 1. Physical activity level among young people in Norway presented as adherence to national recommendations (%) and total volume (mean (95% CI)).

Note: Total PA (cpm) = measure of average daily PA volume, cpm = counts per minute

 $^{\circ}$ ≥60 min/day of MVPA, defined as a daily average of ≥60 min MVPA per day.

\* Source: Steene-Johannessen et. al (65)

International secular trends from the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children Study [HBSC] show a somewhat similar pattern when comparing self-reported PA data on 11, 13 and 15-year olds from two waves of data collection (2014 and 2018). This study found that MVPA declined in about 33% of the included countries between 2014 and 2018, particularly among boys, and that there were little evidence of an increase in PA within the different countries (8).

An exploration of PA levels across age groups of the Norwegian PANCS studies shows that boys of all age groups are more active than girls and that PA levels decline from 9- to 15 years (43, 66, 67). This is consistent with international trends from large scale surveys (ICAD and HBSC), which show that PA level declines throughout childhood and adolescence and that boys are consistently more active than girls (8, 63, 64). However, there is a relatively large time span between data collection points included in the ICAD-studies (1999-2016) which may make them susceptible to being influenced by secular trends with decreased PA levels over time (63, 64). To be able to describe patterns of PA more accurately throughout childhood and adolescence, longitudinal data is required, preferably with annual data collection points.

In recent years, data from several longitudinal studies exploring patterns of PA during childhood and adolescence have emerged from varying countries (43, 44, 46, 68). This has also given rise to an increase in review studies that have synthesized the results of longitudinal studies (69-71). Both individual studies as well as systematic reviews support those from cross-sectional studies showing a decrease in PA level from childhood to adolescence as well as throughout adolescence. In addition, they find that boys tend to be more active than girls throughout childhood and adolescence. Results from the longitudinal analyses of the Norwegian PANCS studies showed the reduction in PA to be

evident among both sexes in measures of total PA, time spent in LPA and MVPA, in addition to the odds of meeting PA recommendations (43). Further, an increase in SED was found in the same period. The PANCS studies nevertheless only provide longitudinal data at two points in time with a six-year interval (from 9 to 15 years of age), thus including a large timespan between measurements. Although their findings suggest a clear reduction in PA, it remains unknown whether this decrease is linear or not, thus emphasising the need for further exploration of this trend by more frequent measurements. Despite these issues, the pattern found in the PANCS studies is in agreement with results from Corder et al. (44) which showed that the decrease in PA was replaced with SED during early adolescence in British youth. Another longitudinal study from England found the decline in PA levels to start from age 7, and to be similar among boys and girls (68). In contrast, Corder et al. (44) and Dumith et al. (71) found that sex differences in MVPA decreased over time because of a greater decline in PA among girls in younger ages (9-12 years) and among boys in later adolescence (13-16 years). Evidence from a recent review suggests this sex difference to be further reduced over the transition to young adulthood (69).

#### 1.3 Mental health

In the WHO's definition of health, mental health is included as an integral part of overall health (72). According to this definition, good health can only be achieved with good mental health (72). However, mental health itself is a complex concept and not all dimensions have been well defined (22). Nevertheless, the WHO has constructed an overall definition which is commonly referred to in research. It defines mental health as "[...] *a state of well-being in which an individual realizes his or her own potential, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and make a contribution to the community*" (72, Key facts). Gustafsson et al. (22, p13) emphasize that among children and adolescents mental health also includes "[...] a *sense of identity and self-worth; sound social relationships; the ability to be productive and learn; and the ability to use developmental challenges and cultural resources to maximize growth*". Both definitions underline the more positive conceptualizations of mental health and reveal the multidimensional nature of mental health as a construct, which makes its operationalization and measurement in research a complex matter.

Mental health has traditionally been considered as the presence or absence of mental illness. More recent thinking, however, acknowledges mental health as a multidimensional concept including both negative illness dimensions (e.g. depression and anxiety) as well as positive dimensions or what may be called affirmative mental health (e.g. MWB and self-esteem) (72, 73). Keys (74) introduced the concepts "flourishing" (which includes positive feelings and positive functions in life) and "languishing" (which includes feelings of emptiness and stagnation) to differentiate the positive dimensions of mental health from mental health problems (MHP) and (diagnosed) mental illness.

There is currently broad agreement that the absence of MHP or mental illness does not necessarily imply the presence of high levels of affirmative mental health and vice versa (75, 76). The *two continua model* proposes that mental illness and affirmative mental health are related, but distinct dimensions which follow different trajectories allowing a person to, for example, experience high levels of MWB (in other words, they are flourishing) despite being diagnosed and living with depression (75). In order to ensure a multidimensional measure of mental health in an adolescent population, both dimensions should be assessed (76). Additionally, when exploring the relation between mental health and PA, different dimensions of mental health may associate differently with PA.

#### Mental Wellbeing

There is general agreement that wellbeing is a multidimensional construct that extends beyond simply feeling happy or being satisfied with life (77). MWB has major consequences for health and social outcomes (78) and incorporates different aspects of wellbeing relating to emotional, psychological and social dimensions (22, 79). Emotional wellbeing is sometimes referred to as *hedonic wellbeing*, and includes feelings of happiness, satisfaction with and interest in life. Psychological wellbeing is sometimes referred to as *eudaimonic wellbeing*, and includes positive individual functioning and self-realization (75). Whereas emotional and psychological wellbeing mainly focus on individual fulfilment, social wellbeing is made up of positive societal functioning in terms of functioning optimally in society and being of social value especially in relation to relationships (75). These three dimensions of wellbeing are indicative of an individual's overall MWB as it includes positive feelings and functioning, as well as the social aspect of wellbeing (74, 76). Indicators of such a wellbeing model include measures of self-esteem, a sense of belonging, engagement, self-determination and control and quality of life (22, 79).

#### Self-esteem

Self-esteem is generally viewed as the evaluative aspect of self-knowledge that reflects the extent to which people like themselves and believe that they are competent (80). Self-esteem reflects one's perception and cannot be viewed as accurate or inaccurate. Consequently, a person with high self-esteem will have a highly favourable view of the self, whereas a person with low self-esteem will have a more uncertain or negative evaluation of the self (80). There is an emerging consensus that these self-evaluations are domain-specific (people may evaluate the self differently in different domains of life), giving rise to a shift towards measuring domain-specific self-esteem alongside global self-esteem (19). Because these two categories of self-evaluation can coexist, domain-specific self-esteem represents self-evaluations of competence or adequacy in different arenas, and global self-

esteem represents the overall sense of worth as a person and is not made up by the sum of the domain-specific scores (20).

#### Mental health problems

MHP refer to conditions or states that are perceived as stressful, but not to the extent that they are characterised as a diagnosis (23). They can broadly be divided into internalizing and externalizing problems. Internalizing problems refer to emotional problems (e.g. depression and anxiety) and the negative emotions are directed at oneself (22). Conversely, externalizing problems refer to behavioural problems (e.g. conduct disorders, aggressiveness and anti-social behaviour, or attention deficit and hyperactivity) and the negative emotions are directed at others (22). In the 21<sup>st</sup> century, a number of social changes have occurred that might bear a negative influence on mental health of children and adolescents; e.g. increasing social inequalities, changes in family environment, parental MHP including mental illness, increasing exposure to screen time, internet and social media and increasing pressure within the school setting (81). There are many detrimental consequences of adolescent MHP for their health and education (82). For example, MHP can have a negative effect on academic achievement (22) and impair further educational attainment (83). MHP are also associated with financial problems and troubles within close relationships later on (23). In addition, MHP and mental disorders are seen to increase the risk of physical health problems and diseases and premature mortality (11, 23). Further, MHP during childhood and adolescence may also increase the likelihood of more severe mental disorders later in life (23, 82).

#### 1.3.1 Assessment of mental health *Mental wellbeing*

Measuring MWB among children and adolescents may be challenging as the instruments rely on the participant's own perception of constructs (such as life satisfaction and happiness), which they may not yet be fully capable of conceptualizing (76). Nonetheless, measuring young people's wellbeing has become increasingly important given its relevance to understanding human development. In a systematic review, Rose et al. (76) emphasised that the increased focus on MWB among adolescents necessitates the use of validated scales that can assess improvements in wellbeing without ceiling effects. To date, there are multiple instruments for assessing MWB among adolescents (e.g. *WHO-5 well-being index [WHO-5], Affectometer 2, PGI Well-being scale [PGI], EPOCH measure of adolescent well-being [EPOCH], Mental-health continuum-short form [MHC-SF] and Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale [WEMWBS]*). Some of these have specifically been developed for adolescents, while others have been adjusted to fit the age group (76).

WEMWBS is an instrument that is increasingly used to assess MWB. Originally it was developed for adults (78), but a psychometric study of the instrument has shown the scale to have strong internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha of .87 [95% CI .85, .88]) when applied to adolescents from 13 years of age and older (84). Further, the instrument has been shown to be moderately correlated with other instruments that assess MWB (WHO-5, MHC-SF and psychological wellbeing domain in Kidscreen), and moderately negatively correlated with Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire [SDQ]) (84). The instrument assesses both the emotional (e.g. happiness) and psychological (e.g. positive functioning) dimensions of an individual's wellbeing by its responses to 14 positively worded items (78). Previous research has shown that the interpretation can be different for positively vs. negatively worded items and that there is some indication that participants might prefer positively worded items (76). Tennant et al. (78) concluded that a validation study among a British adult population showed the scale had no ceiling effects. However, a Norwegian validation study (85) found evidence for a small ceiling effect among adolescents. This points towards the instrument not being sufficiently discriminating between adolescents with high levels of MWB. As MWB can vary by culture, instruments developed in one country may need to be assessed for relevance for use among the same age group outside that country (77, 86). Validation studies among Norwegian adolescents, however, indicated that the instrument was suitable for that population (85).

The revised version of Self-Perception Profile for Adolescents (SPPA-R) measures self-evaluation in different domains and serves as measures of self-esteem (19, 20). The instrument was initially developed for children, but has undergone changes to fit an adolescent population (20) and has been widely used in a large body of research (19). The foundation for the Self-perception Profile is that one evaluates oneself based on perceived competence in a domain and one's aspiration within that domain (19, 20). The instrument comprise 35 statements evenly distributed between seven domain-specific subscales (scholastic competence, social acceptance/social competence, athletic competence, physical appearance, romantic appeal, close friends and global self-worth). The validity of the original version was problematic, hence the revision of the scale. SPPA-R shows substantially better reliability, better convergent and factorial validity than the original version (19). While global self-worth measures self-esteem directly and is an evaluation of how much one likes oneself as a person, the domain specific items consist of self-judgements of ability in specific arenas of one's life (20). In the specific domains explored in the current thesis, athletic competence measures one's perceived ability to do well in sports. Social competence refers to having the skills to get others to like oneself and understanding what it takes to become popular.

#### Mental health problems

It is important to have valid and reliable instruments that can assess a broad range of MHP across a variety of settings (87). Consequently, several instruments designed for assessing self-reported MHP among young people exists (e.g. *SDQ, Youth Outcome Questionnaire [YOQ], Beck Youth Inventories [BYI], Mood and Feelings Questionnaire (MFQ), and Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale for Children [CES-DC]*). Which to use is largely dependent of the purpose of the measure (i.e discriminative, predictive or evaluative), characteristics of the instrument (e.g. intended population, measure length) and quality of the psychometric properties of the instrument (87).

The SDQ is a brief behavioural questionnaire constructed for 4-17 year olds which has been widely applied in large epidemiological studies (88, 89). It offers a balanced coverage of behaviours, emotions and relationships (90). The questionnaire exists in different versions for completion by teachers or parents, and a similar version for self-report, intended for older children and adolescents (90). It consist of 25 questions separated into 5 different scales (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity, peer problems and prosocial behaviour) where the first four generates a "total difficulties score" (ranging from 0-40 where higher scores are associated with increasing difficulties) and the prosocial scale generates a positive score (88). Goodman and Goodman (88) found that the odds of disorders increase at a constant rate across the range of total difficultiesscores with no evidence of threshold effects (for low scores). Although the instrument is deemed suitable for comparing average scores over time or between groups (88), a review of child selfreported measures of mental health and wellbeing points out that the use of a three-point Likert scale may limit variability in the derived data. This may further lead to insensitivity to change and/or floor or ceiling effects when it is used as a measure of change (91). Nevertheless, the SDQ is a muchused measure of MHP among young people, and has demonstrated satisfactory reliability and validity among both children and adolescents (92). An established Norwegian translation is available.

#### 1.3.2 Mental health in adolescence

Adolescence is a period of life characterised by rapid emotional, physical and social changes. These changes can be perceived as stressful, and thus experiencing some sort of MHP during adolescence is common (7, 82). In most cases the distress is temporary, particularly if the experienced briefly, but for some adolescents they persist into adulthood (7, 11). There exit few global estimates of the prevalence of MHP. However, the WHO (93) estimates that about 20 % of the world's children and adolescents have a mental health disorder. In 2019, mental disorders represented the 4<sup>th</sup> leading global cause of disability-adjusted life-years among youth (10-24 years), and thus serves as a large contributor to adolescent's overall health burden (94). In Norway, it is estimated that, at any time, eight % of children and adolescents suffer from a mental disorder, while 15-20 % have reduced

functions due to MHP (95). To date, less is known about positive dimensions of mental health among children and adolescents. Nonetheless, when exploring international levels of life-satisfaction (which may serve as an indicator of MWB), most adolescents report this to be high, where an average score of 7.8 out of 10 was reported. It is important to note, however, that girls consistently reported lower levels than boys and older adolescent reported lower levels than younger adolescents (8). This is in line with data on life satisfaction from Norway which shows an average score of 7.9 out of 10 (96).

#### Trends in mental health

To date, there also remains a dearth of knowledge regarding trends of positive dimensions of mental health, especially among children and adolescents. Still, secular trends in life satisfaction among children and adolescents (aged 11, 13, 15 years) have been explored in the HBSC study. Data (from the HBSC-study) show levels of life satisfaction having remained stable for the study population between 2002 and 2018. However, girls and older adolescents reported lower levels of life satisfaction during the same period (96) (see table 2).

Exploring international trends of MHP, studies find small (96) to substantial (82) increases in levels of MHP across countries, especially with regard to internalizing problems (81). The sex-specific pattern of MHP indicates a considerably larger deterioration in MHP over time among adolescent girls than boys (81, 96). However, as there were considerable country differences evident, caution is required regarding cross-national generalization of national trends (82, 96). In a Norwegian context, results differ somewhat across studies. The majority of studies show evidence of an increase in MHP during the different waves of study (97-99) (see table 2). They nevertheless find different onsets and trajectories of such increase. Further, 2/4 studies show that the increasing trend in MHP is larger among older adolescent girls relative to younger adolescents and boys (97, 98).

In parallel to the exploration of secular trends in MHP, there has been an ongoing debate whether the increase in MHP is real or not. Alternative hypotheses have proposed that it may be a consequence of a greater awareness of MHP and a corresponding rise in social acceptance of such problems. In the same vein, this might mean that there is more frequent reporting and help-seeking, improved screening, more medicalization of feelings and behaviours previously considered as normal as well as a broadening of diagnosis of mental disorders (82, 99). However, compelling evidence suggests that despite the changes in how symptoms are perceived and reported, the underlying rates of MHP have also changed, especially in high-income countries (81, 82). **Table 2**. Secular trends in mental health among young people in Norway presented as life satisfaction and measures of mental health problems.

Author, year/study	Year of data	Participants/N	Results	Conclusion
<b>Cosma et. al,</b> 2020 (96) / HBSC*	2002- 2018	11-, 13- and 15-year olds / 915.054 (international study sample)	<ol> <li>Life satisfaction: Significant change from 2002- 2018 (boys and girls)</li> <li>Psychosomatic complaints: No change between 2002-2018 (boys and girls)</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Significant positive change in life satisfaction.</li> <li>No change for psychosomatic complaints.</li> </ol>
Potrebny et. al, 2019 (97) / HBSC	1994, 1998, 2002, 2006, 2010, 2014	11-16-year olds / 27.476	<ul> <li>Psychological health complaints:</li> <li>1. Increase between 1994-2010, decrease between 2010-2014 (boys and girls)</li> <li>2. Three-way interaction between sex, age, time suggest larger increase in older adolescent girls</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Significant increase in psychological health complaints between 1994-2014.</li> <li>Larger increase for older adolescent girls.</li> </ol>
Sletten and Bakken, 2016 (98) / Ung i Oslo [Youth in Oslo]	1996, 2006, 2015	14-17-year olds / 28.892	Depressive symptoms: 1. Boys: No change between 1996-2006, small significant increase between 2006-2015. Increasing variance in depressive symptoms over time indicative of increased polarisation. 2. Girls: Significant increase between 1996-2006, more pronounced increase between 2006-2015.	<ol> <li>A small significant increase in depressive symptoms among boys between 2006- 2015. Further, an increased polarisation where percentage of high and low symptom loads increases.</li> <li>An approximate doubled prevalence of depressive symptoms among girls from 1996-2015</li> </ol>
von Soest and Wichstrøm, 2014 (99) / Ung i Norge [Youth in Norway]	1992, 2002, 2010	16-17-year olds/ 9.000	<ul> <li>Depressive symptoms:</li> <li>1. Increase between 1992-2002, no change between 2002-2010 (boys and girls).</li> <li>2. Increasing variance in depressive symptoms over time indicative of increased polarisation.</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Significant increase in depressive symptoms between 1992-2002.</li> <li>Increased polarisation where percentage of high and low symptom loads increases.</li> </ol>

\* A cross-national study. Norwegian data extracted from analyses.

#### **1.4 Academic achievement**

As education increases knowledge, cognitive, social and emotional skills of individuals (100), it is considered to be a powerful determinant of adolescent health and human capital as well as a driver of socio-economic processes (7). From a policy perspective, it is considered to be a cost-effective measure to improve health and reduce crime (100). The academic achievement attained during education "represents performance outcomes that indicate the extent to which a person has accomplished specific goals that were the focus of activities in instructional environments [...]" (101, Introduction, first paragraph).

#### 1.4.1 Assessment of academic achievement

Academic achievement is a very wide-ranging domain and covers a broad diversity of educational outcomes. Hence, the definition of it depends on the indicators used to measure it (101). According to Steinmayr et al. (101) these indicators can broadly be divided into *general indicators* such as procedural and declarative knowledge acquired in an educational system, *curricular-based criteria* such as grades or performance on an educational achievement test, and *cumulative indicators of academic achievement* such as educational degrees and certificates. Their common denominator is that they represent intellectual effort and are able to address the intellectual capacity of a person (101). For adolescents still under compulsory education, standardized tests or grades represent the most used ways of assessing academic achievement (102).

#### Grades/GPA

The grades from compulsory education are normally presented as a grade in a specific subject, composite scores of grades in certain subjects, or grade point average (GPA) (103). GPA represents the average score achieved in all subjects and measures a broad range of competence (104). Assessment of academic achievement through grades is based on criteria set by The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training (i.e. the curriculum), which evaluate the knowledge and skills pupils develop throughout compulsory education (105). However, the use of grades is criticised for being a subjective assessment which is not standardized across teachers (106). Although student grades cannot be considered sufficiently objective to enable international comparison, they represent a legal criterion to assess this in a national context (102). A grade is also an indicator that may influence a student's future as it forms the basis for further educational opportunities and work/employment possibilities (102).

#### National standardised tests

Assessment of academic achievement through national standardised tests is normally presented as results from the different tests, or as composite scores of such (103). In Norway standardised national tests are administered by The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training and

conducted annually for grade 5, 8 and 9 pupils (equals approximate ages of 10-, 13- and 14 years) (107). They assess competence in reading, numeracy and English and serve as a mid-term assessment for the schools as well as measure for quality development at all levels in the school system (107). Although standardized test scores provide an unbiased measure of academic achievement (104), they will merely assess a narrow range of what is taught in class as well as the skills and competence of the pupil (107) and might end up reflecting intellectual capacity rather than academic achievement (104).

#### 1.4.2 Academic achievement in adolescence

To be able to assess and compare academic achievement across countries, the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) survey was developed in 2000. Since then, it has been conducted every 3<sup>rd</sup> year for 15-year olds with ever increasing countries participating (108). The survey measures the students' competence in reading, mathematics and science and is currently viewed as the best marker for international comparison of academic achievement. International results on adolescents' performance in mathematics, science and reading from the PISA 2018 survey show large differences between the 79 participating countries. However, when exploring trends in performance over time it becomes evident that, on average, the mean performance in all three areas have remained stable between 2015 and 2018 (109). The Norwegian PISA results have varied in all three areas from 2000 until 2018, but the changes have not pointed towards any clear directions. Compared to the OECD average from 2018, the Norwegian students achieved on average in science, and above average for both reading and mathematics. The conclusion therefore remains the same as for the international results: the performance is stable over time (108).

National trends in academic achievement can also be assessed through exploration of trends in Norwegian GPA at the end of compulsory education (10<sup>th</sup> grade). During the last five years, a small increase in GPA has been evident (110). Sex specific data reveals that the improving trend has been somewhat higher for girls than for boys resulting in increased differences between the sexes during the last 10 years (110) (see table 3).

Additionally, Norwegian trends in academic achievement can be explored through standardised national tests. The average scores from the Norwegian standardised national tests have not changed substantially from 2014 to 2019 and shows that there are more boys achieving the highest mastery levels in numeracy, whereas the same is true for girls in reading. In English, boys and girls perform more evenly (111) (see table 3).

Year	<b>GPA</b> <sup>1</sup>		Nationa English	l tests <sup>2</sup>	Nation Readin	al tests <sup>2</sup>	Nationa Numera	al tests <sup>2</sup> acy
	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys
2010/2011	4.20	3.79						
2011/2012	4.20	3.80						
2012/2013	4.21	3.81						
2013/2014	4.25	3.85						
2014/2015	4.30	3.86						
2015/2016	4.34	3.90	50	50	51	49	50	51
2016/2017	4.37	3.92	50	50	51	49	49	51
2017/2018	4.41	3.96	50	50	51	49	49	51
2018/2019	4.43	3.97	50	51	51	49	49	51
2019/2020	4.54	4.10	50	51	51	49	48	51

**Table 3**. Academic achievement among adolescents presented as mean GPA and mean results on national tests among boys and girls.

Note: GPA = grade point average

<sup>1</sup>GPA is calculated by summing all school grades from end of compulsory education (10<sup>th</sup>) grade and divided by the number of school subject.

 $^{2}$ National test scores from grade 8. results. (Results are presented on a scale where 50 points represent the mean (SD = 10)). Test scores are only available from year 2015/2016.

Source: https://www.udir.no/tall-og-forskning/statistikk/statistikk-grunnskole/

#### 1.5 Physical activity and mental health in adolescence

Previous research has shown PA to be associated with mental health outcomes among children and adolescents (17, 18, 21, 51, 73, 79). Due to the rapidly expanding body of evidence within this field in the past few years, several reviews and umbrella reviews have been published on the topic (17, 18, 21, 51, 73). More specifically, two recent umbrella systematic reviews conclude that PA can be effective for reducing depression or depressive symptoms and improving self-perceptions among adolescents (18, 73). There has been less research attention paid to the relationship between PA and anxiety, but the current evidence suggests an association (18). The assessment of PA and MWB is less explored, but has been addressed in reviews by Whitelaw et al. (79) and Rodriguez-Ayllon et al. (21). They concluded that PA has the potential to improve MWB in adolescents. The reason for this cautiousness is because they conclude that the association may be contingent on the context within which PA is carried out (21) as well as reliant of other beneficial mechanisms changing at the same time (79). However, in another review by Poitras et al. (51), the relationship between (objectively measured) PA and indicators of MWB (measured as quality of life and self-rated health) were less clear due to the majority of studies showing that an increase in PA did not improve MWB indicators. Moreover, causality is only partially supported for PA and depression and currently not supported for the other mental health outcomes (18). Nonetheless, it is important to underline the difficulty of synthesizing results from studies from different countries, on different age groups using different outcome measures of mental health as well as different ways of measuring PA.

To add to the complexity of this relationship, the strength of the relationship between PA and indicators of mental health are found to be weak to moderate across studies (18, 21). In addition, the reviews cited above, as well as many of their individual studies, were rated as low quality (73), limitations that are important when evaluating relationships especially with regard to their possible causal role. Methodological weaknesses in study design and measurement of PA have been put forwards as the major limitations of the current knowledge base (18, 21, 73). In addition, PA's relationship with some mental health outcomes remains less studied than others, primarily with regards to anxiety and positive dimensions of mental health (21). To address some of these methodological challenges, recent studies have used objective measures to obtain more precise PA estimates (see table 4 for selected studies using objective measures to assess PA). Results from studies using an objective measure of PA tend to show no association with various mental health outcomes more frequently compared to those based on self-report. Thus, there is a need to more fully explore this relationship using an objective measurement of PA.

Little is known about the putative interacting mechanisms behind the effects of PA on mental health outcomes, but different explanatory theories exist. The conceptual model of Lubans et al. (17) proposed neurobiological, psychosocial and/or behavioural mechanisms, which may work in parallel or via interactions with each other or other mechanisms. The neurobiological hypothesis holds that PA may enhance mental health through changes made to the structural and functional composition of the brain and propose several different mechanisms for such change (17). A well-known explanatory theory for neurobiological mechanisms proposes that PA stimulates the release of hormones (e.g. endorphins) which induce positive changes to the mood and further may promote MWB and protect against MHP (21, 112). On the other hand, the psychological hypothesis views the link between PA and mental health to come from PA's potential ability to satisfy basic psychological needs through social interaction with others, which also may create a sense of belonging, achieving mastery through accomplishing different PA tasks, enhancing self-perception of appearance and providing opportunities for autonomy (17, 79). In addition, the link may be explained psychologically by the 'distraction' hypothesis which holds that PA may serve as a distraction from more stressful parts of life and thus influence levels of mental health (79). Lastly, the behavioural hypothesis suggests that the association between PA and mental health is mediated by changes in other behaviours relevant to mental health (e.g. sleep-related factors, diet, recreational screen-time, etc.) (17). Overall, the research was insufficient to form conclusions on the proposed mechanisms (17).

Introduction and background

Table 4. Overview of selected cross-sectional and longitudinal studies exploring the relationship between objectively measured physical activity and variables of mental health among children and adolescents.

	•					
Author, year	Country	Methodology	Age of participants*	Measure of PA	Measure of MH	Result
<b>Bell et. al</b> , 2019 (113)	England	Longitudinal	12-13 years	Total PA, MVPA	Mental wellbeing (WEMWBS) and symptoms of mental disorders (SDQ)	No association
<b>Hume et. al,</b> 2011 (114)	Australia	Cross-sectional and longitudinal	14.4 years	MVPA, VPA, (+SED)	Depressive symptoms (CES-DC)	No association
Johnson et. al, 2008 (115)	USA	Cross-sectional	12 years (only girls)	Total PA, LPA, MVPA, VPA, (+SED)	Depressive symptoms (CES-D)	No association: Total PA, LPA, MVPA, VPA and depressive symptoms Positive association: modest inverse association between SED and depressive symptoms
<b>Opdal et. al,</b> 2019 (116)	Norway	Longitudinal	16.23 years	MVPA, Number of steps	Mental distress (HSCL-10)	No association
<b>Sánchez-Oliva et. al,</b> 2020 (117)	Spain	Cross-sectional and longitudinal	8-18 years	Total-PA, MVPA, (+SED)	HRQoL (KIDSCREEN-10), positive affect, and negative affect (PANASN).	Positive association
<b>Toseeb et. al,</b> 2014 (118)	England	Longitudinal	14.5 years	Total PAEE, MVPA	Depressive symptoms (MFQ)	No association
<b>Van Dijk et. al,</b> 2016 (119)	Netherlands	Longitudinal	13.6 years	Total PA	Depressive symptoms (CES-D) Self-esteem (RSE)	No association
<b>Wiles et. al,</b> 2012 (120)	England	Cross-sectional	13.8 years	Total PA MVPA	Depressive symptoms (MFQ)	Positive association: Inverse association between total PA and depressive symptoms No association: MVPA and depressive symptoms
Note: MH = Mental health,	, SED = Sedentary	behaviour, LPA = Ligh	t intensity physical	activity, MPA = Mod	erate intensity physical activity, VP.	A = Vigorous intensity physical activity, MVPA =

Moderate-vigorous intensity physical activity, WEMWBS = Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale, SDQ = Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, CES-D/DC = Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale / for Children, HSCL-10 = Hopkins Symptom Checklist-10, HRQoL = Health-related quality of life, PANASN = Positive and Negative Affect Schedule, PAEE = physical activity energy expenditure, MFQ = Mood and Feelings Questionnaire, RSE = Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale.

\* For longitudinal studies; age of participants at first data collection.
## 1.6 Physical activity and academic achievement in adolescence

There has long been an assumption that regular PA could contribute to academic achievement via enhancement of brain function and cognition (17). More specifically, research has shown that the pathways in which PA and cardiorespiratory fitness may influence brain structure and function include alterations in thickness of grey matter (121) and integrity of white matter (122), alterations in brain plasticity (123), as well as improvements in attention, working memory and executive functioning (124). Further, it is hypothesised that the benefits of these PA/fitness-related changes may enhance academic achievement through improvements in learning and memory (103, 121, 124, 125).

The volume of studies exploring the relationship between PA and measures of cognition and academic achievement has increased substantially in recent years, alongside an increase in systematic reviews (51, 103, 106, 126). Although a recent systematic review found strong evidence for beneficial effects of additional PA or adaptation of the PA curriculum on mathematics performance (126), the relationship between PA and overall academic achievement was not clear across reviews (51, 103, 126). This ambiguity is also found in observational research studies using objectively measured PA, where findings ranged from a direct or indirect positive association (104, 127-130), no association (131-135) to a negative association (102, 136) among children and adolescents (6-18 years) (see table 5). The lack of consensus across previous research relates to methodological issues concerning assessment of PA (e.g. self-reported vs. objectively measured PA) and academic achievement (e.g. the use of school grades vs. standardised tests) (103, 106, 126). Further, a large proportion of the published studies make use of a cross-sectional study design thus limiting the conclusions to be drawn thereafter (103). Donnelly et. al (106) underscore that despite the large increase in publications within this field of research in recent years, relative to other fields, it is still considered to be in its infancy, thus accounting for some of the differences in methodology used. Consequently, systematic reviews emphasize that the relationship between PA and overall academic achievement is not yet conclusive and that results should be interpreted cautiously, further warranting more 'high-quality' research (103, 126).

22

Introduction and background

Table 5. Overview of selected cross-sectional and longitudinal studies exploring the relationship between objectively measured physical activity and academic achievement among children and adolescents.

Author, year	Country	Methodology	Age of participants*	Measure of PA	Measure of AA	Mediation	Result
<b>Booth et. al,</b> 2014 (127)	NK	Cross-sectional & Longitudinal	11, 13, 16	MVPA	National tests		Positive association: longitudinal associations for MVPA-English (all); MVPA-Maths (all); MVPA-Sciences (girls only)
<b>Bueno et. al,</b> 2021 (135)	Brazil	Cross-sectional	11.3	MVPA (+SED)	School grades		No association
<b>Corder et. al,</b> 2015 (133)	UK	Longitudinal	14.5	MVPA (+SED)	National tests (GCSE)		No association
Esteban- Cornejo et. al, 2014 (136)	Spain	Cross-sectional	6-18	MPA, VPA, MVPA	School grades		Negative association
Estrada-Tenorio et. al, 2020 (102)	Spain	Cross-sectional	13-15	MVPA	School grades		Negative association
<b>Kwak et. al,</b> 2009 (128)	Sweden	Cross-sectional	16	LPA, MPA, VPA	School grades	Fitness	Positive association: VPA-AA (girls only)
<b>Lima et. al,</b> 2019 (130)	Denmark	Longitudinal	7-12	MVPA, VPA (+SED)	National tests	WC	Positive association: indirect association between MVPA-AA and VPA-AA mediated by WC
<b>Maher et. al,</b> 2016 (129)	Australia	Cross-sectional	9-11	MVPA (+SED)	National tests		<b>Positive association:</b> MVPA-AA in 2 domains (writing and numeracy); SED-AA in 5 domains
<b>Oliveira et. al,</b> 2017 (134)	Portugal	Cross-sectional	10-18	MVPA	School grades		No association
<b>Owen et. al,</b> 2018 (104)	Australia	Cross-sectional & Longitudinal	13.4	MVPA	National tests		Positive association: longitudinal association for MVPA-AA (girls only); cross-sectional association for MVPA-AA (boys only)
<b>Syväoja et. al,</b> 2013 (131)	Finland	Cross-sectional	12.2	MVPA (+SED)	School grades		No association
<b>van Dijk et. al,</b> 2014 (132)	Netherlands	Cross-sectional	12-14	Total PA, MVPA	School grades		No association (in overall results)

Note: AA = Academic achievement, SED = Sedentary behaviour, LPA = Light intensity physical activity, MPA = Moderate intensity physical activity, VPA = Vigorous intensity physical activity, MVPA = Moderate-vigorous intensity physical activity. MVPA = Moderate-vigorous intensity physical activity. \* For longitudinal studies; age of participants at first data collection.

23

## 1.7 Additional factors related to predictor and/or outcomes

To be able to explore the direct association between PA and the two outcomes, it is important to control for covariates. Although it is highly unlikely that the models used in this thesis have incorporated all the potential influencing factors, they have been based on the factors identified in previous research as being associated with the predictor or the outcome.

#### BMI

Bodyweight is seen to influence levels of PA among adolescents. International data show that children (from 6-years and onwards) and adolescents who are categorised as overweight or obese are less physically active compared to their normal weight peers (63). Data on Norwegian youth show the same pattern where those who are categorised as overweight or obese, are less likely to adhere to current PA recommendations than their normal weight peers (137).

Bodyweight may also associate with academic achievement. This association has been reported in a previous systematic review on children and adolescents (138). However, the same review also concluded that, to date, there was insufficient high-quality data to support a significant relationship (138). In addition, systematic reviews find bodyweight to be bi-directionally associated with mental health problems in adolescents (139, 140).

#### Seasonality

The calendar year is divided into different seasons which differ with regard to weather conditions and amount of daylight. In a Norwegian context in particular, periods of low temperatures, frequent and heavy rain falls, strong winds, snow, and short amounts of daylight may occur. These conditions may influence the activity pattern of children and adolescents and must therefore be taken into account when exploring habitual PA (141, 142). A review exploring seasonal variation in objectively measured PA among children and adolescents found such variation in the majority of studies, which was more pronounced in younger than older age groups (142). This is consistent with findings from a Norwegian study of PA among a nationally representative sample of children and adolescents (141). This study found substantial seasonal differences in the activity level of 9-year olds, where the activity level was higher in spring than in fall and winter. Among 15-year olds, there were no significant differences found in activity level across seasons, although the odds of adhering to PA recommendations was significantly higher in spring than in winter (141).

There is some evidence to suggest that there is also a significant relationship between season and mood in otherwise mentally healthy study samples. Despite only being explored in an adult population, Harmatz et. al (143) found mild seasonal mood fluctuations which displayed a negative peak in winter, the lowest scores during summer, with scores from spring and fall in between these

peaks (143). In a more recent study of the Canadian population (12-24 years and 25+ years), higher levels of depressive symptoms were found in winter months compared with summer months (144). This trend was more evident among youth (12-25 years) than adults (25+ years), and especially among those reporting mild depressive symptoms. Where moderate and severe symptoms were reported, no seasonal variance was seen.

#### Socio-economic status (SES)

There is a social gradient in health, which means that the lower the social position of individuals, the worse their health, both in terms of physical and mental health (5). This social gradient is also apparent in relation to PA, where adolescents with higher SES are more physically active than those with lower SES (145). Further, the academic achievements through education are also strongly related to SES (5). There is compelling evidence that the social inequalities in educational outcomes further affect physical and mental health, later income, employment and quality of life (5). These patterns are evident across the entire social gradient. Until recently, health inequalities among children and adolescents have been relatively neglected in research compared to inequalities among adults (146). Children and adolescents lack scores on the most used indicators of SES (occupation, income, and education). Consequently, different indicators must be used. A common approach is to use parental levels of SES (146). Adolescent reporting of parental SES, however, is problematic both conceptually and methodologically. Conceptually, it is debated whether parental SES can be used as a proxy for SES among children and adolescents (147). Methodologically, such reporting is prone to high rates of missing data due to failure to respond or inadequate reporting (146, 147). Family affluence serves as a robust determinant of adolescent health and is seen to covary with the socioeconomic gradient (148). The Family affluence scale (FAS) is an instrument developed for measuring SES among children and adolescents and serves as a widely applied proxy for SES (146). The six items of FAS are sought to represent the material resources of the adolescent's family, their patterns of consumption and purchasing power across Europe and North America (146). The suitability of FAS as a measure of SES is dependent of the population being studied and research question posed (149). The latest version, (FAS III) is considered to provide a flexible way of assessing absolute and relative inequalities between groups of children and adolescents, both within and between countries (146). The items showed high test-retest reliability (r = 0.9) and consistency in reporting between child and parent (r = 0.8) (149). However, as the aim of the instrument is to obtain an international comparative measure of wealth among adolescents, its ability to differentiate within the highest levels of affluence is poor and ceiling effects have been seen in highly affluent study samples (150). In particular, Torsheim et. al (150) found ceiling effects to be present for several items

of FAS III for the Norwegian study sample, further indicating that these items are very common in a Norwegian setting (e.g. having a dishwasher in the household).

# 2. Study aims

Although more frequently explored in recent years, several gaps remain in the current knowledgebase relating to the relationship between PA and the outcome variables mental health and academic achievement. An overarching problem is still that the majority of studies have relied on self-reported measures of PA. Further, there remains a dearth of knowledge about longitudinal associations, as the vast majority of studies have used a cross-sectional design which are subject to cohort effects and cannot address changes over time experienced by an individual. The timing and frequency of measurements during important adolescent years (12-16 years of age, representing the three years students attend lower secondary school in Norway) is also insufficient. The three papers this thesis is built on aim to increase knowledge about the longitudinal relationship between PA and mental health and PA and academic achievement through a formative period of life.

The specific aims of paper I-III are:

- Paper I
  - To explore the (cross-sectional) relationship between objectively measured PA level, various dimensions of mental health and academic achievement among adolescents.
- Paper II
  - To explore whether longitudinal changes in objectively measured PA [total PA and MVPA] were associated with changes in academic achievement directly or via mediation of WC or sleep duration.
  - 2. To explore whether there were differences between boys and girls.

## • Paper III

- 1. To explore whether changes in movement categories [total PA, MVPA and SED] were associated with MHP or MWB.
- 2. To explore whether different PA transitions were associated with MHP or MWB

# 3. Methods

The thesis is based on the work package *Physical activity, school and mental health* which is part of the overarching "Schools, learning and mental health" study (sWell-study), anchored at Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences. The Research Council of Norway financed the sWell study (grant number: 238212/F60).

# 3.1 Study design and sampling

*Physical activity, school and mental health* is a prospective cohort study involving 11 lower secondary schools in Norway (see figure 1). Data were collected on an annual basis within the first semester of each academic year from 2016 to 2018 and generated data from 8<sup>th</sup> grade, 9<sup>th</sup> grade and 10<sup>th</sup> grade, which constitute the time at lower secondary school in Norway. Prior to data collection (Spring 2016), a pilot study was conducted with 8<sup>th</sup> grade students in three classes in two of the participating schools. Procedures and measurements were tested out and discussed with the students in focus groups retrospectively. In **paper I**, we report from the first wave of data collection. **Papers II-III** are based on all three waves of data collection.



Figure 1. Map of the participating schools in Norway

Schools were purposively recruited on the basis of important characteristics. This was done to ensure a study sample that included schools with a geographical location from both East and West, of different sizes, ethnic and socio-economic compositions, and different scores on national tests at a school level. Although our selection of schools was sought to be illustrative of lower secondary schools in Norway, the selection procedure limits our possibility to generalize the findings to Norwegian lower secondary schools in general.

Initial contact was made with the school leader through an email and follow-up phone call, inviting the school to participate in the study. Following the initial contact, a meeting was held at each school to inform them about the purpose and design of the study. Because the potential participants of the study were minors, information about the study was also given at a parent meeting in the start of 8<sup>th</sup> grade. Following this, information was also given to the pupils about a week prior to the first data collection. Data collection were conducted through two school visits eight days apart, as well as collection of school grades after the first semester of each academic year. At the first visit, the anthropometric variables were measured. In addition, the accelerometers were placed on each participant. At the second visit, the accelerometers were collected, and the participants completed an online questionnaire during of a school lesson (see appendix I).

#### Study sample

A total of 1,001 pupils were invited to participate in the study, of which 599 (59.8 %) consented in the first wave of data collection (T1) in 2016 (see figure 2). In the second wave of data collection (T2) in 2017, participation of pupils who did not participate in T1 was permitted, including those pupils who had changed schools between 8<sup>th</sup> and 9<sup>th</sup> grade. Forty pupils were lost to follow up at T2 because they either withdrew from the study or changed schools. This gave a participation of 581 (58.0 %) pupils in T2. In the third wave of data collection (T3) new participants were not given the opportunity to enter the study. Twenty-nine pupils were lost to follow up at T3 because they withdrew or changed schools. This gave a participation of 552 (55.1 %) pupils at T3. The longitudinal participation rate with T1 as the eligible sample (n = 599) shows a participation rate of 97.0 % and 92.2 % at T2 and T3 respectively.



Figure 2. Flowchart of the study sample.

## 3.2 Measures

Data were collected at school visits from September to January 2016, September to December 2017 and September to January 2018.

# 3.2.1 Anthropometrics

Trained research personnel performed all anthropometric measures (**paper I-III**). Weight and height were measured to the nearest 0.1 kg (Seca 877, SECA GmbH, Hamburg, Germany) and 0.5 cm (wall-mounted measuring tape), respectively. Participants were asked to remove shoes and sweaters for all the anthropometric measurements. In line with standard practice, bodyweight measures were adjusted by subtracting 0.3 kg to account for clothing (43). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated using weight and height (kg·m<sup>-2</sup>).

Waist circumference (WC) was measured with a medical measuring tape midway between the lowest rib and the top of the iliac crest at the end of gentle expiration. Measurements were conducted twice if the difference was  $\leq 1$  cm and three times if the difference was >1 cm. The average value of the two closest measurements was used in the further analyses of the data (**paper II**).

## 3.2.2 Physical activity

In all three waves of data collection, ActiGraph GT3X+ and ActiGraph GT3X-bt (ActiGraph, LLC, Pensacola, Florida, USA) were used to measure physical activity (see figure 3). The only difference

between the two versions is that the latter enables Bluetooth technology for wireless data transfer. This is a small (4.6 x 3.3 x 1.5 cm) and lightweight (19g) monitor that uses a 3-axis microelectromechanical systems accelerometer which is capable of detecting both static (e.g., force of gravity detected when stationary) and dynamic accelerations (42, 151). The ActiGraph GT3X+ uses vector magnitude data (i.e. the square root of the sum of squared activity counts from three axes (37)) to distinguish if the monitor is worn or not (151). The accelerometer generates raw acceleration in a range of 0.05-2 g with a bandwith of 0.25-2.5 Hz. In order to capture human movement as accurately as possible, this bandwith gives full weight to a frequency of acceleration of 0.75 Hz and lowered weight to lower and higher movement frequencies progressively (37). Although PA at vigorous intensities can produce accelerations up to 3.4 Hz (37), these settings are applied to best capture normal human movement (151). The raw acceleration data (counts) allow for user defined sampling intervals called epochs (42), where lower epoch rates generates more detailed data.



Figure 3. The ActiGraph GT3X-bt worn at the right hip.

#### Assessment protocol

The accelerometer was fitted on the right hip of each participant using an elastic band (see figure 3). They were instructed to wear the accelerometer for all waking hours for seven consecutive days, and only remove it during water activities and while sleeping. To minimize the potential influence of reactivity, the accelerometer was initialized to start recording at 06:00 the following day enabling one day of familiarization (152).

#### Data reduction

ActiLife (ActiGraph, LLC, Pensacola, Florida, USA) was used for all accelerometer data handling (initialization of monitors, downloading of files and further processing of data). As the cut-points used for intensity specific analysis are based on output from the vertical axis, data from the vertical axis of the GT3X+/GT3X-bt was used as output for all further processing. This allows application of previously developed algorithms for the vertical axis (37), which further enable comparison of PA level with previously conducted studies on similar age groups (43). The accelerometer data were collected in a 10 sec epoch (which translates to number of counts accumulated every 10 sec). However, the data were aggregated up to a 60 sec epoch for the PA intensity analyses. We used a pre-set sampling frequency of 30 Hz, which is in line with the majority of studies using ActiGraph GT3X+/bt (37). Data were included if the participants had  $\geq$ 480 min of wear time a day (40, 43). Intervals of  $\geq$  20 consecutive minutes with no acceleration recorded was defined as non-wear time. Data recorded between 00:00 and 06:00 were excluded from the analysis. As analysis showed that participants with  $\geq$ 2 days of valid measurements (T1 and T2) and  $\geq$ 1 day of valid measurements (T3) did not differ significantly from those with  $\geq$ 4 days of valid measurements, these were included in the further analysis.

Outcome variables from the accelerometer were three-fold:

- 'Total PA' originates from cpm and serves as an overall measure of physical activity (papers I-III).
- Accumulated time in various intensities based on the amount of time with cpm below or above different thresholds (papers I-III).
- 3) Adherence to the national recommendations for physical activity (paper III).

Cpm is the average count per minute (counts·min<sup>-1</sup>) for the entire assessment period, and is derived by dividing the total activity counts for a valid day by the sum of minutes of wear time that day for all valid days of measurement. This enables a summary of raw data that has not undergone any other transformation than the determination of wear time/non-wear time. To explore intensity specific physical activity all epochs containing cpm values within different thresholds, called cut-points, were summed, and divided the wear time into SED, LPA and MVPA. To enable comparison with other Norwegian adolescents, this study used the same cut-points as The European Youth Heart study (EYHS) (153) and PANCS (43) (see table 6). Although cut-points vary, a cut-point of <100 cpm to define SED and cut-points close to  $\geq$ 2000 cpm to define MVPA are much used in the literature. Adherence to national recommendations for physical activity is defined as participants accumulating an average value of  $\geq$ 60 min of MVPA/day during valid days of the assessment period. This means that a participant can obtain 70 min of MVPA one day, and 50 min MVPA another day and still adhere to the recommendation of an average of  $\geq$ 60 min of MVPA/day.

Cut-points	Cpm
Sedentary behaviour (SED)	< 100 cpm
Light PA (LPA)	100-1,999 cpm
Moderate to vigorous PA (MVPA)	≥ 2,000 cpm

Table 6. Cut-points defining different intensities within physical activity

Note: Cpm = Counts per minute.

## 3.2.3 Academic achievement

The assessment of learning through grades is conducted at the end of every semester as midterm grades (grades attained halfway through a school year) or as end-of-term grades (grades attained at the end of a school year). Midterm grades are an assessment of achievement based on what the student has learned in each subject at the end of first semester (of that school year). For subjects that carry on throughout all three years of lower secondary school, the midterm grades and the end-of-term grades represent the same type of assessment, merely conducted at the end of different semesters. The student's competence throughout mid-term- and end-of-term evaluations partly forms the assessment of final grades which is the final assessment of a subject and forms the basis for admission to upper secondary education (154). The grade range in Norway is 1-6, where grade 1 equals very low competence, grade 2 equals low competence, grade 3 equals fairly good competence, grade 4 equals good competence, grade 5 equals very good competence and grade 6 equals excellent competence in a subject (155, §3-5).

In this study, midterm grades were used as a measure of academic achievement (**paper I and II**). GPA (grades in all subjects / no. of subjects) was used as the primary indicator of academic achievement. In **paper I**, the midterm grade in Physical Education was used as an indicator of academic achievement achievement in a practical subject.

# 3.2.4 Mental wellbeing

In **paper I and III** the WEMWBS was used to measure mental wellbeing (84) (see appendix I). This short and psychometrically robust scale can monitor mental wellbeing at a population level. The instrument consists of 14 positively worded items relating to the different aspects of mental wellbeing, and requires response on a 5-point Lickert scale (1= '*none of the time*' to 5 = '*all of the time*') based on their experience over the last two weeks. An overall score is created summing the values from each item to a score with a theoretical range from 14-70, where higher scores indicate higher level of mental wellbeing (78). The instrument was translated into Norwegian by Smith, Alves, Haug and Aarø (see appendix II). We used this translation, but made minor linguistic amendments based on feedback from students after it had been piloted (see appendix III).

Unintentionally, the WEMWBS was assessed in a six-point Likert scale from *not at all* (0) to *all the time* (5) in the current study. To be able to compare results with international data, the following equation was applied: *WEMWBS 5-point score* = 1 + 4/5\*WEMWBS 6-point score.

#### 3.2.5 Self-esteem

In **paper I**, three subscales (global self-worth, athletic competence and social competence) from SPPA-R were used to measure domain specific self-esteem (19) (see appendix I). The revised

instrument consists of 35 statements divided into seven domain-specific subscales, each comprising five statements, of which approximately half are reversed to avoid acquiescence. Response categories are fourfold from 'describes me very poorly' to 'describes me very well'. The different scale scores are obtained by reverse scoring the negative statements before the mean item score is calculated.

#### 3.2.6 Mental health problems

In **paper I and III**, the SDQ was used to measure MHP (88) (see appendix I). The instrument comprises 25 questions divided into five different scales of five questions each (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity, peer problems and prosocial behaviour). Each item can be answered in a 3-point Likert scale 'not true', 'somewhat true' or 'certainly true'. A 'total difficulty score' ranging from 0-40 was created by summing all subscales except prosocial behaviour (92). **Paper I and III** report the continuous score from the total difficulty score.

## 3.2.7 Socio-economic status

In **paper I-III**, FAS III was used as a proxy for SES (see appendix I). The instrument consists of six questions reflecting material affluence (146, 149). A score on relative family affluence was derived by summing scores on all six questions and categorising them into broader groups of the 20 % lowest, 60 % middle and 20 % highest material affluence (149, 156).

## 3.3 Ethics

The study procedure was conducted according to the ethical guidelines presented in the Declaration of Helsinki. Through a preliminary assessment form to the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics, the project was considered to fall outside the Health Research Act and thus not subject to application. Hence, the study was registered by the Norwegian Centre for research data (NSD) (see appendix IV). Prior to data collection, written, informed consent was obtained for both the participating student and his/her parent/legal guardian (see appendix V). The student could withdraw from the study at any time and have his/her data deleted. At the end of the study (31.12.2020), all data were anonymised.

All anthropometric measures were conducted by trained personnel in separate rooms without any view from the outside. Based on our experience from data collection in T1, and in understanding that being measured by personnel of the opposite sex can be perceived stressful, same sex measurements were introduced from T2 and onwards. The students were also informed that if any of the measurements made them uncomfortable, they could omit them. This was also explicitly stated upon completing the questionnaire. Moreover, there was always one or more personnel from the project present and available for questions when the students were completing the questionnaire.

Both the anthropometric measurements and some of the instruments in the questionnaire obtains sensitive data which may stir up thoughts and feelings in the participating adolescents. Consequently, an agreement was made with the school nurse in each school to be the contact person if any student felt the need to talk about things related to their participation in the study.

Following the end of project, feedback to the participating schools regarding school results as well as overall results from the project would be provided.

#### 3.4 Statistics and data processing

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0 and Stata Statistical Software, version 16.0 (Copyright 1985-2019 StataCorp LLC), Texas 77845 USA. A two-tailed alpha level of 0.05 was used for statistical significance. Descriptive data are presented as frequencies, mean and SD where appropriate. Paired T-tests were used to explore longitudinal differences between variables in T1 and T3 and between T1 and T2 (see table 7a and b). To explore correlations between MHP and MWB, Pearson's bivariate correlation analyses with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) based on the Fisher Z-transformation were used. Further, to analyse the differences in key variables between participants with longitudinal PA-data ('valid PA T1+T3') vs. participants not providing longitudinal PA-data ('missing valid PA T1+T3') (see table 9), independent-samples T test was used for the parametric data and Mann-Whitney U test was used for the non-parametric data.

#### 3.4.1 Sample size

In **paper I and III**, measures of mental health were used as primary outcome variables. Sample size calculations were performed using a two-tailed test assuming Type I error rate of 0.05 and statistical power of 0.8. Calculations showed that to detect a difference of 1.0 points +/- from an average WEMWBS score of 49, with SD 8.0, 396 participants was needed.

#### 3.4.2 Paper I

In **paper I** we explored cross-sectional associations between PA and outcome variables of mental health and academic achievement. Associations between the predictor variable; PA, and outcome variables of mental health and academic achievement (GPA and physical education) were analysed using multiple linear regression model. The analyses were adjusted for interactions of sex, SES, season of data collection (1: Sept-Oct, 2: Nov-Jan) and BMI.

Imputations were performed for SDQ and SPPA-R according to standard procedures. As Little's MCAR test showed that variables from WEMWBS were not missing completely at random, imputations could not be performed for this instrument. The results from the instruments measuring mental health (SDQ, WEMWBS and SPPA-R) were all converted into continuous scores according to standard

procedures before entering the models. To account for possible clustering of the study population, 'school' was included as a cluster variable to obtain robust standard errors.

#### 3.4.3 Paper II

In **paper II**, we explored associations between PA and academic achievement. In the first model, cross-sectional associations between PA and academic achievement in T1-T3 were analysed separately for boys and girls using multiple linear regression model adjusted for interactions of SES, season of data collection and BMI. In model two, associations between longitudinal changes in PA (total PA and MVPA) and academic achievement (GPA) were explored directly and through mediation of change in WC or sleep-duration. Change scores ( $\Delta$ ) were created by subtracting T3-values from T1-values. The new variables entered the multiple linear regression analyses where they were adjusted for the following:

- Analyses including Δtotal PA were adjusted for T1-covariates of sex, SES, BMI and season of data collection.
- Analyses including ΔMVPA were adjusted for T1-covariates of sex, SES, BMI and season of data collection in addition to wear time of the accelerometer.
- Analyses including ΔWC were adjusted for T1-covariates of sex, SES and season of data collection.

In model three, associations between changes in PA (total PA and MVPA) from T1 to T3 and academic achievement at T3 were analysed using a multiple linear regression model. Analyses were adjusted for academic achievement at T1 and T1-covariates of sex, SES, BMI and season of data collection. In addition, analysis including  $\Delta$ MVPA was adjusted for wear time of the accelerometer. To account for possible clustering of the study population, 'school' was included as a cluster variable in all analyses to obtain robust standard errors.

#### 3.4.4 Paper III

In **paper III**, we explored associations between movement categories (total PA, MVPA and SED) and mental health. In the first model, cross-sectional associations between PA (total PA and MVPA) and variables of mental health (MWB and MHP) in T1-T3 were explored separately for boys and girls using a multiple linear regression model adjusted for interactions of SES, season of data collection and BMI. In model two, change scores ( $\Delta$ ) were created by subtracting T3-values from T1-values. Associations between changes in PA (total PA, MVPA and SED) from T1 to T3 and variables of mental health (MWB and MHP) at T3 were analysed separately for boys and girls using multiple linear regression model. Analyses were adjusted for T1-variables of MHP/MWB, BMI, SES, and season of data collection. All analyses in models one and two were adjusted for school-level clustering and all analyses of MVPA and SED were adjusted for wear time of the accelerometer. In model three, lifestyle transitions and mental health was explored. Lifestyle transition profiles were created based on whether participants adhered or not to national PA recommendations in T1 and T3. Thus, four profiles were created: 'Active maintainers' consisted of those adhering to PA recommendations in T1 and T3; 'move to inactive' consisted of those adhering to PA recommendations in T1, but not in T3; 'move to active' consisted of those not adhering to PA recommendations in T1, but adhered to them in T3; and 'inactive maintainers' consisted of those not adhering to PA recommendations in T1 or in T3. Differences between groups were analysed using a multiple linear regression model, adjusted for T1-variables of MHP/MWB, BMI, SES, season of data collection and sex.

# 4. Summary of results

# 4.1 Characteristics of the study sample/participants (Papers I-III)

The baseline study sample consisted of 599 consenting adolescents from 11 different schools. Table 7 a and b show the descriptive characteristics of the study sample from T1 to T3. Among girls, significant changes between T1 and T3 were seen for all key variables except SED. For boys, significant changes were evident in the anthropometric variables; BMI and WC, sleep duration, the movement categories; SED, LPA and MVPA, the mental health variable; global self-worth, and in GPA. Through exploration of changes between T1 and T2 the pattern was similar to that of T1-T3 in all variables except those measuring PA. For girls, there were only significant changes in the amount of LPA. For boys a significant difference for SED was found. The analyses exploring longitudinal changes in the movement categories; SED, LPA and MVPA were conducted using variables not adjusted for wear time of the accelerometer. In **paper II**, wear time adjusted variables were used in the same type of descriptive reporting, hence the difference in significance level for longitudinal change in MVPA for boys. For descriptive purposes, variables not adjusted for wear time should have been used. However, this serves as no additional error than a difference in reporting of descriptive data in **paper II** vs. **paper III** and the thesis. Summary of results

Table 7a. Descriptive characteristics and mean differences on possible confounding variables of the study sample by sex, all time points (mean ± SD unless otherwise specified)

Characteristic	Time 1 (2016)	Time 1 (2016)	Time 1 (2016)	Time 2 (2017)	Time 2 (2017)	Time 2 (2017)	Time 3 (2018)	Time 3 (2018)	Time 3 (2018)
	All	Girls	Boys	All	Girls	Boys	AII	Girls	Boys
N (min-max)	599 (527-597)	326 (283-323)	273 (244-273)	581 (500-577)	316 (283-313)	265 (209-257)	552 (461-525)	304 (269-301)	248 (192-239)
Age (y)		13.3 (0.3)	13.4 (0.3)		14.3 (0.3)	14.4 (0.3)		15.3 (0.3)	15.4 (0.3)
Height (cm)		161.7 (6.9)	163.9 (8.6)		165.0 (6.6)	171.3 (8.2)		166.3 (6.4)	176.9 (7.5)
Weight (kg)		52.8 (9.9)	53.0 (11.8)		56.6 (9.8)	60.7 (13.5)		59.2 (9.8)	66.8 (13.6)
WC (cm)		70.5 (8.8)	73.2 (9.7)		71.4 (7.7) **	75.3 (10.0) <sup>++</sup>		70.9 (7.4)**	76.4 (9.4)**
BMI (kg/m²)	19.8 (3.2)	20.0 (3.1)	19.6 (3.3)	20.7 (3.3)	20.8 (3.0) <sup>++</sup>	20.5 (3.7) <sup>++</sup>	21.4 (3.4)	21.4 (3.0)**	21.3 (3.7)**
Sleep duration (h)		9.1 (0.8)	9.3 (0.9)		8.7 (0.9) **	8.7 (0.9) <sup>++</sup>		8.4 (0.9)**	8.4 (0.9)**
SES (n)									
Lowest N (%)	136 (23.7)	76 (24.5)	60 (22.7)	75 (14.0)	45 (15.5)	30 (12.3)	72 (14.1)	41 (14.3)	31 (13.7)
Middle N (%)	346 (60.3)	188 (60.6 %)	158 (59.9)	352 (65.8)	197 (67.7)	155 (63.5)	339 (66.2)	191 (66.8)	148 (65.5)
Highest N (%)	92 (16.0)	46 (14.8)	46 (17.4)	108 (20.2)	49 (16.8)	59 (24.2)	101 (19.7)	54 (18.9)	47 (20.8)
<i>Note.</i> WC = Waist ( differ somewhat ar	circumference, BMI	= body mass index, as min-max values	SES = socio-econon in the table.	nic status. As all par	ticipants did not pı	rovide valid data on	i all key variables, th	he n of the different	: variables will

\* Significant change of variable between T1 to T3, p ≤.05. Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T3 \*\* Significant change of variable between T1 to T3, p ≤.001. Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T3 <sup>+</sup> Significant change of variable between T1 to T2, p ≤.001. Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T2 <sup>+</sup> Significant change of variable between T1 to T2, p ≤.001. Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T2

Summary of results

Table 7b. Descriptive characteristics and mean differences on PA and outcome variables of the study sample by sex, all time points (mean ± SD unless otherwise specified)

Characteristic	Time 1 (2016)	Time 1 (2016)	Time 1 (2016)	Time 2 (2017)	Time 2 (2017)	Time 2 (2017)	Time 3 (2018)	Time 3 (2018)	Time 3 (2018)
	AII	Girls	Boys	All	Girls	Boys	AII	Girls	Boys
N (min-max)	599 (527-597)	326 (283-323)	273 (244-273)	581 (500-577)	316 (283-313)	265 (209-257)	552 (461-525)	304 (269-301)	248 (192-239)
Total PA (CPM/d) <sup>ª</sup>	434.4 (152.6)	402.2 (118.6)	474.4 (178.7)	432.1 (155.0)	399.9 (127.5)	476.8 (177.5)	415.8 (173.2)	383.5 (138.3)*	460.9 (204.7)
SED (min/d) <sup>a</sup>	558.0 (65.1)	565.7 (55.4)	548.4 (74.4)	553.1 (71.4)	561.3 (64.6)	541.7 (78.7) <sup>+</sup>	555.0 (84.0)	564.1 (69.6)	542.1 (99.6)*
LPA (min/d) <sup>ª</sup>	166.2 (33.5)	161.4 (32.3)	172.2 (34.1)	159.6 (33.7)	153.9 (32.2) <sup>++</sup>	167.6 (34.3)	138.9 (33.5)	137.6 (30.4)**	140.8 (37.3)**
MVPA (min/d) ª	58.4 (21.2)	54.0 (18.5)	63.9 (22.9)	57.3 (22.0)	53.6 (19.4)	62.4 (24.3)	53.4 (24.1)	50.1 (21.4)*	58.1 (26.7)*
Meeting act.reg (%)	43.9	36.3	53.3	44.0	37.1	53.6	35.4	29.5	43.8
Mean valid days	5.8 (1.4)	5.9 (1.3)	5.7 (1.4)	5.2 (1.7)	5.4 (1.6)	4.9 (1.7)	4.6 (2.0)	5.1 (1.8)	4.0 (2.1)
Mean wear time (min)	783.1 (67.0)	781.6 (63.4)	785.0 (71.3)	770.0 (78.6)	768.9 (74.5)	771.6 (84.2)	747.3 (97.1)	751.8 (84.4)	741.1 (112.3)
GPA	4.0 (0.7)	4.1 (0.7)	3.8 (0.6)	4.1 (0.7)	4.3 (0.7) **	3.9 (0.7) <sup>+</sup>	4.2 (0.8)	4.4 (0.8)**	4.0 (0.7)**
МНР	9.8 (5.2)	10.0 (5.1)	9.7 (5.4)	10.8 (5.7)	11.3 (5.8) <sup>++</sup>	10.1 (5.3)	11.3 (5.3)	12.0 (5.3)**	10.4 (5.2)
MWB	56.0 (9.0)	55.0 (8.9)	57.1 (9.1)	54.5 (10.3)	52.2 (10.5) <sup>++</sup>	57.3 (9.4)	52.8 (10.8)	50.6 (11.0)**	55.9 (9.6)
GSW	3.3 (0.6)	3.2 (0.6)	3.5 (0.5)	3.1 (0.7)	3.0 (0.8) <sup>++</sup>	3.3 (0.6) <sup>+</sup>	3.0 (0.7)	2.8 (0.8)**	3.3 (0.6)**
Note. Total PA (CPN	<ul> <li>A) = average daily c</li> </ul>	ounts per minute, (	CPM/d = counts per	minute per day, m	in/d = minutes per (	day SED = average d	laily sedentary beh	aviour, LPA = avera	ge daily light
physical activity, M	VPA = average daily	moderate to vigor	ous physical activity	/, Meeting act.reg =	- Meeting national r	ecommendations o	t an average ot ≥ 6	0 min MVPA per da	/, GPA = grade

point average, MHP = mental health problems, MWB = mental wellbeing, GSW = Global self-worth. As all participants did not provide valid data on all key variables, the n of the different variables will differ somewhat and is thus presented as min-max values in the table.

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for valid days

\* Significant change of variable between T1 to T3, p 5.05. Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T3 \*\* Significant change of variable between T1 to T3, p 5.001. Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T3 <sup>†</sup> Significant change of variable between T1 to T2, p 5.05. Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T2 <sup>++</sup> Significant change of variable between T1 to T2, p <.001. Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T2

40

As the score distribution of WEMWBS was positively skewed throughout T1-T3, the study population demonstrated high levels of MWB at all study points (see figure 4 a-c). Likewise, the number of participants belonging to the 'Close to average' category of SDQ ranged from 75 % - 84 % throughout the study, overall displaying a study population with normal distribution of MHP (see table 8). The correlations between MHP and MWB were moderate throughout the study (T1: r= -0.44, 95% CI - 0.51, -0.37; T2: r= -0.45, 95% CI -0.52, -0.38; T3: r= -0.53, 95% CI -0.60, -0.47) indicating that they are distinct, but related dimensions.

	Expected population distribution	T1 (2016)	T2 (2017)	T3 (2018)
'Close to average' (0-14)	80 %	483 (84.0 %)	404 (75.0 %)	378 (77.5 %)
'Slightly raised' (15-17)	10 %	48 (8.3 %)	66 (12.2 %)	65 (13.3 %)
<b>'High'</b> (18-19)	5 %	14 (2.4 %)	27 (5.0 %)	32 (6.6 %)
'Very high' (20-40)	5 %	30 (5.2 %)	42 (7.8 %)	13 (2.7 %)
Total	100 %	575 (100 %)	539 (100 %)	488 (100 %)

 Table 8. Score distribution of SDQ within a 4-band categorization in T1-T3 (n + %).

Note. 4-band categorisation and expected population distribution (89).



Figure 4 a, b and c. Score distribution of WEMWBS in a = T1, b = T2, c = T3

## 4.1.1 Loss to follow-up on valid PA measurements

There were too few participants lost to follow-up to conduct any meaningful loss to follow-up analysis (see figure 2). However, in order to explore whether there were systematic differences between participants who were included and excluded from longitudinal analyses, differences in key variables from T1 between the group with longitudinal PA-data ('valid PA T1+T3'), and participants not providing longitudinal PA-data ('missing valid PA T1+T3') were analysed (see table 9). Valid PA measurements for T1 and T3 were used as the grouping variable as longitudinal PA serves as the main predictor variable in **paper II and III**. Overall, the group that did not provide valid PA measurements for T1 and T3 had significantly lower BMI and showed higher levels of total PA and MVPA as well as lower levels of SED than the 'valid PA T1+T3' group. In addition, they had a significantly poorer GPA and higher score on MHP than the 'valid PA T1+T3' group. For the remaining variables, there were no significant differences between the groups.

Table 9. Differences in key variables between participants who provided valid PA measurements in
T1 (2016) and T3 (2018), and participants who did not provide valid PA measurements at both time
points.

Variable T1		n	Mean (SD)	Р	95 % CI
BMI (kg/m²)	'missing valid PA T1+T3'	143	19.21 (3.09)	.016	-1.35,-0.14
	'valid PA T1+T3'	418	19.95 (3.23)		
Total PA (CPM/d) <sup>a</sup>	'missing valid PA T1+T3'	134	463.56 (156.72)	.011	8.61, 67.50
	'valid PA T1+T3'	438	425.50 (150.34)		
SED (min/d) <sup>a</sup>	'missing valid PA T1+T3'	134	535.41 (76.62)	≤.001	-41.86, -17.07
	'valid PA T1+T3'	438	564.88 (59.53)		
LPA (min/d) <sup>a</sup>	'missing valid PA T1+T3'	134	163.96 (34.65)	.377	-9.43, 3.75
	'valid PA T1+T3'	438	166.89 (33.20)		
MVPA (min/d) <sup>a</sup>	'missing valid PA T1+T3'	134	61.51 (22.59)	.055	089, 8.10
	'valid PA T1+T3'	438	57.50 (20.63)		
GPA	'missing valid PA T1+T3'	160	3.75 (0.66)	≤.001	464,227
	'valid PA T1+T3'	437	4.10 (0.65)		
MHP	'missing valid PA T1+T3'	153	10.54 (5.18)	.050	.001, 1.93
	'valid PA T1+T3'	422	9.57 (5.21)		
MWB	'missing valid PA T1+T3'	139	56.31 (8.91)	.631	-1.33, 2.19
	'valid PA T1+T3'	388	55.88 (9.09)		
SES <sup>b</sup>	'missing valid PA T1+T3'	153	298.6	.269	
	'valid PA T1+T3'	421	283.5		

Note. BMI = body mass index, Total PA (CPM) = average daily counts per minute, CPM/d = counts per minute per day, min/d = minutes per day SED = average daily sedentary behaviour, LPA = average daily light physical activity, MVPA = average daily moderate to vigorous physical activity, GPA = grade point average, MHP = mental health problems, MWB = mental wellbeing.

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for valid days

<sup>b</sup> Non-parametric data. Analysed by Mann-Whitney U test.

## 4.2 Paper I

Aim: To explore the relationship between objectively measured PA level, various dimensions of mental health and academic achievement among adolescents in Norway.

Cross-sectional associations between PA and variables of mental health and academic achievement are shown in table 10. Total PA was positively associated with MWB, self-perception of athletic competence and self-perception of social competence. It was not associated with global self-esteem or MHP. As a change of 1 cpm is too small to reflect any meaningful change in outcome variable, the value was scaled up 100 times, showing changes in outcome variable occurring after changes of 100 cpm. A change of 100 cpm predicted an equivalent increase in scores of MWB, self-perceived athletic competence and self-perceived social competence with  $\beta$  0.71, 0.10 and 0.03 respectively.

There were no associations between total PA and GPA. However, sub-analyses showed a significant association between total PA and grade in physical education for girls, where an increase of 100 cpm showed an equivalent increase of  $\beta$  0.20 (p≤.001) higher grade in physical education. By dividing the groups into quartiles based on activity level, results showed a significant increase in girls' physical education grades in all quartiles compared to the lowest quartile (lowest 25 %). Among boys the differences between the lowest quartile were only significant compared to the third and fourth quartile (see table 3 in paper I).

			Crudeª			ļ	Adjusted <sup>b</sup>	
	n	β	95 % CI	р	n	β	95 % CI	р
Mental wellbeing	504	0.78	0.36, 1.21	≤.001	474	0.71	0.14, 1.28	.014
Self-perception of athletic	544	0.12	0.09, 0.15	≤.001	511	0.10	0.06, 0.14	≤.001
competence Self-perception of social competence	538	0.04	0.02, 0.06	≤.001	505	0.03	0.01, 0.05	≤.001
Self-perception of global Self-worth	542	0.01	-0.02, 0.06	.414	509	-0.006	-0.05, 0.04	.793
Mental health problems	550	-0.01	-0.20, 0,25	.908	517	0.06	-0.23, 0,36	.677
Academic achievement	570	-0.01	-0.05, 0.03	.565	518	0.003	-0.05, 0.05	.989

**TABLE 10**: Associations between physical activity and measures of mental health and academic achievement analysed with a multiple linear regression model (n=474-537)

Note. Mental wellbeing is measured by WEMWBS score, Self-perception domains are measured by SPPA-R score, Mental health problems is measured by SDQ score. Academic achievement is measured by GPA in all subjects,  $\beta$  = standardized regression coefficient

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for cluster sampling

<sup>b</sup>Adjusted for cluster sampling, sex, BMI, SES and season of data collection

All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in outcome variables occurring after changes of 100 cpm.

## 4.3 Paper II

Aim: (1) To explore whether longitudinal changes in objectively measured PA [total PA and MVPA] were associated with changes in academic achievement directly or via mediation of WC or sleep duration. (2) To explore whether there were differences between boys and girls.

As analyses showed no interaction by sex, all main analyses of the study population were conducted collectively. Longitudinal analyses showed that neither change in volume (total PA) or intensity (MVPA) of PA were directly associated with change in academic achievement (see figure 5). No indirect association via WC or sleep duration were present either. Exploration of prospective associations between change in PA (total PA or MVPA) and academic achievement in T3 did not provide any evidence of an association (figure A.1 in Paper II).



Note. MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity, WC = waist circumference, GPA = grade point average,  $\beta$  = standardized regression coefficient.

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, baseline sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

<sup>c</sup> Adjusted for baseline sex, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

**Figure 5.** Parameter estimates of the regression coefficient of the longitudinal associations between changes (2016-2018) in physical activity (total PA and MVPA), WC, sleep duration and academic achievement. (n= 379-468)

## 4.4 Paper III

Aim: (1) To explore whether changes in movement categories [total PA, MVPA and SED] were associated with MHP or MWB. (2) To explore whether different PA transitions were associated with MHP or MWB.

As interaction analyses showed that there was an interaction by sex, main analyses were conducted for boys and girls separately. Figure 6 shows that there was a significant positive association between change in SED and MWB score in T3 among boys. There were no other associations between movement categories and variables of mental health. Among girls, figure 7 shows a significant positive association between change in total PA and score on MWB in T3.

Differences in MHP or MWB were also explored via PA transition profiles (see table 2a and 2b in paper III). Results showed a significant difference in MHP-score at T3 between 'inactive maintainers' and 'move to active' (p=.013), and between 'active maintainers' and 'move to active' (p=.018) in the crude analyses. However, both differences disappeared in the adjusted analyses. Further, the adjusted analyses showed a significant difference in MHP-score of 1.3 units at T3 between 'inactive maintainers' and 'move to inactive' (p=.033).



Note: MHP = Mental health problems, MWB = Mental wellbeing, MVPA = Moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, SED = Sedentary behaviour

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling. All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in dependent variables occurring after changes of 100 CPM.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, ΔSED, baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

<sup>c</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, ΔMVPA, baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

Figure 6. Association between change in intensities of PA (2016-2018) and mental health outcomes in 2018 among **BOYS**. (n = 139-159).



Note: MHP = Mental health problems, MWB = Mental wellbeing, MVPA = Moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, SED = Sedentary behaviour

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling. All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in dependent variables occurring after changes of 100 CPM.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, ΔSED, baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

 $^{\rm c}$  Adjusted for accelerometer wear time,  $\Delta MVPA$ , baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

**Figure 7.** Association between change in intensities of PA (2016-2018) and mental health outcomes in 2018 among **GIRLS**. (n = 196-222).

# 5. General discussion

This thesis presents data from a longitudinal study exploring associations between objectively assessed PA and academic achievement and objectively assessed PA and variables of mental health. In the first part of the discussion, the results of the three papers will be discussed. Further, a methodological discussion of the study design, selection bias and measurements will be addressed, followed by a summary of strengths and limitations of the thesis and its related papers. Lastly, implications and perspectives for future research are presented.

## 5.1 Main findings

In **paper I**, we found positive cross-sectional associations between PA and MWB, self-perception of athletic competence and self-perception of social competence, supporting a relationship between PA and positive dimensions of mental health. It is, nevertheless, important to note that the associations were very small, making their consequence for real life difficult to infer. We found nothing to indicate a relationship between PA and MHP and between PA and academic achievement.

Longitudinal findings from **paper II**, support those of **paper I**, showing no relationship between volume or intensity of PA and academic achievement, either in the main analyses or via mediation of WC or sleep duration.

In **paper III**, a positive association between an increase of SED and MWB at T3 was found among boys. In girls, a modest positive association between total PA and MWB at T3 was found. There was no relationship between change in any movement categories (total PA, MVPA, SED) and MHP at T3.

# 5.2 Physical activity and mental health

As previously shown by Clarke et. al (84), analyses in the current study sample showed MHP and MWB to be moderately negatively correlated, thus underscoring the foundation of the dual continuum model which states that they are distinct, but related dimensions.

# 5.2.1 Positive dimensions of mental health Mental wellbeing

Paper I found a positive association between total PA and MWB in the cross-sectional data from T1. Paper III also showed a positive association between change in total PA from T1 to T3 and MWB. However, the result from paper III was only significant for girls. It is important to underline that both these findings were small, as an increase in PA level of approximately 20 % per day (100 cpm/day) was associated with an increase of 0.71 (Paper I) and 1.13 (Paper III) higher MWB score. Intensity specific PA was not explored cross-sectionally, but the longitudinal data showed no relationship between change in MVPA and MWB in the study sample. Further, there were no differences in the relationship with MWB across different PA-transition profiles. The overall interpretation of the pattern between PA and MWB nevertheless points towards volume or intensity of PA not being a primary factor for levels of MWB.

The focus on MWB is a relatively new direction within the research on PA and mental health. Consequently, the number of comparable results from previous research is small. In a recent systematic review by Rodriguez-Ayllon et. al (21), (self-reported and objectively measured) PA was found to associate positively with variables of MWB (i.e. self-image, satisfaction with life and happiness, and psychological wellbeing) suggesting that increased PA levels may influence MWB depending on type of PA being undertaken. On the contrary, in a systematic review by Poitras et. al (51), the majority of studies did not show any association between objectively measured PA and variables of MWB (i.e. quality of life, self-rated health and psychosocial health). A direct comparison with the current data must nevertheless be cautious as there are considerable differences in measurements used to assess MWB. While previous studies have used different measures which cover a broad range of positive affective states and functioning in personal and social life (21, 51), the current study has used one of few solely positive scales that integrates psychological (eudaimonic) and emotional (hedonic) aspects of wellbeing (WEMWBS) (84), and thus provides a multidimensional measure of MWB. Nevertheless, a recent longitudinal study provided some opportunity for comparison as it explored the relationship between objectively measured PA and MWB using WEMWBS among English adolescents of equal age (113). They found no evidence of a relationship with either volume or intensity of PA and MWB. Viewed in light of the results from the current study, this may indicate that other factors may, to a larger degree than PA, contribute to the MWB of adolescents. However, as cross-national comparisons of results with regards to mental health are not straight forward, firm conclusions regarding the role of PA for MWB cannot be made at this point. It is important to note that PA may well be related to MWB, albeit in a more complex way than hitherto hypothesised across the whole movement spectrum.

**Paper III** also explored the longitudinal relationship with SED and MWB and found a significant positive relationship between these variables for boys. No association was present for girls. The size of the relationship equals an increase in SED of 60 minutes from T1-T3 being equivalent to 3.2 higher MWB score. Although consensus regarding what constitutes an important change in WEMWBS is yet to be reached, the instrument is found to be responsive at both individual and group/population level (157). At an individual level, a change of 3 or more units (1 SEM) has been interpreted as important (157). Building on this, the current change of 3.2 units is can be considered an important change in MWB. As this, to our knowledge, is the first time the relationship between objectively measured SED and MWB measured by WEMWBS has been explored, there are no directly comparable studies. However, the systematic review by Rodriguez-Ayllon et. al (21) has explored the

relationship between SED and an umbrella term of MWB, covering a broad range of positive affective states and functioning in personal and social life. On the contrary to results from **paper III**, they found an inverse association between SED and the MWB outcomes 'satisfaction with life' and 'happiness'. For the remaining outcomes, the association was either unclear or there were insufficient amounts of studies testing the association to conclude.

It is important to underline that as SED were measured by accelerometry in the current data, the context of this behaviour is not known. A further discussion therefore becomes speculative. Previous research has shown that different sedentary behaviours (e.g. screen-based vs non-screen-based SED) may associate differently with mental health (158, 159). More specifically, mentally active SED, such as office work or knitting/sewing has been shown to reduce the risk of depressive symptoms and depression among adults, whereas passive SED (e.g. watching TV) did not show any equivalent effect (160, 161). There may also be differences within screen time depending on whether this is passive (e.g. TV-viewing) or active (e.g. gaming), where passive screen time is associated with mood- and anxiety disorders among adolescents, while active screen time is not (162). At the same time, research shows that gaming has become increasingly popular and a source of social interaction, especially among boys (163, 164). In a Norwegian setting, 84 % of boys at lower secondary school reported gaming at least one hour per day in 2018-2020 (165). It could thus be plausible that the social interplay gaming offers might be one explanation for the results of the current study. Hoare et. al (166) also discuss the potential of social media platforms to hold protective effects for mental health through their ability to connect and interact with peers.

#### Self-esteem

The relationship between PA and global- and domain-specific self-esteem was explored crosssectionally in **paper I**. Results from these analyses suggested no relationship between PA and global self-esteem. Although the body of evidence on the PA and self-esteem-relationship has seen a rapid increase in recent years, the results are not consistent across studies. A recent review of reviews thus concluded that the picture is mixed (18). Nonetheless, their broad definition of PA led to inclusion of reviews exploring leisure time PA, yoga, recreational dance, and muscle-strengthening exercise which might have influenced their conclusions. A second umbrella systematic review (73) found a positive association in half of the included reviews, further elucidating the mixed picture of this relationship. They conclude that the relationship between PA and self-esteem is small-to-moderate and discuss whether the wide range of terminology for self-esteem could be one explanation for the conflicting results across reviews. This is also supported by Biddle et. al (18), who further points out that some studies only explore global self-esteem, ignoring potentially more relevant sub-domains of self-esteem. It is also argued that global self-esteem might be too distant from specific behaviours, such as PA, which may have a closer link to relevant sub-domains of self-esteem (119). **Paper I** support such an explanation as results showed significant positive associations between PA and the self-esteem domains athletic competence and social competence, but not for global self-esteem. Perceived athletic competence has also previously been found to associate positively with PA levels among Norwegian adolescents (167). However, this was through self-reported PA.

The domain, athletic competence assesses one's perception of an ability to do well in sports (20). Haugen et. al (167) discuss the potential of having experiences related to PA may benefit perceived athletic competence. It is thus possible that being more physically active might bring about broader experiences within sporting activities, further generating a greater belief in one's ability to do well in sports. Social competence, on the other hand, refers to having the skills to get others to like oneself and understanding what it takes to become popular (20). Being physically active or participating in sports is generally viewed as socially approved behaviours among adolescents which further contributes to them being encouraged and subsequently valued for their engagement in such activities (168). In a Norwegian cultural context, being active is also considered to be a valuable trait (169). This might offer one explanation for the association between PA and social acceptance found in the current study. In addition, the social arena of PA and sports may provide opportunities for friendships and feeling valued, which may facilitate further improvements in perceived social competence (168). Nonetheless, it is important to note that the current data only showed small associations between total PA and the self-esteem domains, as about a 20 % increase in average daily PA level was associated with a 0.12 (athletic competence) and 0.04 (social competence) unit increase in self-esteem measures.

#### 5.2.2 Mental health problems

There were no cross-sectional association between total PA and MHP among the study sample (**paper I**). One potential explanation for this could be that the pathways between PA and MHP might not be immediate but take longer to develop. The current study was able to explore this with its longitudinal design. **Paper III** thus explored whether change of PA volume or intensity between T1 and T3 were associated with MHP at T3. The results showed no evidence of such relationship either among girls or boys in the current study. As the relationship could be bi-directional, models were reversed to explore whether change of MHP were associated with volume or intensity of PA (see additional files 1 & 2 in paper III). Results showed no evidence of a bi-directional relationship between the variables of interest. There was thus no evidence for a relationship developing between the ages of 12/13-15/16. However, it cannot be ruled out that the time frame of the follow-up was still too short for a relationship to develop. Results from **paper I and III** nevertheless support

conclusions drawn from previous studies using a longitudinal design and measuring PA objectively (113, 114, 116, 118, 119). Toseeb et al. (118) propose that the relationship between PA and depressive symptoms might be small or non-existent during the adolescent years, as research more frequently reports positive associations in adult populations. This is also addressed by Opdal et. al (116) who propose that PA may serve another function for adolescents than for adults. Although reviewing the evidence of a relationship between PA and depression among adolescents, for which they also do find support, Biddle et. al (18) underscore that the link seems less consistent than for adults. Results of the current study together with those of previous studies might therefore suggest that other factors play a more prominent role for the level of MHP during adolescence.

Paper III further explored the longitudinal association between change in SED and MHP at T3. The results showed no associations either for girls or boys. This is in contrast with previous systematic reviews and meta-analyses who explored the effect of SED on indicators of mental health and found (1.) consistent evidence for a relationship between depressive symptomatology and psychological distress, and leisure time screen use (166, 170) and (2.) association between higher time spent in SED and depression (21). The latter further reported that there was insufficient evidence regarding the relationship with other indicators of negative mental health, such as anxiety, stress, and negative affect. However, it is important to note that the majority of studies included in these reviews have explored self-reported measures of SED or screen-time. Both Hoare et. al (166) and Liu et. al (170) conclude that the relationship is between leisure time screen use and negative mental health indicators, not SED in general. These differences will limit a direct comparison of results. On the other hand, an earlier longitudinal study using the same objective measure of SED as the current study, reports that objectively measured SED was unrelated with depressive symptoms among adolescents (114), and thus supports findings from paper III. In contrast, a cross-sectional study only including adolescent girls (12 years) found a modest inverse association between SED and depressive symptoms (115). A systematic review and meta-analysis of objectively measured SED and different health outcomes among children and adolescents conclude that the association between SED and mental health outcomes, to date, is uncertain (171). Consequently, there remains a dearth of relevant research to sufficiently address this relationship.

#### 5.2.3 Too mentally healthy?

Throughout all time points of the study, the sample means were low for MHP and high for MWB. (see figure 4 a-c and table 8). Stronger effects of PA have been found in populations with clinical diagnoses (18, 73). This might indicate that the study sample is too mentally healthy for an association to be present. The influence of PA on overall mentally healthy study samples might not have the potential for further improvements in MHP and MWB, or may not have the power to counteract other, more important influences of their lives, thus explaining the lack of significant associations within the current and comparable studies. It has also been argued that in study samples where few experience change in their mental health, associations with change of PA level will be difficult to find (116). Although sensitivity analyses show that there was a significant decrease in MWB score as well as an increase in MHP score among girls from T1-T3, the mean scores of boys and girls (and main proportion of students) were still within normal range and indicative of a mentally healthy study sample. This may further strengthen the argument that the overall good level of mental health in the study sample makes any contribution of PA negligible.

## 5.3 Physical activity and academic achievement

The relationship between PA and academic achievement was explored cross-sectionally in **paper I** and **II**. The cross-sectional findings revealed no strong association between the variables. **Paper II**, nonetheless, found a significant positive association between the variables in the cross-sectional analyses of data from T2 (see table 2, **paper II**). Sensitivity analyses showed this association only to be significant among boys (see supplementary table S2, **paper II**). It might be possible that associations between PA and academic achievement differ between academic years at lower secondary school. However, it is important to note that the association was very small as an increase of daily PA volume of approximately 20 % was equivalent to a 0.045 increase in GPA. As several tests were performed in **paper II**, we cannot rule out the possibility that this finding was a result of chance. Such an explanation is strengthened by the fact that there were no patterns in the findings to suggest a consistent relationship between the variables.

Further, **paper II** explored the relationship between PA and academic achievement in more depth with its longitudinal design, aiming to understand whether a potential relationship could be direct or indirect, or dependent on PA intensity. Results from this paper showed no indication of a direct longitudinal relationship between PA (total PA and MVPA) and academic achievement. This is in line with results from Corder et. al (133) who explored MVPA at 14.5 years and its association with academic achievement at 16 years. Nevertheless, results contrast with those found in Booth et. al (127) who reported a positive relationship between MVPA at 11 years and subsequent academic achievement at 16 years, as well as results from Owen et. al (104) who found a positive longitudinal association between change in MVPA and change in academic achievement among girls, but not boys. Only the current study and Owen et. al (104) obtained repeated measures of both predictor and outcome, and thus allowed exploration of any temporal relationships. As results differ across these two studies, additional research is needed to explore this further. The main proportion of previous research using objectively measured PA has made use of a cross-sectional design (see table 5). Consequently, the further discussions will include both prospective- and cross-sectional studies to enable a broader discussion of the current evidence base. Collectively, previous research shows a diverse picture of this relationship among children and adolescents (including positive associations, negative associations, and no associations). Results from the current study thus support (131-135) and contrast (negative association: (102, 136), positive association: (104, 127-130)) previous research. Although objectively measured PA has been explored in all above-mentioned studies, there are still inherent methodological differences across studies (e.g. study design, age of participants and measure of academic achievement), complicating any further discussion about the reasons for differences in results (see table 5 for detailed information of studies).

Nevertheless, there might be several possible explanations for the results of the current study. First, adolescence is characterized by considerable physical and cognitive development (172). This means that the follow-up period may not have been sufficiently long for any association to emerge. In a cohort study with 30-year follow-up, positive associations were seen between self-reported PA and subsequent educational attainment 30 years later (173). The authors nevertheless underline that the strength of the association was somewhat dependent on prior academic achievement. As PA was self-reported, and no studies using objectively measured PA with equally long follow-up have been conducted, we cannot conclude whether the association is dependent on measure of PA or not.

On the other hand, a potential relationship might also be a result of more immediate effects of PA (103, 106), and thus only accessible through targeted PA bouts performed at school (103). If this is the case, the current study design will not be able to detect any relationship as PA was measured as daily averages and midterm grades was obtained at the end of first semester.

Any relationship between PA and academic achievement might not be direct but be indirect and act via mediators. Previous research found WC to be a mediator in the longitudinal relationship between PA and academic achievement among children (130). To our knowledge, this hypothesis had not previously been explored amongst adolescents. **Paper II** thus sought to explore whether the same relations were present among an adolescent study sample. However, no evidence for such an indirect association among adolescents was found. As Lima et. al (130) explored the relationship among a younger age-group (7-12 years) and used a different measure to assess academic achievement (standardised national test scores), this might account for the differences found in results. The evidence base among children and adolescents is currently too low to draw any conclusions on this relationship among young people.

Further, it has been hypothesized that changes in cognitive and mental health outcomes from PA can be mediated by changes in relevant and associated behaviours, such as length and quality of sleep (17). Several variables related to length or quality of sleep have been associated with both predictor and outcome amongst children and adolescents (174). **Paper II** sought to explore whether sleep duration could serve as a potential mediator in the prospective relationship between PA and academic achievement in an adolescent population. Results from the current study showed no indication of such an indirect relationship. This is in line with a previous study which found that bedtime did not mediate any relationship between objectively measured PA and academic achievement (175). In the current study however, sleep duration was calculated from self-report using two questions which asked about the usual times for going to bed or getting up in the morning on school nights (for details, see supplementary file, table S1 in **paper II**). Likewise, Syväoja et. al (175) also used self-report, asking a question about the usual time for going to bed on school nights. Although these measures provide rough estimates of longer and shorter sleep durations among the participants, they are not a precise measure of the actual amount of sleep. There might thus be nuances to this relationship that the current study as well as that by Syväoja et. al (175) were not able to detect.

Previous research has proposed that there might be an intensity-dependent association as higher levels have been associated more frequently with academic achievement in some study samples (127, 128). On the other hand, other studies do not find any evidence of intensity related associations with MVPA (119, 131, 133-135), leaving a mixed picture of the relationship. **Paper II** found no evidence of an intensity dependent association between change in MVPA and GPA among the current study sample. However, as all of the above-mentioned studies explored the relationship between MVPA and academic achievement, it cannot be ruled out that isolated associations between VPA and academic achievement still might be present. Kwak et. al (128) analysed MPA and VPA separately and found only VPA to be associated with academic achievement, however solely among girls.

No clear direct or indirect relationship was found between volume or intensity of PA and academic achievement and thus suggests they are largely unrelated in the current study sample. However, there was nothing to suggest a detrimental effect of PA on academic achievement either. This is supported by previous studies showing no associations (131-135) suggesting that PA still has a role in providing beneficial effects on physical health among adolescents (14). In the two studies showing a negative association between PA and academic achievement, one underlined that the negative association was weak (136). The other found a negative association only to be present for PA during weekdays and displayed a curvilinear relationship, suggesting that participants with MVPA close to national recommendations were more likely to have higher academic achievement (102). These results do not, however, present an unequivocal negative relationship.

# 5.4 Physical activity, mental health, and academic achievement – multifactorial concepts

The current study has explored different associations between PA and SED, variables of mental health and academic achievement through the three years of lower secondary school in Norway, thus monitoring the development of and relationship between important constructs during the adolescent years. Our research focus and related questions are based on hypothesised models of potential relationships. In that regard it is important to acknowledge that all models are simplifications of complex mechanisms. Consequently, PA/SED, mental health, academic achievement and their potential associations are each multifactorial and represent complex processes, which might be influenced by numerous biological, environmental and social factors beyond those included in the current project (17, 79, 102, 176). Authors of a recent systematic review and meta-analysis exploring effects of PA interventions on mental health outcomes also highlight the complexity of measuring PA and mental health in an adolescent population (177). Further, both systematic reviews from Lubans et. al (17) and Neill et. al (177) conclude that the relationships between PA and cognitive or mental health is still not fully clear and could be influenced by other neurobiological, psychological and behavioural factors which are currently not included in their reviews. Whitelaw et. al (79) adds that both PA and mental health are manifest in social context as well as experienced by individuals in subjective ways, thus complicating research on these factors.

Furthermore, the contribution of factors to the outcomes may not work independently but be interrelated. Lubans et. al (17) underscore that multiple independent mechanisms may influence the cognitive or mental health outcomes both in parallel or via interaction with each other. This interrelation between factors is also highlighted by Faught et. al (178) who explored the simultaneous relationship between self-reported MVPA, sleep, diet and screen time on academic achievement. They found that while some health behaviours did not have an individual impact on academic achievement, combined with other healthy behaviours they still may support the outcome. Estrada-Tenorio et. al (102) adds to this by underscoring that variables linked to lifestyles only provide a small part of a complex map of factors that interact to explain academic achievement. Viewed in light of each other, this highlights the complexity of this field of research within the adolescent period of life. The expectation of any predictive model finding strong and enduring associations which are able to explain a large amount of the total variance may not be justified when considering all factors that contribute in different ways. Still, it remains important to explore these potential relationships further in-depth, building on results from previous research in the search for

new knowledge, which further may have implications for practice, and thus could contribute to improving young people's everyday life.

# 5.5 Methodological discussion

#### 5.5.1 Study design

**Papers I-III** all present results based on cross-sectional data. As predictor and outcome are ascertained at the same time, they provide a snapshot of a population at one point in time. Their ability to say anything about temporal sequencing and thereby assess causal inference thus remains limited (179). The study design is often referred to as 'prevalence' studies, and is appropriate for exploring the health of populations (180). Such surveillance is useful in situations where data on a population is limited as well as serving as a source of hypothesis generation (180). In Norway there has been a lack of knowledge about the relationships between PA and variables of mental health and academic achievement in the period covering the years at lower secondary school (12-16 years). The cross-sectional data generated from this project thus serve as an important contribution to the overall knowledge base on these variables and relationships among adolescents in Norway.

Papers II-III further present results based on a prospective cohort study where participants were followed annually from 8<sup>th</sup> to 10<sup>th</sup> grade (12/13 years – 15/16 years of age). As a cohort study tracks the same people over time, it represents the best way of exploring the development of a behaviour or an association (181, 182). Adolescence is a formative period of life during which young people undergo physical, mental, emotional and cognitive development (7). These changes may influence their PA level, mental health and academic achievement. It is thus important to explore these constructs and their potential relationships using a longitudinally perspective, hence the prospective cohort study design. Nonetheless, when exploring relationships, it is important to underline that only high quality experimental study designs can infer causality between predictor and outcome with any degree of certainty (182). However, although evidence will be less than those from large randomised controlled trials with little loss to follow-up, sophisticated prospective cohort studies may also be able to assess causal inference if key criteria are addressed (183). First, (1.) predictor must be collected prior to the outcome, and (2.) control for outcome at baseline must be made to rule out reverse associations (181-183). In addition, (3.) potential confounding factors at baseline must be controlled for, (4.) high-quality measurements of predictor, outcome and covariates should be used, (5.) a large sample size should be obtained, as well as (6.) conducting robust statistical modelling, preferably using data from three waves. Lastly, (7.) sensitivity analyses to explore robustness to potential bias should be conducted. If all of these criteria are met satisfactory, causal inference may be possible to address (183). In the current study, several of these criteria have been met. In papers II-III (and to some extent paper I), criteria 1-4 have all been accounted for. As criteria 5 regarding
sample size will vary depending on the research question, there are not any clear-cut definitions on what a 'large sample size' is. In the current study the overall study sample ranged from 552 to 599 participants in T1-T3 and was deemed sufficiently large according to power calculations. Nevertheless, it is important to note that far from all participants provided valid measurements for all variables in the three waves of study. Consequently, most analyses contain a somewhat lower n. The available study samples for the different analyses presented in papers I-III are nonetheless deemed satisfactory. Criteria 6 underlines that data from three waves preferably should be used in the statistical modelling thus allowing to control for prior levels of predictor in T1 and exploring how T2 predictor is associated with T3 outcomes (183). The current study has obtained measurements from three waves but has only used change scores derived from T1 and T3 in the longitudinal analyses and are thus not able to fully fulfil this criterion. Finally, criteria 7 regarding sensitivity analyses have not been adequately met in papers I-III. All things considered and regardless of results, it would thus not be appropriate to draw any firm conclusions regarding causality from the different papers of this study. Nevertheless, relationships between PA and variables of mental health and academic achievement have been explored using a strong study design and well-established and validated measurements, giving greater confidence in the results. Knowledge from the current study may therefore be viewed as important steppingstones for targeted intervention studies to build on in order to further explore the role of PA on MHP, MWB and academic achievement in adolescence.

The initial aim of the study was to obtain data at the beginning of each academic year (8<sup>th</sup>, 9<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> grade) and provide a longitudinal line of data through lower secondary school. This would have enabled a comparison of the participants from when they started at lower secondary school, through the beginning of their final year. However, due to logistical challenges related to numbers of accelerometers, sufficient personnel to implement the study, as well as fitting the data collection within each school's calendar, it was not feasible to obtain all data within that period. Consequently, some of the participants provided data in mid-September, while other provided data in mid-January. This may have introduced differences in the data provided as a consequence of seasonality (142, 144), but also on the amount of time spent in various grade levels at the time of data collection which may be of relevance for how they respond to the instruments measuring mental health, as well as their PA level. To account for this, season of data collection was adjusted for in all analyses. Because comparability of individual data across years is important when exploring trends over time, we ensured that the data collection was conducted at the participating schools at approximately the same time each year. However, we cannot rule out that a different timing of the data collection (e.g. 2<sup>nd</sup> term, and thereby capturing the end of 10<sup>th</sup> grade as well as their graduation grades) might yield different results.

# 5.5.2 Selection bias

There are several ways of including participants for a prospective cohort study. Although not a guarantee of generalisability, a random selection of participants from the relevant population remains the best approach to aim for this (184). Nevertheless, this is not always a feasible option, and as such, different methods can be used with the limitations they introduce. The current project has made use of non-random sampling which limit conclusions regarding generalisability. However, the sampling procedure sought to ensure that the participating schools were likely to be broadly representative of lower secondary schools in Norway by including schools that represented a diversity regarding geographical location (urban/suburban/rural), school size, type of school (grades 1<sup>st</sup>-10<sup>th</sup>/8<sup>th</sup>-10<sup>th</sup>), SES of the school and the school's average on standardised national tests. As the participation rate of the study was close to 60 %, 40 % of the invited students decided not to participate. Previous research shows that there often exist systematic differences between participants and non-participants in research studies, and that it is seldom completely random who decides to participate in research studies or not, also known as the "healthy volunteer effect" (185, 186). Participation often correlates with social, educational and health conditions, which further may correlate with risk factors that are defined as outcomes of the study (187). When the population under study is children and adolescents, it is rather difficult to obtain information about the nonparticipants. Because of their age, they do not yet possess a finished education, occupation or income, which serve as much-used indicators in adult populations (188). However, it is possible to use other indicators, such as parental SES as a proxy (188), or by estimating SES from the economic profile of the area of the schools they attend (189).

To date, research regarding adolescent non-participation in research studies remains limited. However, Winding et. al (190) found a slight over-representation of adolescents living in homes with higher income and education, being brought up by two adults and achieving higher school grades among participants compared to non-participants in a Danish youth cohort. They further explored the losses to follow-up and found these differences to be increased. Although these findings are context specific and cannot be generalised to other studies, they largely support analysis of nonparticipation among adults (191). It is nonetheless important to note that a higher participation rate will not necessarily eliminate the possibility of selection bias (191) in the same sense that a lower participation rate will not necessarily induce selection bias (187). In the current study, it was not possible to conduct any analyses on the non-participants to explore whether they differed from the participants. As **papers II-III** explored longitudinal data, analyses of those dropping out of the study in T2 or T3 were possible. However, there were few dropouts (see figure 2): 40 related to withdrawing from the project and 29 changed schools. Consequently, such analyses would not yield useful information about loss to follow-up. However, the current study has collected a large amount of information from the participants and far from everyone provided full sets of measurements for all variables for all data collections. As PA represents the predictor in all hypotheses of the current thesis, we explored whether there were systematic differences between participants with longitudinal PA-data 'valid PA T1+T3' compared with participants not providing longitudinal PA-data 'missing valid PA T1+T3'. Analyses found the 'valid PA T1+T3' to hold lower levels of total PA and MHP, as well as higher levels of SED, BMI, GPA. These results differ somewhat from a previous study exploring longitudinal changes of PA in Norwegian adolescents. They found those providing valid PA data at both time points to have lower BMI (boys and girls) as well as spending more minutes in MVPA (girls) than those lost to follow-up (43). However, it is important to note that although results from analyses of the participants from the current study were significant, differences between the groups varied in size for the different outcomes. This may nevertheless point towards a somewhat selective effect in the loss to follow-up in prospective analyses. Caution should be applied, therefore, regarding the interpretation of these results.

# 5.5.3 Methodological consideration of measurements *Physical activity*

Because the goal of PA epidemiology among others is to gain a better understanding of the relationship between PA and different health outcomes, the validity and reliability of the measures is essential (27). Because of the inherent challenges regarding assessment of PA via self-report among children and adolescents, systematic review studies of the relationship between PA and mental health or academic achievement underscore the necessity of being cautious in the interpretation based solely on self-report (103, 192). The majority of studies comparing self-report with objective measures of PA find low-to-moderate correlations. Thus, it is not surprising that the level of consistency between studies using different measures is low (27). Differences in measures could therefore serve as an explanation for the differences across studies using self-reported or objectively measured PA.

Nonetheless, it is important to note that there is an ongoing discussion whether self-reported and objectively measured PA in fact do measure the same construct of PA. Measuring PA by an objective measure, such as accelerometry, generates information about frequency and duration of movements with different intensities, and does not indicate type or context of activity (103, 131, 133). Self-report on the other hand, may obtain details regarding type and context of the activity undertaken (103, 133). If associations between PA and academic achievement or mental health is dependent on type or context of activity rather than time spent in PA with different intensities, accelerometry will not capture this. In relation to the association between PA and academic achievement, skill-specific

activities (e.g. activities requiring balance, agility, motor control and coordination) that typically do not generate activity counts in an accelerometer, may still capture PA in a wider sense, and thereby be related to academic achievement (103, 131, 175). This hypothesis is supported by a previous systematic review showing a positive relationship between both fine- and gross motor proficiency and academic achievement in mathematics and reading among children and adolescents (193). The authors underline that while the relationship with fine motor proficiency was most pronounced among children, gross motor proficiency in the form of upper limb coordination, speed, and agility, were also evident among adolescents. Hence, objective and self-reported measures of PA may therefore assess different constructs and contexts of PA which further may associate differently with academic achievement (131).

In relation to the association between PA and mental health, there has been an increase in research exploring the relevance of the social context in which the PA takes place and its relationship with variables of mental health (194, 195). Doré et. al (194) found team sports to associate with MWB among older adolescents, while individual sports or informal group PA was not. In relation to MHP, Sabiston et. al (195) found that participation in team sports during high school was associated with lower levels of depressive symptoms in early adulthood, while individual sport participation was not. It has been suggested that the reason for the differences found between individual sports and team sports may be due to the social interaction team sports offer (194, 195). As measurement of social context by accelerometry is not possible, this may explain some of the discrepancies in findings between self-reported- and objectively measured PA and variables of mental health.

**Papers I-III** have addressed methodological weaknesses in previous research by their use of an objective measure to assess PA. However, by doing so, the contextual information about type of activity and social context of the PA were unavailable. Consequently, to what degree, if any, these contextual PA factors could influence the relationship PA has with academic achievement and mental health (MWB and MHP) in the current study remains unknown.

# Shortcomings of accelerometry

Although serving as the method of choice to assess free-living PA among children and adolescents (36, 37), accelerometers also have some limitations. While not being completely waterproof, they cannot measure water activities. Further, accelerometers might not be sufficiently sensitive to capture patterns of SED because of their limitations in the measurement of posture (158). Because they are worn at the hip they also underestimate the energy cost for cycling, upper-body movements, load-carrying activities, and do not take inclination of terrain into account (27, 196). **Paper I-III** sought to account for some of these issues by registering the time spent swimming and/or

cycling in course of the wear period of the accelerometer. Throughout all three time points, the main proportion of pupils reported 0-1 hours of both activities (see appendix VI). Consequently, swimming and cycling was not considered to contribute to underestimating the true activity level, at least not to a large degree.

Despite recent attempts to unify accelerometer data processing criteria (37), there is currently no consensus regarding this, which has further implications for data comparability across studies using different criteria. Data used in **paper I-III**, have been processed according to criteria used in the PANCS studies (43, 65, 66) which have obtained cross-sectional and longitudinal data from nationally representative samples of Norwegian 6-, 9- and 15-year olds. This provides the opportunity for the current PA data to be compared with data from these studies. However, by doing so, PA data from this thesis might not be directly comparable with other studies using different criteria for data processing (e.g. criteria for wear time, non-wear, valid days and cut-points for different intensity levels). Although a recent review exploring data processing criteria did not find sufficient evidence to recommend non-wear criteria for adolescents (37), a minimum of 60 minutes of consecutive zeros has been suggested as the most realistic non-wear criteria when assessing SED and patterns of SED (197). The SED analyses presented in **paper III** used 20 minutes of consecutive zeros as non-wear criteria, and may thus have classified periods as non-wear which might in fact have been time spent in SED.

# Mental health

For pre-clinical psychological states (referred to as MHP in this thesis), several instruments designed for use among adolescents have been developed (87, 91). The evidence from systematic reviews indicates that a common approach is to include different instruments as comparable measures (21, 51). In **paper I and III**, MHP was measured using the SDQ (88). Since there is to date, insufficient research exploring the relationship between objectively measured PA and MHP measured by SDQ among an adolescent age group, a wider comparison with studies assessing preclinical psychological state of mental health by different instruments was conducted (e.g. Hopkins Symptom Checklist-10 (116), (Short/) MFQ (118, 120), CES-DC (119)). It is thus important to acknowledge that each instrument may assess different nuances of these states, further limiting their direct comparability.

Likewise, there are different views on what constitutes MWB. Lubans et. al (17) also underline that there is some conceptual overlap across the most common indicators of MWB. Consequently, MWB is measured by different indicators such as life satisfaction, happiness, self-image, global self-esteem, psychological resilience, quality of life, positive- and negative affect (17, 21, 96, 117). The instruments used to assess MWB among adolescents tend to measure one specific dimension of

MWB, rather than acknowledging the multidimensional nature of the construct that extends beyond simply feeling happy or being satisfied with life (77). By using WEMWBS, **paper I and III** have included an instrument that integrates different dimensions of MWB into a more holistic model which is relevant to the period of adolescence. As with preclinical psychological states of mental health, caution must thus be applied when comparing results from different MWB instruments, as they may not be directly comparable.

Further, in addition to the established limitation of self-report among children and adolescents (198), research also discusses the challenges of measuring MWB as it relies on one's own perception of constructs which children and adolescents may not yet be equipped to fully conceptualise (76). Moreover, there may be cultural differences in MWB, where instruments developed in one country may need to be tested for relevance and adjusted to fit a diverse adolescent population from a different country (76, 78). In **paper I and III**, MWB was measured by WEMWBS (78) which is validated for use amongst adolescents from 13 years and onwards (84). However, through piloting the Norwegian translated version, small linguistic changes were made in order to increase the clarity of some of the statements amongst the 8<sup>th</sup> graders (12-13 years of age) (see appendix III for further details regarding linguistic changes), further underlining the point made by Rose et. al (76) regarding conceptualisation of constructs amongst children and adolescents.

With regard to research on self-esteem, a core problem is that the field is complex and full of definitional and conceptual ambiguity (18). Although constructs of the self differ, they are often used inconsistently or interchangeably (e.g self-esteem, self-worth and self-concept), hence complicating any direct comparison across studies, as well as systematic reviewing of the current research (18, 73). Further, it is debated whether these inconsistencies may account for the conflicting findings reported in reviews and umbrella reviews (73). In **paper I**, SPPA-R was used as a measure of self-esteem among adolescents (19, 20). This measure obtains a score of the respondent's overall sense of worth as a person, entitled 'global self-worth' in addition to domain-specific evaluations of the respondent's competence in different arenas of life. It is underscored that 'global self-worth' is analogous to overall self-esteem and thus enables comparisons of measures of these constructs (20).

# Academic achievement

For adolescents still under compulsory education, academic achievement is mainly assessed through school grades or standardised tests (102) and the current evidence base shows that both measures are much used (103). However, whether or not these two indicators of academic achievement in fact are comparable is debated. Further, it must also be recognised that there are differences within each of these indicators. While some studies have used GPA as an overall measure of academic

achievement through school grades, others have used the grade in a specific subject (e.g. mathematics) or a grade average of a compilation of subjects (e.g. mathematics, first- and second language). Additionally, as there are differences within type of standardised tests, these may also differ across studies (106). **Paper I and II** used GPA to measure academic achievement. Results from these studies are compared with research which has used both indicators as a measure of academic achievement. Consequently, interpretation of results may be limited by such a comparison and this may have accounted for some of the differences across studies.

# 5.5.4 Summary: Strengths and limitations of study design and measurements

First, the measurements used in this study are viewed as a key strength. While accelerometry is used to measure PA in all papers (paper I-III) thus eliminating bias associated with self-report (27), Paper I and III make use of validated instruments to measure variables of mental health and paper I and II use grades obtained from school records to assess academic achievement. Further, anthropometric variables (height, weight, and waist circumference) were measured directly by trained personnel (paper I-III). Second, the longitudinal design of the study, where all variables were measured at all time points represent a major strength. Third, the loss to follow-up from T1-T3 were very low (see figure 2), creating a strong longitudinal line of data which enabled exploration of the temporal nature of potential relationships (paper II and III). Forth, important covariates were controlled for. Fifth, serving as a less processed variable of PA, average cpm has been presented as a measure of PA volume in all papers (paper I-III), thereby avoiding problems related to the lack of consensus in the generation of cut-points for different intensity levels. Fifth, the adherence to PA measurements were high throughout all time points (T1 = 96 %, T2 = 87 %, T3 = 88 %. For further details see appendix VII). There are also several limitations to the study that needs to be addressed. First, although accelerometry serves as a good measure to assess habitual PA in adolescents (30), it is limited by its insufficient ability to accurately assess upper body movements, load-carrying activities, activities on a gradient, cycling and swimming (27, 196). Further, despite the knowledge that a shorter epoch should be applied when obtaining accelerometry measured PA among children and adolescents, the data was aggregated up to a 60 sec epoch when exploring minutes in PA with different intensities (paper II-III). Although the intermittency of activity is reduced with age most likely reducing the potential error in precision, it cannot be ruled out that this might have levelled off some of the time spent in MVPA. This will further lead to less accumulated time in MVPA and subsequently an underestimation of the prevalence of participants being categorized as adhering to national recommendations for PA (64). Further, as consensus regarding intensity specific cut-points for PA is yet to be decided upon, comparison with studies using different cut-points is limited (paper II and III). In addition, paper III obtains data on SED. As accelerometers have limitations to their

measurement of postures (158), this may have led to a less precise measure of patterns of SED in the study sample. Second, paper I and III report on variables of mental health. Despite using validated instruments, these may still introduce limitations. The potential of the instrument to be insensitive to change over time (SDQ), along with problems regarding ability to sufficiently discriminating within high (SDQ and WEMWBS) and low scores (SDQ) (85, 91), may limit their ability to assess associations within overall healthy study samples. Third, FAS III was used to obtain data on SES in paper I-III. A cross-national psychometric validation of this instrument showed it to discriminate poorly at the higher end of the affluence spectrum, thus revealing ceiling effects for a number of items among the Norwegian study sample (150). This may have entailed an insufficient differentiating of SES in the current study sample. Forth, as the sampling procedure for inclusion of schools in the project was not conducted at random, no definite conclusion regarding generalisability can be drawn. In addition, because the participation rate was 60 % at T1 and no drop-out analysis was possible to conduct, this may have introduced some selection bias into our findings. Analyses of participants providing longitudinal PA data (T1 and T3) compared with participants not providing valid measurements at both time points showed that there were significant differences between the groups (see table 9). Lastly, the inclusion of participants relied on power calculations conducted for the variable MWB (WEMWBS). In retrospect, we acknowledge that power calculations should have been obtained for all outcome variables.

# 6. Conclusions

Based on this thesis, the following conclusions can be drawn:

- Overall, there was no clear evidence of any association between intensity or volume of PA or SED and MHP in an overall healthy adolescent study sample, either in the cross-sectional or the longitudinal data. This suggest that MHP may be better explained by factors other than time spent in different movement categories.
- II. The relationships between intensity or volume of PA or SED and MWB were less clear, with some evidence suggesting a positive, but small relationship between PA volume and MWB among all in the cross-sectional data from T1. However, the longitudinal data only showed such a relationship to be present among girls. For boys however, a positive relationship between SED and MWB was evident in the longitudinal data.
- III. The relationships between PA and measures of self-esteem were only explored crosssectionally at T1 and solely by their relationship with volume of PA. There was no evidence for a relationship between PA and global self-esteem. However, small relationships between the domain-specific self-esteem measures 'athletic competence' and 'social competence' and PA volume were evident.
- IV. No evidence for a direct or indirect relationship between intensity or volume of PA and academic achievement was found either in cross-sectional or longitudinal data, suggesting that they were largely unrelated in the current study sample.

# 7. Implications and future directions

Doing well at school as well as sustaining good mental health are seen to be critical determinants of adolescents' current and future health as well as of their future educational and social outcomes (5, 7-9). Consequently, it is important to contribute further knowledge on how to best promote and support adolescents' mental health and achievement through, for example, physical activity. This study presents novel data on the relationships between PA and variables of mental health and academic achievement during the three years adolescents attend lower secondary school in Norway. The findings provided in this study suggest that for an overall health y adolescent study sample, no strong relationships between PA and variables of mental health was present in this period of life. This is, nonetheless, not synonymous with concluding that PA is unimportant for adolescents' mental health and academic achievement. However, it contributes to the recognition of the multifactorial and complex nature of these constructs. The results suggest that several questions remain and should be further explored in future research.

First, it is important to consider how mental health is operationalised and measured when exploring its relationship with PA and SED. As there is a lack of consistency regarding both operationalisation of concepts and instrument used to measure mental health, there is a need to further explore relationships between PA and various indicators of mental health by replicating previous study designs and applying these to different study samples to explore whether results differ. Furthermore, the different dimensions of mental health (e.g. MHP and MWB) may have a different relationship with PA. Future research should therefore provide a rationale for each specific dimension to be explored as well as justification for specific measurement instruments.

Although serving as a more precise measure of volume and intensity of PA, accelerometers are unable to obtain information on type and context of PA which are factors that also may be of relevance to mental health. Consequently, it is important for future research to explore this relationship further including both objective- and self-reported measures to be able to obtain a more in-depth understanding of all aspects of PA and whether they relate differently with MHP. Moreover, the current national recommendations for PA for children and adolescents states that the activity undertaken must be of moderate to vigorous intensity to provide an effect on health (58). However, the foundations of these recommendations can only provide evidence of a dose-response relationship between PA and all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease mortality and incidence of type 2 diabetes among adults (199). Hence, there are, to date, insufficient evidence for doseresponse relationships between PA and health outcomes in children and adolescent. It may be possible that, if a dose-response relationship exists between PA and different variables of mental health, improvements require a different 'dose' of PA than for variables of physical health as well as different 'doses' for different age groups (e.g. lower intensity, more context specific, different duration and frequency). Consequently, there is a need to explore whether recommendations for mental health may differ from those for physical health.

The data accelerometers are able to provide regarding SED are also limited to volume and pattern and cannot address which SED have been undertaken. Because different types of SED (e.g. mentally active vs. mentally passive SED) may associate differently with constructs of mental health (161, 162), future research might combine objective measures with subjective measures to enable contextual information is captured and potentially generate a more detailed picture of the relationship between SED and constructs of mental health among adolescents.

Although the short-term relationship between PA and academic achievement has been explored extensively in recent years, the evidence is still inconclusive regarding this relationship. Consequently, there is a need for more high-quality studies using objective measures as well as equal assessment of academic achievement to ensure better comparability across studies. Moreover, there is still limited research on the long-term relationship between PA and later academic achievement and educational success, especially with regard to use of objective measures to assess PA.

# 8. References

1. Acheson D. Public Health in England. Report of the Committee of Inquiry into the Future Development of the Public Health Function. London, HMSO; 1988.

2. Kohl HW, Murray TD. Foundations of physical activity and public health. Champaign, Ill: Human Kinetics; 2012.

3. Winslow CEA. The untilled field of public health. Mod Med. 1920;2:183-91.

4. Midgley G. Systemic Intervention for Public Health. Am J Public Health. 2006;96(3):466-72.

5. Marmot M. Fair Society, Healthy Lives : The Marmot Review : strategic review of health inequalities in England post-2010. London: University College London; 2010.

6. World Health Organization. Definition of key terms. 2013. [cited 2018 06.08]. Available from: http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/arv2013/intro/keyterms/en/.

7. Patton GC, Sawyer SM, Santelli JS, Ross DA, Afifi R, Allen NB, et al. Our future: a Lancet commission on adolescent health and wellbeing. Lancet. 2016;387(10036):2423-78.

8. Inchley J, Currie D, Budisavljevic S, Torsheim T, Jåstad A, Cosma A, et al., editors. Spotlight on adolescent health and well-being. Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey in Europe and Canada. International report. Volume 1. Key findings. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020.

9. Dyson A, Hertzman C, Roberts H, Tunstill J, Vaghri Z. Childhood development, education and health inequalities. Task group report to the Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England Post 2010 (Marmot Review). University College London; 2009.

10. World Health Organization. Mental Health action plan 2013-2020. World Health Organization; 2013.

11. Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet. Mestre hele livet. Regjeringens strategi for god psykisk helse (2017-2022) [Mastering the whole life. Government strategy for mental health (2017-2022)]. Oslo: Departementenes sikkerhets- og serviceorganisasjon; 2017.

12. Pate RR. Historical perspectives on physical activity, fitness and health. In: Bouchard C, Blair SN, Haskell WL, editors. Physical activity and health. 2nd ed. Champaign, Ill: Human Kinetics; 2012. p. 21-37.

13. Morris JN, Heady JA, Raffle PAB, Roberts CG, Parks JW. Coronary heart disease and physical activity of work. Lancet. 1953;265:1111-20.

14. Mountjoy M, Andersen LB, Armstrong N, Biddle S, Boreham C, Bedenbeck H-PB, et al. International Olympic Committee consensus statement on the health and fitness of young people through physical activity and sport. Br J Sports Med. 2011;45(11):839.

15. Kohl HW, Craig CL, Lambert EV, Inoue S, Alkandari JR, Leetongin G, et al. The pandemic of physical inactivity: global action for public health. Lancet. 2012;380(9838):294-305.

16. Morris JN. Exercise in the prevention of coronary heart disease: today's best buy in public health. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1994;26(7):807-14.

17. Lubans D, Richards J, Hillman CH, Faulkner G, Beauchamp M, Nilsson M, et al. Physical Activity for Cognitive and Mental Health in Youth: A Systematic Review of Mechanisms. Pediatrics. 2016;138(3).

18. Biddle SJH, Ciaccioni S, Thomas G, Vergeer I. Physical activity and mental health in children and adolescents: An updated review of reviews and an analysis of causality. Psychol Sport Exerc. 2018;42:146-55.

19. Wichstrøm L. Harter's Self-Perception Profile for Adolescents: reliability, validity, and evaluation of the question format. J Pers Assess. 1995;65(1):100.

20. Harter S. Self-perception profile for adolescents: Manual and questionnaires. Denver: University of Denver; 1988, 2012.

21. Rodriguez-Ayllon M, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Estevez-Lopez F, Munoz NE, Mora-Gonzalez J, Migueles JH, et al. Role of Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in the Mental Health of Preschoolers, Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sports Med. 2019;49(9):1383-410.

22. Gustafsson J-E, Allodi Westling M, Alin Åkerman B, Eriksson C, Eriksson L, Fischbein S, et al. School, Learning and Mental Health: A systematic review. Stockholm: The Royal Academy of Sciences; 2010.

23. Skogen J, Smith O, Aarø L, Siqveland J, Øverland S. Barn og unges psykiske helse: Forebyggende og helsefremmende folkehelsetiltak. En kunnskapsoversikt [Children and adolescents' mental health: Preventiv and health-promoting public health measures. An evidence-based overview]. Oslo: Folkehelseinstituttet; 2018.

24. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical Activity, Exercise, and Physical Fitness: Definitions and Distinctions for Health-Related Research. Public Health Rep. 1985;100(2):126-31.

25. Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, Saunders TJ, Carson V, Latimer-Cheung AE, et al. Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN) – Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2017;14(1):1-17.

26. World Health Organization. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.

27. Adamo KB, Prince SA, Tricco AC, Connor-Gorber S, Tremblay M. A comparison of indirect versus direct measures for assessing physical activity in the pediatric population: a systematic review. Int J Pediatr Obes. 2009;4(1):2-27.

28. Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Herrmann SD, Meckes N, Bassett JDR, Tudor-Locke C, et al. 2011 Compendium of Physical Activities: a second update of codes and MET values. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(8):1575-81.

29. Butte NF, Watson KB, Ridley K, Zakeri IF, McMurray RG, Pfeiffer KA, et al. A Youth Compendium of Physical Activities: Activity Codes and Metabolic Intensities. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2018;50(2):246-56.

30. Corder K, Ekelund U, Steele RM, Wareham NJ, Brage S. Assessment of physical activity in youth. J Appl Physiol. 2008;105(3):977-87.

31. Sirard JR, Pate RR. Physical activity assessment in children and adolescents. Sports Med. 2001;31(6):439-54.

32. Hallal PC, Reichert FF, Clark VL, Cordeira KL, Menezes AM, Eaton S, et al. Energy expenditure compared to physical activity measured by accelerometry and self-report in adolescents: a validation study. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e77036.

33. Sallis JF, Saelens BE. Assessment of Physical Activity by Self-Report: Status, Limitations, and Future Directions. Res Q Exerc Sport. 2000;71(2):1.

34. Slootmaker SM, Schuit AJ, Chinapaw MJ, Seidell JC, van Mechelen W. Disagreement in physical activity assessed by accelerometer and self-report in subgroups of age, gender, education and weight status. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2009;6(1):17.

35. Lee IM, Shiroma EJ. Using accelerometers to measure physical activity in large-scale epidemiological studies: issues and challenges. Br J Sports Med. 2014;48(3):197-201.

36. Reilly JJ, Penpraze V, Hislop J, Davies G, Grant S, Paton JY. Objective measurement of physical activity and sedentary behaviour: review with new data. Arch Dis Child. 2008;93(7):614-9.

37. Migueles JH, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Ekelund U, Delisle Nyström C, Mora-Gonzalez J, Löf M, et al. Accelerometer Data Collection and Processing Criteria to Assess Physical Activity and Other Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Practical Considerations. Sports Med. 2017;47(9).

38. Cain KL, Sallis JF, Conway TL, Van Dyck D, Calhoon L. Using accelerometers in youth physical activity studies: a review of methods. J phys Act Health. 2013;10(3):437.

39. Migueles JH, Aadland E, Andersen LB, Brønd JC, Chastin SF, Hansen BH, et al. GRANADA consensus on analytical approaches to assess associations with accelerometer-determined physical behaviours (physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep) in epidemiological studies. Br J Sports Med. 2021;Epub ahead of print.

40. Rich C, Geraci M, Griffiths LJ, Sera F, Dezateux C, Cortina-Borja M. Quality Control Methods in Accelerometer Data Processing: Defining Minimum Wear Time. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(6):e67206.

41. Mattocks C, Ness A, Leary S, Tilling K, Blair SN, Shield J, et al. Use of accelerometers in a large field-based study of children: protocols, design issues, and effects on precision. J Phys Act Health. 2008;5 Suppl 1:98-111.

42. ActiGraph. User Guide ActiGraph wGT3X-BT + ActiLife. 2019. [cited 2021 21.04]. Available from: <u>https://s3.amazonaws.com/actigraphcorp.com/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2019/02/04090339/ActiGraph\_wGT3X-</u> <u>BT\_UserGuide\_02012019\_Revision2\_FINAL.pdf</u>.

43. Dalene KE, Anderssen SA, Andersen LB, Steene-Johannessen J, Ekelund U, Hansen BH, et al. Secular and longitudinal physical activity changes in population-based samples of children and adolescents. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2018;28(1):161-71.

44. Corder K, Sharp SJ, Atkin AJ, Griffin SJ, Jones AP, Ekelund U, et al. Change in objectively measured physical activity during the transition to adolescence. Br J Sports Med. 2015;49(11):730-6.

45. Harding SK, Page AS, Falconer C, Cooper AR. Longitudinal changes in sedentary time and physical activity during adolescence. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2015;12:44.

46. Ortega FB, Konstabel K, Pasquali E, Ruiz JR, Hurtig-Wennlöf A, Mäestu J, et al. Objectively Measured Physical Activity and Sedentary Time during Childhood, Adolescence and Young Adulthood: A Cohort Study. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(4).

47. Orme M, Wijndaele K, Sharp SJ, Westgate K, Ekelund U, Brage S. Combined influence of epoch length, cut-point and bout duration on accelerometry-derived physical activity. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2014;11:34.

48. Bailey RC, Olson J, Pepper SL, Porszasz J, Barstow TJ, Cooper DM. The level and tempo of children's physical activities: an observational study. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1995;27(7):1033-41.

49. Trost SG, Loprinzi PD, Moore R, Pfeiffer KA. Comparison of accelerometer cut points for predicting activity intensity in youth. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(7):1360.

50. Chomistek KA, Yuan EC, Matthews PC, Troiano RR, Bowles BH, Rood CJ, et al. Physical Activity Assessment with the ActiGraph GT3X and Doubly Labeled Water. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2017;49(9):1935-44.

51. Poitras VJ, Gray CE, Borghese MM, Carson V, Chaput J-P, Janssen I, et al. Systematic review of the relationships between objectively measured physical activity and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. Appl Physiol Nutr Me. 2016;41(6):197-239.

52. Bull F, Al-Ansari S, Biddle S, al e. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Br J Sports Med. 2020;54:1451-62.

53. McDonough DJ, Liu W, Gao Z. Effects of Physical Activity on Children's Motor Skill Development: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. BioMed Res Int. 2020;2020.

54. Hayes G, Dowd KP, Macdonncha C, Donnelly AE. Tracking of Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior From Adolescence to Young Adulthood: A Systematic Literature Review. J Adolesc Health. 2019;65(4):446-54.

55. Telama R, Yang X, Viikari J, Välimäki I, Wanne O, Raitakari O. Physical activity from childhood to adulthood: a 21-year tracking study. American journal of preventive medicine. 2005;28(3):267-73.

56. Warburton DE, Nicol CW, Bredin SS. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. CMAJ. 2006;174(6):801-9.

57. World Health Organization. WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020.

58. Norwegian Directorate of Health. Anbefalinger om kosthold, ernæring og fysisk aktivitet [Recommendations for nutrition and physical activity]. Oslo: Helsedirektoratet; 2014. Report No.: IS-2170. 59. Tremblay MS, Carson V, Chaput JP. Introduction to the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Children and Youth: An Integration of Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviour, and Sleep. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2016;41(6 Suppl 3):iii-iv.

60. Chaput J-P, Carson V, Gray CE, Tremblay MS. Importance of All Movement Behaviors in a 24 Hour Period for Overall Health. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2014;11(12):12575-81.

61. Department of Health. Australian 24-hour movement guidelines for children (5–12 years) and young people (13–17 years): an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep — research report. Canberra: Australian Government, The Department of Health; 2019.

62. Guthold R, Stevens GA, Riley LM, Bull FC. Global trends in insufficient physical activity among adolescents: a pooled analysis of 298 population-based surveys with 1.6 million participants. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2020;4:23-35.

63. Cooper AR, Goodman A, Page AS, Sherar LB, Esliger DW, Sluijs EM. Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time in youth: the International children's accelerometry database (ICAD). Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2015;12.

64. Steene-Johannessen J, Hansen BH, Dalene KE, Kolle E, Northstone K, Moller NC, et al. Variations in accelerometry measured physical activity and sedentary time across Europe harmonized analyses of 47,497 children and adolescents. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2020;17(1):38.

65. Steene-Johannessen J, Anderssen SA, Kolle E, Hansen BH, Bratteteig M, Dalhaug EM, et al. Temporal trends in physical activity levels across more than a decade - a national physical activity surveillance system among Norwegian children and adolescents. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2021;18(1):55.

66. Kolle E, Steene-Johannessen J, Andersen LB, Anderssen SA. Objectively assessed physical activity and aerobic fitness in a population-based sample of Norwegian 9- and 15-year-olds. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2010;20(1):e41-e7.

67. Steene-Johannessen J, Anderssen SA, Bratteteig M, Dalhaug EM, Andersen ID, Andersen OK, et al. Kartlegging av fysisk aktivitet, sedat tid og fysisk form blant barn og unge 2018 (ungKan3) [Surveillance of physical activity, sedentary time and physical fitness among children and adolescents 2018 (PANCS 3]). Oslo: Norwegian school of Sport Sciences; 2019.

68. Farooq A, Parkinson KN, Adamson AJ, Pearce MS, Reilly JK, Hughes AR, et al. Timing of the decline in physical activity in childhood and adolescence: Gateshead Millennium Cohort Study. Br J Sports Med. 2017;52(15):1002-6.

69. Corder K, Winpenny E, Love R, Brown H, White M, Van Sluijs E. Change in physical activity from adolescence to early adulthood: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal cohort studies. Br J Sports Med. 2019;53:469-503.

70. Farooq A, Martin A, Janssen X, Wilson MG, Gibson AM, Hughes A, et al. Longitudinal changes in moderate-to-vigorous-intensity physical activity in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2019;21(1):e12953.

71. Dumith SC, Gigante DP, Domingues MR, Kohl HW. Physical activity change during adolescence: a systematic review and a pooled analysis. Int J Epidemiol. 2011;40(3):685.

72. World Health Organization. Mental health: strengthening our response. 2018. [cited 2020 03.08]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response</u>.

73. Dale LP, Vanderloo L, Moore S, Faulkner G. Physical activity and depression, anxiety, and selfesteem in children and youth: An umbrella systematic review. Ment Health Phys Act. 2019;16:66-79.

74. Keyes C. The mental health continuum: from languishing to flourishing in life. J Health Soc Behav. 2002;43(2):207-22.

75. Westerhof G, Keyes C. Mental Illness and Mental Health: The Two Continua Model Across the Lifespan. J Adult Dev. 2010;17(2):110-9.

76. Rose T, Joe S, Williams A, Harris R, Betz G, Stewart-Brown S. Measuring Mental Wellbeing Among Adolescents: A Systematic Review of Instruments. J Child Fam Stud. 2017;26(9):2349-62.

77. Vanderweele TJ, Trudel-Fitzgerald C, Allin P, Farrelly C, Fletcher G, Frederick DE, et al. Current recommendations on the selection of measures for well-being. Prev Med. 2020;133.

78. Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, Platt S, Joseph S, Weich S, et al. The Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2007;5:63.

79. Whitelaw S, Teuton J, Swift J, Scobie G. The physical activity – mental wellbeing association in young people: A case study in dealing with a complex public health topic using a 'realistic evaluation' framework. Ment Health Phys Act. 2010;3(2):61-6.

80. Zeigler-Hill V. The importance of self-esteem. 2013. In: Self-Esteem [Internet]. New York: Taylor and Francis; [1-21].

81. Bor W, Dean AJ, Najman J, Hayatbakhsh R. Are child and adolescent mental health problems increasing in the 21st century? A systematic review. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2014;48(7):606-16.

82. Collishaw S. Annual Research Review: Secular trends in child and adolescent mental health. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2015;56:370-93.

83. Sagatun Å, Heyerdahl S, Wentzel-Larsen T, Lien L. Mental health problems in the 10th grade and non-completion of upper secondary school: the mediating role of grades in a population-based longitudinal study. BMC public health. 2014;16.

84. Clarke A, Friede T, Putz R, Ashdown J, Martin S, Blake A, et al. Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): Validated for teenage school students in England and Scotland. A mixed methods assessment. BMC public health. 2011;11:487.

85. Ringdal R, Bradley Eilertsen M-E, Bjørnsen HN, Espnes GA, Moksnes UK. Validation of two versions of the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale among Norwegian adolescents. Scand J Public Health. 2018;46(7):718-25.

86. Tennant R, Goens C, Barlow J, Day C, Stewart-Brown S. A systematic review of reviews of interventions to promote mental health and prevent mental health problems in children and young people. J Ment Health. 2007;6(1):25-32.

87. Bentley N, Hartley S, Bucci S. Systematic Review of Self-Report Measures of General Mental Health and Wellbeing in Adolescent Mental Health. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev. 2019;22(2):225-52.

88. Goodman A, Goodman R. Strengths and difficulties questionnaire as a dimensional measure of child mental health. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2009;48(4):400-3.

89. YouthinMind. Scoring the Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire for age 4-17 or 18+ [Received from YouthinMind]2016.

90. Goodman R. The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A Research Note. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 1997;38(5):581-6.

91. Deighton J, Croudace T, Fonagy P, Brown J, Patalay P, Wolpert M. Measuring mental health and wellbeing outcomes for children and adolescents to inform practice and policy: a review of child self-report measures. Child Adolesc Ment Health. 2014;8:14.

92. Goodman R. Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2001;40(11):1337-45.

93. World Health Organization. Mental health. n.a. [cited 2020 21.08]. Available from: https://www.who.int/health-topics/mental-health#tab=tab\_2.

94. Vos T, Abbasi M, Abbasifard M, Abbastabar H, Abd-Allah F, Abdelalim A, et al. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet. 2020;396(10258):1204-22.

95. Norwegian Insitute of Public Health. Folkehelserapporten 2014 : helsetilstanden i Norge. Oslo: Norwegian Insitute of Public Health; 2014. Report No.: 9788280826350.

96. Cosma A, Stevens G, Martin G, Duinhof EL, Walsh SD, Garcia-Moya I, et al. Cross-National Time Trends in Adolescent Mental Well-Being From 2002 to 2018 and the Explanatory Role of Schoolwork Pressure. J Adolesc Health. 2020;66:50-8.

97. Potrebny T, Wiium N, Haugstvedt A, Sollesnes R, Torsheim T, Wold B, et al. Health complaints among adolescents in Norway: A twenty-year perspective on trends. PLoS ONE. 2019;14(1).

98. Sletten MA, Bakken A. Psykiske helseplager blant ungdom – tidstrender og samfunnsmessige forklaringer. En kunnskapsoversikt og en empirisk analyse [Mental health problems among adolescents]. Oslo: NOVA, Oslo Metropolian University; 2016. Report No.: 4/2016.

99. von Soest T, Wichstrøm L. Secular Trends in Depressive Symptoms Among Norwegian Adolescents from 1992 to 2010. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2014;42.

100. OECD. Improving health and social cohesion through education Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2010.

101. Steinmayr R, Meißner A, Weidinger AF, Wirthwein L. Academic achievement. 2014. Oxford Bibliographies Online Datasets.

102. Estrada-Tenorio S, Julián JA, Aibar A, Martín-Albo J, Zaragoza J. Academic Achievement and Physical Activity: The Ideal Relationship to Promote a Healthier Lifestyle in Adolescents. J Phys Act Health. 2020;17(5):525.

103. Marques A, Santos DA, Hillman CH, Sardinha LB. How does academic achievement relate to cardiorespiratory fitness, self-reported physical activity and objectively reported physical activity: a systematic review in children and adolescents aged 6-18 years. Br J Sports Med. 2018;52(16):1039.

104. Owen KB, Parker PD, Astell-Burt T, Lonsdale C. Regular Physical Activity and Educational Outcomes in Youth: A Longitudinal Study. J Adolesc Health 2018;62:334-40.

105. Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training. Vurderinger og foreløpige anbefalinger fra eksamensgruppa [Assessments and preliminary recommendations from the exam group]. 2019.

106. Donnelly EJ, Hillman CH, Castelli LD, Etnier NJ, Lee NS, Tomporowski NP, et al. Physical Activity, Fitness, Cognitive Function, and Academic Achievement in Children: A Systematic Review. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2016;48(6):1197-222.

107. Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training. Kva er nasjonale prøver? [What is national tests?]. 2019. [cited 2021 21.04]. Available from: <u>https://www.udir.no/eksamen-og-prover/prover/nasjonale-prover/om-nasjonale-prover/</u>.

108. Jensen F, Pettersen A, Frønes TS, Kjærnsli M, Rohatgi A, Eriksen A, et al. PISA 2018. Norske elevers kompetanse i lesing, matematikk og naturfag [PISA 2018. Norwegian student's competence in reading, numeracy and science]. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget; 2019.

109. OECD. PISA 2018 Results (Volume I): What Students Know and Can Do. Paris: PISA, OECD Publishing; 2019.

110. Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training. Analyse - grunnskolepoeng og karakterer i grunnskolen 2018-19 [Analysis -points and grades from compulsory education 2018-2019]. 2019. [cited 2021 21.04]. Available from: <u>https://www.udir.no/tall-og-forskning/finn-forskning/tema/analyse-av-grunnskolepoeng-og-karakterer-for-grunnskolen-skolearet-2018-19/</u>.

111. Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training. Resultater på nasjonale prøver for 8. og 9. trinn - analyse [Results from national tests for 8th and 9th grade - analysis]. 2019. [cited 2021 21.04]. Available from: <a href="https://www.udir.no/tall-og-forskning/finn-forskning/tema/nasjonale-prover/nasjonale-prover-8.-og-9.-trinn-2019/">https://www.udir.no/tall-og-forskning/finn-forskning/tema/nasjonale-prover-8.-og-9.-trinn-2019/</a>.

112. Leahy AA, Mavildi MF, Smith JJ, Hillman CH, Eather N, Barker D, et al. Review of High-Intensity Interval Training for Cognitive and Mental Health in Youth. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2020;52(10):2224-34.

113. Bell SL, Audrey S, Gunnell D, Cooper A, Campbell R. The relationship between physical activity, mental wellbeing and symptoms of mental health disorder in adolescents: a cohort study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2019;16(1):138.

114. Hume C, Timperio A, Veitch J, Salmon J, Crawford D, Ball K. Physical activity, sedentary behavior, and depressive symptoms among adolescents. J Phys Act Health. 2011;8(2):152-6.

115. Johnson CC, Murray MD, Elder PJ, Jobe BJ, Dunn LA, Kubik LM, et al. Depressive Symptoms and Physical Activity in Adolescent Girls. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2008;40(5):818-26.

116. Opdal IM, Morseth B, Handegård BH, Lillevoll K, Ask H, Nielsen CS, et al. Change in physical activity is not associated with change in mental distress among adolescents: The Tromsø study: Fit Futures. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1).

117. Sánchez-Oliva D, Esteban-Cornejo I, Padilla-Moledo C, Pérez-Bey A, Veiga ÓL, Cabanas-Sánchez V, et al. Associations between physical activity and sedentary time profiles transitions and changes in well-being in youth: The UP&DOWN longitudinal study. Psychol Sport Exerc. 2020;47.

118. Toseeb U, Brage S, Corder K, Dunn V, Jones P, Owens M, et al. Exercise and Depressive Symptoms in Adolescents: A Longitudinal Cohort Study. JAMA Pediatr. 2014;168(12):1093.

119. Van Dijk ML, Savelberg HHCM, Verboon P, Kirschner PA, De Groot RHM. Decline in physical activity during adolescence is not associated with changes in mental health. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:300.

120. Wiles NJ, Haase AM, Lawlor DA, Ness A, Lewis G. Physical activity and depression in adolescents: cross-sectional findings from the ALSPAC cohort. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2012;47(7):1023-33.

121. Chaddock-Heyman L, Erickson KI, Kienzler C, King M, Pontifex MB, Raine LB, et al. The role of aerobic fitness in cortical thickness and mathematics achievement in preadolescent children. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0134115.

122. Hillman CH, Biggan, J. A Review of Childhood Physical Activity, Brain, and Cognition: Perspectives on the Future. Pediatr Exerc Sci. 2017;29(2):170-6.

123. Hillman CH, Erickson KI, Kramer AF. Be smart, exercise your heart: exercise effects on brain and cognition. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2008;9(1):58-65.

124. Chaddock L, Pontifex MB, Hillman CH, Kramer AF. A Review of the Relation of Aerobic Fitness and Physical Activity to Brain Structure and Function in Children. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2011;17(6):975-85.

125. Cotman CW, Berchtold NC, Christie LA. Exercise builds brain health: key roles of growth factor cascades and inflammation. Trends Neurosci. 2007;30(9):464-72.

126. Singh AS, Saliasi E, van den Berg V, Uijtdewilligen, de Groot LRHM, Jolles J, et al. Effects of physical activity interventions on cognitive and academic performance in children and adolescents: a novel combination of a systematic review and recommendations from an expert panel. Br J Sports Med. 2019;53(10):640-7.

127. Booth JN, Leary SD, Joinson C, Ness AR, Tomporowski PD, Boyle JM, et al. Associations between objectively measured physical activity and academic attainment in adolescents from a UK cohort. Br J Sports Med. 2014;48(3):265.

128. Kwak L, Kremers SP, Bergman P, Ruiz JR, Rizzo NS, Sjostrom M. Associations between physical activity, fitness, and academic achievement. J Pediatr. 2009;155(6):914-8.

129. Maher C, Lewis L, Katzmarzyk PT, Dumuid D, Cassidy L, Olds T. The associations between physical activity, sedentary behaviour and academic performance. J Sci Med Sport. 2016;19(12):1004-9.

130. Lima RA, Pfeiffer KA, Moller NC, Andersen LB, Bugge A. Physical Activity and Sedentary Time Are Positively Associated With Academic Performance: A 3-Year Longitudinal Study. J Phys Act Health. 2019;16(3):177-83.

131. Syväoja HJ, Kantomaa MT, Ahonen T, Hakonen H, Kankaanpää A, Tammelin TH. Physical activity, sedentary behavior, and academic performance in finnish children. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2013;45(11):2098-104.

132. van Dijk ML, de Groot RHM, Savelberg HHCM, van Acker F, Kirschner PA. The association between objectively measured physical activity and academic achievement in dutch adolescents: Findings from the GOALS study. J Sport Excerc Psychol. 2014;36(5):460-73.

133. Corder K, Atkin AJ, Bamber DJ, Brage S, Dunn VJ, Ekelund U, et al. Revising on the run or studying on the sofa: prospective associations between physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and exam results in British adolescents. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2015;12(106).

134. Oliveira T, Pizarro A, Costa M, Fernandes L, Silva G, Mota J, et al. Cardiorespiratory fitness, but not physical activity, is associated with academic achievement in children and adolescents. Ann Hum Biol. 2017;44(4):309-15.

135. Bueno MRdO, Zambrin LF, Panchoni C, Werneck AO, Fernandes RA, Serassuelo H, et al. Association Between Device-Measured Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity and Academic Performance in Adolescents. Health Educ Behav. 2021;48(1):54-62.

136. Esteban-Cornejo I, Tejero-González CM, Martinez-Gomez D, Cabanas-Sánchez V, Fernández-Santos JR, Conde-Caveda J, et al. Objectively measured physical activity has a negative but weak association with academic performance in children and adolescents. Acta Paediatr. 2014;103(11):e501-e6.

137. Hansen BH, Kolle E, Steene-Johannessen J, Dalene KE, Ekelund U, Anderssen SA. Monitoring population levels of physical activity and sedentary time in Norway across the lifespan. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2019;29(1):105-12.

138. Santana CCA, Hill JO, Azevedo LB, Gunnarsdottir T, Prado WL. The association between obesity and academic performance in youth: a systematic review. Obes Rev. 2017;18(10):1191-9.

139. Mannan M, Mamun A, Doi S, Clavarino A. Prospective Associations between Depression and Obesity for Adolescent Males and Females- A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Longitudinal Studies. PLoS One. 2016;11(6):e0157240.

140. Sanders RH, Han A, Baker JS, Cobley S. Childhood obesity and its physical and psychological co-morbidities: a systematic review of Australian children and adolescents. Eur J Pediatr. 2015;174(6):715-46.

141. Kolle E, Steene-Johannessen J, Andersen LB, Anderssen SA. Seasonal variation in objectively assessed physical activity among children and adolescents in Norway: a cross-sectional study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2009;6(1):36.

142. Rich C, Griffiths LJ, Dezateux C. Seasonal variation in accelerometer-determined sedentary behaviour and physical activity in children: a review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2012;9:49.

143. Harmatz MG, Well AD, Overtree CE, Kawamura KY, Rosal M, Ockene IS. Seasonal Variation of Depression and Other Moods: A Longitudinal Approach. J Biol Rhythms. 2000;15(4):344-50.

144. Lukmanji A, Williams JVA, Bulloch AGM, Bhattarai A, Patten SB. Seasonal variation in symptoms of depression: A Canadian population based study. J Affect Disord. 2019;255:142-9.

145. Stalsberg R, Pedersen AV. Effects of socioeconomic status on the physical activity in adolescents: a systematic review of the evidence. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2010;20(3):368-83.

146. Hartley JEK, Levin K, Currie C. A new version of the HBSC Family Affluence Scale - FAS III: Scottish Qualitative Findings from the International FAS Development Study. Child Indic Res. 2016;9(1):233-45.

147. Currie C, Molcho M, Boyce W, Holstein B, Torsheim T, Richter M. Researching health inequalities in adolescents: the development of the Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) family affluence scale. Soc Sci Med. 2008;66(6):1429-36.

148. Inchley J, Currie D, Young T, Samdal O, Torsheim T, Augustson L, et al., editors. Growing up unequal: gender and socioeconomic differences in young people's health and well-being. Copenhagen: World Health Organization, Regional office for Europe; 2016.

149. Currie C, Inchley J, Molcho M, Lenzi M, Veselska Z, Wild F, editors. Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) study protocol: background, methodology and mandatory items for the 2013/2014 survey. St. Andrews: Children and Adolescent Health Research Unit (CAHRU); 2014.

150. Torsheim T, Cavallo F, Levin KA, Schnohr C, Mazur J, Niclasen B, et al. Psychometric Validation of the Revised Family Affluence Scale: a Latent Variable Approach. Child Indic Res. 2016;9:771-84.

151. John D, Freedson P. ActiGraph and Actical physical activity monitors: a peek under the hood. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2012;44(1 Suppl 1):86-9.

152. Dossegger A, Ruch N, Jimmy G, Braun-Fahrlander C, Mader U, Hanggi J, et al. Reactivity to accelerometer measurement of children and adolescents. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2014;46(6):1140-6.

153. Andersen LB, Harro M, Sardinha LB, Froberg K, Ekelund U, Brage S, et al. Physical activity and clustered cardiovascular risk in children: a cross-sectional study (The European Youth Heart Study). The Lancet. 2006;368(9532):299-304.

154. Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training. Vurderingspraksis - Vurdering for læring [Praxis for assessment - assessment for learning]. The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training; n.d. [cited 2021 21.04]. Available from: <a href="https://www.udir.no/laring-og-trivsel/vurdering/">https://www.udir.no/laring-og-trivsel/vurdering/</a>.

155. Forskrift til opplæringslova (FOR-2020-06-29-1474) [regulative to the Education Act] (2020).

156. Sigmundová D, Sigmund E, Tesler R, Ng KW, Hamrik Z, Mathisen FKS, et al. Vigorous physical activity in relation to family affluence: time trends in Europe and North America. J Public Health. 2019;64(7):1049-58.

157. Maheswaran H, Weich S, Powell J, Stewart-Brown S. Evaluating the responsiveness of the Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (WEMWBS): Group and individual level analysis. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2012;10(1):156.

158. Carson V, Hunter S, Kuzik N, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Chaput JP, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth: an update. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2016;41(6 Suppl 3):240-65.

159. Opdal IM, Morseth B, Handegård B-H, Lillevoll KR, Nilsen W, Nielsen C, et al. Is change in mental distress among adolescents predicted by sedentary behaviour or screen time? Results from the longitudinal population study The Tromsø Study: Fit Futures. BMJ Open. 2020;10(2):e035549-e.

160. Hallgren M, Nguyen TT, Owen N, Stubbs B, Vancampfort D, Lundin A, et al. Cross-sectional and prospective relationships of passive and mentally active sedentary behaviours and physical activity with depression. Br J Psychiatry. 2020;217(2):413-9.

161. Hallgren M, Owen N, Stubbs B, Zeebari Z, Vancampfort D, Schuch F, et al. Passive and mentally-active sedentary behaviors and incident major depressive disorder: A 13-year cohort study. J Affect Disord. 2018;241:579-85.

162. Kim S, Favotto L, Halladay J, Wang L, Boyle MH, Georgiades K. Differential associations between passive and active forms of screen time and adolescent mood and anxiety disorders. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2020;55(11):1469-78.

163. Carras MC, Van Rooij AJ, Van de Mheen D, Musci R, Xue Q-L, Mendelson T. Video gaming in a hyperconnected world: A cross-sectional study of heavy gaming, problematic gaming symptoms, and online socializing in adolescents. Comput Hum Behav. 2017;68:472-9.

164. Trepte S, Reinecke K, Juechems K. The social side of gaming: How playing online computer games creates online and offline social support. Comput Hum Behav. 2012;28(3):832-9.

165. Bakken A. Ungdata 2020: Nasjonale resultater [Ungdata 2020: National results]. Nova, OsloMet; 2020. Report No.: 16/20.

166. Hoare E, Milton K, Foster C, Allender S. The associations between sedentary behaviour and mental health among adolescents: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2016;13(1):108.

167. Haugen T, Säfvenbom R, Ommundsen Y. Physical activity and global self-worth: The role of physical self-esteem indices and gender. Ment Health Phys Act. 2011;4(2):49-56.

168. Bedard C, Hanna S, Cairney J. A Longitudinal Study of Sport Participation and Perceived Social Competence in Youth. J Adolesc Health. 2020;66(3):352-9.

169. Green K, Thurston M, Vaage O, Roberts K. 'We're on the right track, baby, we were born this way'! Exploring sports participation in Norway. Sport Educ Soc. 2015;20(3):285-303.

170. Liu M, Wu L, Yao S. Dose–response association of screen time-based sedentary behaviour in children and adolescents and depression: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Br J Sports Med 2016;50:1252-8.

171. Cliff DP, Hesketh KD, Vella SA, Hinkley T, Tsiros MD, Ridgers ND, et al. Objectively measured sedentary behaviour and health and development in children and adolescents: systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2016;17(4):330-44.

172. Paus T. Mapping brain maturation and cognitive development during adolescence. Trends Cogn Sci. 2005;9(2):60-8.

173. Kari JT, Pehkonen J, Hutri-Kahonen N, Raitakari OT, Tammelin TH. Longitudinal Associations between Physical Activity and Educational Outcomes. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2017;49(11):2158-66.

174. Chaput J-P, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Carson V, Gruber R, Olds T, et al. Systematic review of the relationships between sleep duration and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2016;41(6 Suppl 3):266-82.

175. Syväoja HJ, Kankaanpää A, Kallio J, Hakonen H, Kulmala J, Hillman CH, et al. The Relation of Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviors, and Academic Achievement Is Mediated by Fitness and Bedtime. J Phys Act Health. 2018;15.

176. Hallal PC, Martínez-Mesa J, Coll CV, Mielke GI, Mendes MA, Peixoto MB, et al. Physical Activity at 11 Years of Age and Incidence of Mental Health Problems in Adolescence: Prospective Study. J Phys Act Health. 2015;12(4):535.

177. Neill RD, Lloyd K, Best P, Tully MA. The effects of interventions with physical activity components on adolescent mental health: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Ment Health Phys Act. 2020;19.

178. Faught EL, Qian W, Carson VL, Storey KE, Faulkner G, Veugelers PJ, et al. The longitudinal impact of diet, physical activity, sleep, and screen time on Canadian adolescents' academic achievement: An analysis from the COMPASS study. Prev Med. 2019;125:24-31.

179. Levin KA. Study design III: Cross-sectional studies. Evidence-based dentistry. 2006;7(1):24.

180. Grimes DA, Schulz KF. Descriptive studies: what they can and cannot do. Lancet 2002;359(9301):145.

181. Grimes DA, Schulz KF. Cohort studies: marching towards outcomes. Lancet. 2002;359(9303):341-5.

182. Levin KA. Study design IV. Cohort studies. Evidence-based dentistry. 2006;7(2):51-2.

183. VanderWeele TJ. Can Sophisticated Study Designs With Regression Analyses of Observational Data Provide Causal Inferences? JAMA Psychiatry. 2021;78(3):244-6.

184. Simundic AM. Bias in research. Biochem Med. 2013;23(1):12-5.

185. Keyes KM, Westreich D. UK Biobank, big data, and the consequences of non-representativeness. Lancet. 2019;393(10178):1297.

186. Munafò MR, Tilling K, Taylor AE, Evans DM, Davey Smith G. Collider scope: when selection bias can substantially influence observed associations. Int J Epidemiol. 2018;47(1):226.

187. Nohr EA, Liew Z. How to investigate and adjust for selection bias in cohort studies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2018;97:407-16.

188. Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA, Lynch JW, Smith GD. GLOSSARY: Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 1). J Epidemiol Community Health. 2006;60(1):7-12.

189. Kolle E, Steene-Johannessen J, Klasson-Heggebø L, Andersen LB, Anderssen SA. A 5-yr Change in Norwegian 9-yr-Olds' Objectively Assessed Physical Activity Level. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2009;41(7):1368-73.

190. Winding TN, Andersen JH, Labriola M, Nohr EA. Initial non-participation and loss to follow-up in a Danish youth cohort: implications for relative risk estimates. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2014;68(2):137.

191. Hansen BH, Kolle E, Holme I, Anderssen SA, Dyrstad SM. Accelerometer-determined physical activity in adults and older people. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2012;44(2):266-72.

192. Sampasa-Kanyinga H, Colman I, Goldfield GS, Janssen I, Wang J, Podinic I, et al. Combinations of physical activity, sedentary time, and sleep duration and their associations with depressive symptoms and other mental health problems in children and adolescents: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2020;17(1):72.

193. Macdonald K, Milne N, Orr R, Pope R. Relationships Between Motor Proficiency and Academic Performance in Mathematics and Reading in School-Aged Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(8).

194. Doré I, O'Loughlin JL, Beauchamp G, Martineau M, Fournier L. Volume and social context of physical activity in association with mental health, anxiety and depression among youth. Prev Med. 2016;91:344-50.

195. Sabiston CM, Jewett R, Ashdown-Franks G, Belanger M, Brunet J, O'Loughlin E, et al. Number of Years of Team and Individual Sport Participation During Adolescence and Depressive Symptoms in Early Adulthood. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2016;38(1):105-10.

196. Shephard RJ, Aoyagi Y. Measurement of human energy expenditure, with particular reference to field studies: an historical perspective. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2012;112(8):2785-815.

197. Chinapaw MJM, de Niet M, Verloigne M, de Bourdeaudhuij I, Brug J, Altenburg TM. From sedentary time to sedentary patterns: accelerometer data reduction decisions in youth. PLoS One. 2014;9(11):e111205-e.

198. Bryant G, Heard H, Watson J. Measuring Mental Wellbeing in Children and Young People. Public Health England: The National Mental Health, Dementia and Neurology Intelligence Network; 2015.

199. Powell KE, King AC, Buchner DM, Campbell WW, DiPietro L, Erickson KI, et al. The Scientific Foundation for the Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans, 2nd Edition. J Phys Act Health. 2018;16(1):1-11.

Paper I

## Mental Health and Physical Activity 18 (2020) 100322



## Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Mental Health and Physical Activity

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/menpa

# Physical activity, mental health and academic achievement: A crosssectional study of Norwegian adolescents



Ingeborg Barth Vedøy<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Sigmund Alfred Anderssen<sup>b</sup>, Hege Eikeland Tjomsland<sup>a</sup>, Knut Ragnvald Skulberg<sup>a</sup>, Miranda Thurston<sup>a</sup>

<sup>b</sup> The Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, Postboks 4014, Ullevål Stadion, 0806, Oslo, Norway

#### ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT Background: The purpose of this study was to describe associations between physical activity (PA), mental health Keywords: Physical activity and academic achievement in a Norwegian adolescent cohort. Accelerometer Methods: In total, 1001 adolescents were invited to participate, of whom 599 (54.4% female, mean age ± SD Mental health 13.3 ± 0.3y) entered the study. PA was measured objectively using accelerometers, variables on mental health Academic achievement were assessed through an online questionnaire and academic achievement was assessed using grade point Adolescents average (GPA) collected through school records. The associations between PA, mental health and academic achievement were modelled using multiple linear regression. Results: PA was positively associated with mental wellbeing ( $p \le .05$ ), self-perception of athletic competence ( $p \le .001$ ) and self-perception of social acceptance ( $p \le .001$ ). It was not associated with global self-esteem or mental health complaints. No significant association between PA and GPA was found. However, results showed a significant association between PA and grade in physical education among girls ( $p \le .001$ ). Conclusion: PA was associated with mental wellbeing and domain specific self-esteem although the causal significance of the association requires further investigation. The current study does not support associations between PA and mental health problems or PA and academic achievement. Further studies are necessary to investigate the longitudinal relationship between PA, variables of mental health and academic achievement amongst adolescents.

# 1. Background

The relationship between physical activity (PA) and various dimensions of mental health, especially among children and young people, has received increased attention in recent years (see for example, Biddle, Ciaccioni, Thomas, and Vergeer, 2018). Data from many high-income countries indicate that mental health problems among the young have increased over the last decade (Biddle et al., 2018; Reneflot et al., 2018). In Norway, for example, estimates indicate that 15–20% of 3-18-year-olds experience reduced function due to symptoms of poor mental health (Norwegian Insitute of Public Health, 2014). While the prevalence of mental disorders seems to be stable across most age groups over time, it is increasing among 14–17-year-old adolescent girls (Reneflot et al., 2018). Poor mental health is of concern in itself because it may exert a negative effect on young people's quality of life (Fox, 1999) in addition to tracking into adulthood (Rutter, Kim-Cohen, & Maughan, 2006). Furthermore, poor mental health has been associated with poor academic performance (Tempelaar et al., 2017). The putative role of PA in mental health promotion, prevention of mental health problems and academic achievement among the young has been increasingly debated both within and beyond the research field (Dale, Vanderloo, Moore, & Faulkner, 2019; Lubans et al., 2016).

A growing body of research indicates that PA may have a positive effect on some mental health outcomes in children and adolescents (Biddle et al., 2018; Dale et al., 2019). Recent research has also shown a positive relationship between PA and academic achievement (Booth et al., 2014; Kantomaa et al., 2016; Kwak et al., 2009), although the associations are usually weak and inconsistent across studies (Mountjoy et al., 2011; Poitras et al., 2016). Nevertheless, the quality of evidence in all these studies is considered to be low (Poitras et al., 2016). The limited quality of studies to date is indicative of the methodological challenges inherent in studying the relationship between PA – a

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2020.100322

Available online 06 February 2020

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Postboks 400, 2418, Elverum, Norway.

*E-mail addresses:* ingeborg.vedoy@inn.no (I. Barth Vedøy), s.a.anderssen@nih.no (S.A. Anderssen), hege.tjomsland@inn.no (H.E. Tjomsland), knut.skulberg@inn.no (K.R. Skulberg), miranda.thurston@inn.no (M. Thurston).

Received 4 October 2019; Received in revised form 24 January 2020; Accepted 4 February 2020

<sup>1755-2966/ © 2020</sup> The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license

<sup>(</sup>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/BY/4.0/).

complex multidimensional behaviour – and complex and multidimensional outcomes, such as mental health and academic achievement (Lagerberg, 2005; Marques, Santos, Hillman, & Sardinha, 2017). The limitations of a cross-sectional study design in exploring relationships have been noted as well as the heterogeneity of studies in terms of the mental health outcomes studied, the age-group targeted and the measurement of PA. In particular, one of the main outcome variables, mental health, has tended to be operationalized in terms of mental illness (such as anxiety), the presence of symptoms (such as those related to depression) and, to a lesser extent, self-esteem (Mountjoy et al., 2011). Although recent studies are starting to address these issues (see for example Van Dijk, Savelberg, Verboon, Kirschner, and De Groot, 2016 and Opdal et al., 2019), the conceptualization and measurement of mental health and consideration of the role of PA in mental health promotion require further elaboration.

There is some consensus within and beyond the research field that the construct 'mental health' has traditionally been defined as the absence of mental illness (Westerhof & Keyes, 2010), Westerhof and Keyes (2010) argue, however, that mental health can also be conceptualized as having positive dimensions, often defined as mental wellbeing, which is underpinned by social, psychological and emotional wellbeing constructs. These varying conceptualizations of mental health are important because they allow a more nuanced investigation of the relationship between PA and mental health. PA, for example, may be associated with some but not all of these mental health constructs. In part, this reflects the underpinning theoretical model of how PA might be causally related to mental health. It has been hypothesized that PA might have a positive effect on multiple aspects of brain function and cognition (Hillman, Erickson, & Kramer, 2008), and thereby influence academic achievement in a positive way. In a conceptual model from Lubans et al. (2016) it is hypothesized that the mechanisms explaining the association between PA, cognition and mental health in young people might be neurobiological, psychosocial and/or behavioural, and might be moderated by the frequency, intensity, time, type and context of PA.

A further overarching problem with research investigating the relationship between PA, various dimensions of mental health and academic achievement is that the majority of studies have relied on subjective self-report of PA (Biddle et al., 2018; Kantomaa et al., 2016). Such measures are prone to errors in precision (Guinhouya, Samouda, & de Beaufort, 2013), mainly because of overestimation of time spent in PA, social desirability and recall bias (Sallis & Saelens, 2000). As a consequence, the IOC consensus statement on the health and fitness of young people recommends the use of objective measures of PA whenever possible to enhance quality of data (Mountjoy et al., 2011).

The purpose of this study was, therefore, to investigate the relationship between objectively measured PA level, various dimensions of mental health and academic achievement among adolescents in Norway. The specific research questions are twofold:

- 1. Is PA associated with mental health among adolescents?
- 2. Is PA associated with academic achievement among adolescents?

### 2. Methods

A longitudinal cohort study of 13-16-year-olds was carried out, with data collection on an annual basis within the first semester of each academic year. This paper reports on the results from the first wave of the study.

#### 2.1. Participants

In the spring of 2016, 12 schools located in three different counties in the Western and Eastern part of Norway were invited to participate in the study through an email and follow-up telephone call. These schools were selected because they represented differences in terms of location (urban/suburban/rural), school size, type of school and composition of pupils (ethnicity, socioeconomic status). Following the initial contact, a meeting was held at each school to inform them about the purpose and design of the study. Eleven schools decided to participate in the study.

The eligible participants were the 1001 adolescents starting in 8th grade at these schools in the autumn of 2016. Of these, five hundred and ninety nine grade eight adolescents (54.4% female, mean age  $\pm$  SD 13.3  $\pm$  0.3y) participated, generating a participation rate of 59.8%. Written informed consent from adolescents and their parent or legal guardian was obtained prior to participation in the study.

#### 2.2. Measurements

Data collection was conducted in three steps. In the first visit, anthropometrics were measured and accelerometers were distributed. Eight days later, the accelerometers were collected and the adolescents answered an online questionnaire. At the end of the first semester (January 2017), midterm grades were obtained.

#### 2.3. Anthropometrics

Weight and height were measured to the nearest 0.1 kg (Seca 877, SECA GmbH, Hamburg, Germany) and 0.5 cm (wall-mounted measuring tape), respectively. Participants were asked to remove shoes and sweaters. In line with standard practice, bodyweight measures were adjusted by subtracting 0.3 kg to account for clothing (Dalene et al., 2018). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated using weight and height (kgm<sup>-2</sup>).

# 2.4. Physical activity

Physical activity was measured by accelerometry (ActiGraph GT3X + and GT3X-bt, LLC, Pensacola, Florida, USA). The participants were required to wear the accelerometer on their right hip in all waking hours for seven consecutive days, and only remove it during water activities and while sleeping. Because participants with only 2 and 3 days of valid measurements did not differ significantly from the participants with at least 4 days, data were included if the participants had  $\geq$  2 days of measurements with a minimum wear time of  $\geq$  480 min a day (Rich et al., 2013). Intervals of  $\geq 20$  consecutive minutes with no acceleration recorded was defined as non-wear time. Accelerometers were initialized to start recording at 06:00 on the day after the participants received them. ActiLife (ActiGraph GT3X+, LLC, Pensacola, Florida, USA) was used for initialization of the monitors, downloading of the accelerometer files and further processing of the data. Data recorded from 00:00 to 06:00 were excluded from the analysis. Because children and adolescents' PA-level can be intermittent, an epoch of 10 s was used (Bailey et al., 1995).

As a measure of total PA, average counts min<sup>-1</sup> (CPM) for the entire assessment period were used. In addition, minutes in sedentary behaviour (SB), light PA (LPA) and moderate to vigorous PA (MVPA) have been used for descriptive purposes. There is still no consensus in the literature regarding use of intensity-based cut-points for children and adolescents (Trost, Loprinzi, Moore, & Pfeiffer, 2011). In the current study SB, LPA and MVPA were set to < 100 CPM, 100–1999 CPM and  $\geq 2000$  CPM respectively. Similar cut-points have been used elsewhere (Dalene et al., 2018).

When returning the accelerometer, participants were asked to register the amount of time spent doing activities which are poorly measured with the accelerometer (cycling), or require removal of the device (swimming).

## 2.5. Mental health

The online questionnaire incorporated three validated instruments which were used to measure different dimensions of mental health: the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing scale (WEMWBS) (Tennant et al., 2007), Harter's Self-Perception Profile for Adolescents (SPPA) (Harter, 1988, 2012) and the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) (Goodman & Goodman, 2009).

Mental wellbeing was measured through WEMWBS, which comprises 14 positively worded statements which require a response on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = 'none of the time' to 5 = 'all of the time'). Responses were summed to create an overall score ranging from 14 to 70, with higher scores indicating higher levels of mental wellbeing (Tennant et al., 2007). The scale has been validated for use in adolescents from 13 years and over (Clarke et al., 2011). The current study used the established Norwegian translation with minor linguistic amendments. The scale was piloted before use.

Domain-specific self-esteem was measured through the revised version (Wichstrøm, 1995) of SPPA (Harter, 1988, 2012). The revised instrument consists of 35 statements divided into seven domain-specific subscales (scholastic competence, social acceptance, athletic competence, physical appearance, romantic appeal, close friends and global self-worth), each comprising five statements, of which approximately half are reversed to avoid acquiescence. Response categories are fourfold from 'describes me very poorly' to 'describes me very well'. The revised version shows better reliability, convergent and factorial validity than the original version (Wichstrøm, 1995). Based on a review of the literature, we selected the subscales that were judged to be the most relevant to PA. The current paper used the following subscales: social acceptance, athletic competence and global self-worth.

To be able to account for mental health problems, the SDQ was used. The instrument consists of 25 questions divided into five subscales (emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity, peer problems, prosocial behavior), each consisting of five items. Each item can be answered 'not true', 'somewhat true' or 'certainly true'. A 'total difficulty score' ranging from 0 to 40 was created by summing all subscales except prosocial behavior (Goodman & Goodman, 2009). This score is a psychometrically sound measure of overall mental health problems among children and adolescents (Goodman, Lamping, & Ploubidis, 2010). The continuous score was used as the outcome variable in all analyses.

#### 2.6. Academic achievement

Academic achievement was assessed using two indicators: the grade point average (GPA) from the midterm grades for all subjects and the grade in physical education (PE). The grade range in Norway is 1–6, where 6 represents the highest achievement possible.

### 2.7. Socioeconomic status

The Family Affluence Scale (FAS) measures material affluence, and was used as a proxy for socioeconomic status (SES) (Hartley, Levin, & Currie, 2016). Based on this scale, a score of *relative family affluence* was constructed by summing scores on all answers and categorising them into three broader groups (the lowest 20%, the middle 60% and the highest 20%).

### 2.8. Data analysis

Statistical analyses were preformed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0 and Stata Statistical Software, version 16.0 (Copyright 1985–2019 StataCorp LLC), Texas 77845 USA. Descriptive data are presented as frequencies, mean and SD where appropriate.

Multiple linear regression was used to analyse the associations between PA (exposure variable), and measures of mental health and academic achievement (outcome variables). The crude models showed the association between total PA (CPM) and the outcome variables. In the adjusted models, interaction of sex, SES, season of data collection (1: Sept-Oct, 2: Nov-Jan) and BMI were accounted for. Categorical variables that did not exhibit a linear trend were transformed into dummy variables before entering the model. To account for possible clustering in the outcomes, 'school' was included as a cluster variable to obtain robust standard errors. Imputations have been performed in the psychometric scales enabling such procedures, and have followed statistical guidelines. The results from the instruments measuring mental health outcomes (SDQ, WEMWBS and SPPA-R) were all converted to different continuous scores according to standard procedures. This enabled further processing as a continuous variable that could enter a linear regression model. This is in line with standard practise (Hallal et al., 2015: Haugen, Säfvenbom, & Ommundsen, 2011).

Adjustments for multiple comparisons were not made. This decision was based on the argument that reducing the type I error for null associations would increase the type II error for the associations that are not null (Rothman, 1990). However, the increased likelihood of false positive findings has been taken into account when interpreting the results.

In this study WEMWBS was assessed in a six-point Likert scale from *not at all* (0) to *all the time* (5). To be able to compare results with international data, the following equation was applied: WEMWBS 5-point score = 1 + 4/5\*WEMWBS 6-point score.

## 3. Results

There were no sex differences in BMI. Total PA (CPM) was significantly higher for boys than for girls ( $p \le .001$ ). Furthermore, boys had a significantly higher level of mental wellbeing than girls (p = .01), but there were no sex differences with regard to mental health problems. Girls had a significantly higher GPA than boys ( $p \le .001$ ) (Table 1).

Total PA (CPM) was positively associated with both mental wellbeing ( $p \le .01$ ), self-perception of athletic competence ( $p \le .001$ ) and self-perception of social acceptance ( $p \le .001$ ). It was not associated with global self-esteem or mental health complaints (Table 2).

Multiple linear regression analysis showed that total PA (CPM) predicted some mental health outcomes when controlling for sex, BMI, SES and season of data collection. An increase in total PA of 100 CPM, predicted an equivalent increase in scores of mental wellbeing, self-perceived athletic competence and self-perceived social acceptance with  $\beta$  0.71, 0.10 and 0.03 respectively.

Multiple linear regression analysis revealed that total PA (CPM) was not associated with academic achievement measured in overall GPA. Associations were found when analyzing total PA and grade in PE. This association was however, only significant for girls. Observed mean increase of 100 CPM shows equivalent increase of  $\beta$  0.20 ( $p \leq .001$ ) higher grade in PE for girls.

The measures of PE grade stratified by quartiles of PA are presented for girls and boys respectively in Table 3. There was a significant increase in girls' PE grades in all quartiles compared to the lowest quartile (lowest 25%). Among boys the differences between the lowest quartile was only significant compared to the third and fourth quartile.

### 4. Discussion

The main aim of this study was to examine the associations between PA and measures of mental health and academic achievement. Our cross-sectional analyses suggest that PA levels are associated with mental wellbeing and specific sub-domains of self-esteem. They also

#### Mental Health and Physical Activity 18 (2020) 100322

#### Table 1

Descriptive characteristics of the study sample by sex (mean  $\pm$  SD unless otherwise specified).

		_	
	All (N = 599)	Girls (n = 326; 54.4%)	Boys (n = 273; 45.6%)
Age (years)	13.33 (0.3)	13.32 (0.3)	13.35 (0.3)
Anthropometrics			
Height (cm)	162.7 (7.8)	161.7 (6.9)	163.9 (8.6)
Weight (kg)	52.9 (10.8)	52.8 (9.9)	53 (11.8)
BMI (kg·m <sup>-2</sup> )	19.8 (3.2)	20.1 (3.1)	19.6 (3.3)
SES (n)			
Lowest N (%)	136 (23.7)	76 (24.5)	60 (22.7)
Middle N (%)	346 (60.3)	188 (60.6%)	158 (59.9)
Highest N (%)	92 (16.0)	46 (14.8)	46 (17.4)
Physical Activity			
SB (min)	558.0 (65.1)	565.7 (55.3)	548.4 (74.6)
LPA (min)	166.2 (33.5)	161.4 (32.3)	172.3 (34.2)
MVPA (min)	58.4 (21.2)	54.1 (18.5)	63.9 (22.9)
CPM	434.4 (152.6)	402.4 (118.4)	474.5 (179.1)
Meeting national PA recommendations N (%)	251 (43.9)	116 (36.5)	135 (53.1)
Total included valid days	5.8 (1.4)	5.9 (1.3)	5.7 (1.4)
Mental health			
Mental wellbeing (WEMWBS)	56.0 (9.0)	55.1 (8.9)	57.1 (9.1)
Mental health problems (SDQ)	9.8 (5.2)	10.0 (5.1)	9.7 (5.4)
Self-perception of social acceptance (SPPA-R)	2.9 (0.4)	2.9 (0.4)	3.0 (0.3)
Self-perception of athletic competence (SPPA-R)	2.7 (0.6)	2.5 (0.6)	2.8 (0.6)
Self-perception of global self-worth (SPPA-R)	3.3 (0.6)	3.1 (0.7)	3.5 (0.5)
Academic achievement			
GPA	4.0 (0.7)	4.1 (0.7)	3.8 (0.6)
PE	4.4 (0.7)	4.4 (0.7)	4.5 (0.7)

Note. BMI = body mass index, SES = socioeconomic status, SB = average daily sedentary behaviour, LPA = average daily light physical activity, MVPA = average daily moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, CPM = average daily counts per minute, WEMWBS = Warwick-Edinburgh mental wellbeing scale, SDQ = Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, SPPA-R = Self-perception profile for adolescents, GPA = grade point average, PE = Physical Education.

suggest that PA levels are associated with grade in PE. In contrast, PA was not associated with mental health problems, GPA or global selfesteem. To our knowledge, this is the first study that looks at associations between objectively measured PA and mental wellbeing measured by WEMWBS in an adolescent population.

#### 4.1. Associations between physical activity and mental wellbeing

Although small, the results add support to the hypothesis that higher levels of PA are associated with higher levels of mental wellbeing. This finding is consistent with the conclusion of an earlier review (Whitelaw, Teuton, Swift, & Scobie, 2010) that PA and mental wellbeing are associated in adolescents. More specifically, this is also in keeping with findings using the same wellbeing scale in an adult population (Cooper & Barton, 2016). Whitelaw et al. (2010) discuss the different effects from PA that might explain this association. Physiological changes that occur with PA, psychological effects emerging from 'mastery' of PA, as well as serving as a 'distraction' from other stressors, and the social aspect of interacting with others in PA are put forward as possible explanatory mechanisms. These might serve as underlying factors to the association found between total PA (CPM) and mental wellbeing.

#### 4.2. Associations between physical activity and self-esteem

In their review of reviews, Biddle et al. (2018) underscore the complexity of the field, especially in relation to ambiguity in definitions of self-esteem, and broad definitions of PA. Nonetheless, six of the 10 studies reported positive associations between PA and self-esteem. The remaining four were inconclusive, showing mixed or null findings. The same pattern was reported by Dale et al. (2019) in their umbrella systematic review, where seven of 14 included studies showed positive findings. In the review of Poirras et al. (2016), no consistent evidence for a relationship between objectively assessed PA and self-esteem was

#### Table 2

Associations between physical activity and measures of mental health and academic achievement analysed with a multiple linear regression model (n = 474–570).

	Crude <sup>a</sup>	Crude <sup>a</sup>				Adjusted <sup>b</sup>			
	n	β	95% CI	р	n	β	95% CI	р	
Mental wellbeing	504	0.78	0.36, 1.21	≤.001	474	0.71	0.14, 1.28	.014	
Self-perception of athletic competence	544	0.12	0.09, 0.15	≤.001	511	0.10	0.06, 0.14	≤.001	
Self-perception of social acceptance	538	0.04	0.02, 0.06	≤.001	505	0.03	0.01, 0.05	≤.001	
Self-perception of global Self-worth	542	0.01	-0.02, 0.06	.414	509	-0.006	-0.05, 0.04	.793	
Mental health problems	550	-0.01	-0.20, 0, 25	.908	517	0.06	-0.23, 0,36	.677	
Academic achievement	570	-0.01	-0.05, 0.03	.565	518	0.003	-0.05, 0.05	.989	

Note. Mental wellbeing is measured by WEMWBS score, Self-perception domains are measured by SPPA-R score, Mental health problems are measured by SDQ score. Academic achievement is measured by GPA in all subjects,  $\beta$  = standardized regression coefficient.

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for cluster sampling.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for cluster sampling, sex, BMI, SES and season of data collection. All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in dependent variables occurring after changes of 100 CPM.

#### Table 3

The grade in PE within quartiles of PA (n boys = 252, n girls = 282)<sup>a</sup>.

	Quartile 1	Quartile 2			Quartile 3			Quartile 4	Quartile 4		
		β	95% CI	р	β	95% CI	р	β	95% CI	Р	
Boys Girls	ref. ref.	0.14 0.24	-0.12, 0.40 0.03, 0.45	.291 .027	0.34 0.43	0.09, 0.59 0.22, 0.65	.008 ≤.001	0.32 0.71	0.08, 0.56 0.46, 0.95	.008 ≤.001	

*Note.* Ref. = Reference value (equals PE grade 4.88 for boys and 4.64 for girls).  $^{a}$  Adjusted for BMI, SES and season of data collection.

found. However, the review only included one study exploring associations between MVPA and self-esteem, among adolescent girls. The same conclusion was drawn in a recent study using objective measures to assess PA (Van Dijk et al., 2016). The authors discuss whether this might be explained by the use of global self-esteem as an overall measure of self-esteem, which might be too distant from specific behaviours such as PA. This view is consistent with Biddle et al. (2018): they argue that some studies only focus on global self-esteem, excluding more relevant sub-domains. No evidence of an association between PA and global self-esteem was found in the current study, but support for associations with domain specific self-esteem were identified. The foundation for the Self-perception Profile is that one evaluates oneself based on perceived competence in a domain and one's aspiration within that domain (Harter, 1988, 2012; Wichstrøm, 1995). Thus, athletic competence taps into perceptions of one's ability to do well in sports (Harter, 1988, 2012). Results from the current study showed an increase in self-perception of athletic competence with higher total PAlevels. At a theoretical level, being more physically active might generate a greater belief in one's ability in different sporting activities. Social acceptance refers to having the skills to get others to like oneself and understanding what it takes to become popular (Harter, 1988, 2012). In Norwegian culture where being physically active is considered to be a valuable trait (Green, Thurston, Vaage, & Roberts, 2015), this might offer one explanation for why physical activity is positively associated with self-perception of social acceptance in the current study.

#### 4.3. Associations between physical activity and mental health problems

Even though the majority of existing studies have reported an association between (self-reported) PA and lower levels of mental health problems (for example, depressive symptoms) among adolescents (Biddle et al., 2018), existing research has not yet shown either a clear direction, or strength, of the potential association. While results from studies specifically sampling those with depression clearly show favourable associations with PA, the same conclusion cannot be drawn in healthy samples (Biddle et al., 2018). The lack of association found in this and other (Van Dijk et al., 2016) studies using objective measures of PA, provides no support for the hypothesis that PA can prevent mental health problems (that is to say, that higher levels of PA protect against mental health problems). However, as Van Dijk et al. (2016) argue, the pathways between PA and mental health problems may take longer to develop, and therefore not occur until later in adolescence. This theory could explain the lack of association found in the current study. Another explanation proposed is that such a relationship might not exist in particular subgroups, and that changes in mental health problems might be explained by variables other than PA (Van Dijk et al., 2016). Results from the current study may also support such an explanation. Wiles, Haase, Lawlor, Ness, and Lewis (2012) found an inverse association between objectively measured PA and depressive symptoms, but no association between MVPA and depressive symptoms in a cohort of 14-year-old English adolescents. They argue that it might be the amount of PA, rather than the intensity, which is associated with depressive symptoms. The current study found no evidence of such an association through analysis of total PA and mental health problems.

#### 4.4. Associations between physical activity and academic achievement

Our results corroborate previous studies using objective measures of PA suggesting no association between PA and academic achievement (Oliveira et al., 2017; van Dijk, de Groot, Savelberg, van Acker, & Kirschner, 2014). van Dijk et al. (2014) discuss whether PA and academic achievement might be positively associated up to a particular threshold where additional time spent being physically active could come at the expense of academic pursuits, such as time devoted to homework. However, in the current study, analysis of PA quartiles (data not shown) showed no such pattern, and thus is not likely to be the explanation for the results.

Our findings differ from those of Esteban-Cornejo, Tejero-Gonzalez, Sallis, and Veiga (2015) whose systematic review supported a positive relationship between PA and academic achievement. However a study by Esteban-Cornejo et al. (2014) found a weak negative association between objectively measured PA and academic achievement. The inconsistency in findings among these and other studies, including our own, might be explained by several factors. First, there is no consensus as to the method of assessing academic achievement, which makes it arbitrarily assessed in different studies (Esteban-Cornejo et al., 2015). According to Marques et al. (2017) school grades might not only relate to academic skills, but could also reflect other factors, such as teacher perception. In studies where grades have been self-reported, inaccuracy might have influenced the level of precision (Marques et al., 2017). Comparison of results using different measures of academic achievement might therefore offer one explanation for the different results seen in these studies.

Another explanation is that PA could be associated with single subjects without being associated with overall GPA. For example, van Dijk et al. (2014) found that PA was significantly associated with mathematics in Grade 9 students. Sub-analysis of the current data revealed that there was a significant association between total PA and PE. This association was stronger for girls than for boys. Esteban-Cornejo et al. (2015) suggest that associations between time spent in PA and academic achievement tend to be found more frequently among adolescent girls than in boys. They discuss whether these findings could be explained by a dose-response relationship where boys are more active than girls, and therefore need higher levels of PA to produce the same effect. Even though our results show that boys had a higher PA level than girls, it might not have been sufficiently higher to produce the same effect size as for girls.

### 4.5. Strengths and limitations

The main strength of this study is the use of an objective measure of PA. This minimizes the risk of bias from self-report. Nevertheless, the accelerometer has some limitations. First, because the adolescents were instructed to remove the monitor during water activities these were not recorded. Consequently, the activity level of pupils who are active swimmers was underestimated. In addition, the accelerometers have known limitations in the measurements of upper body activities, load-carrying activities and biking (Shephard & Aoyagi, 2012). The amount of time spent cycling or swimming were recorded in the questionnaire and the majority of participants reported zero hours of both activities.

Thus, this limitation seems unlikely to have led to an underestimation of the true activity level, at least to a large degree. Average CPM has been used as the primary measure of PA thereby avoiding problems related to the lack of consensus in the generation of cut-points for different intensity levels. An additional strength is that the study includes a relatively large sample size and several important covariates have been addressed. Nonetheless, all models are simplifications of complex mechanisms, and it cannot be ruled out that there are additional covariates that were not controlled for in the current study.

A limitation of the study is its cross-sectional methodology, which constrains the possibility of addressing cause and effect between PA and the dependent variables. In this regard, the explanations discussed remain speculative and theoretical and require further exploration using different study designs. In addition, because the schools were strategically selected, generalizability was not feasible. The participation rate was close to 60%. It was not possible to perform an analysis of those not giving their consent to participate. It is, therefore, possible that the moderate participation rate, together with the strategic selection of schools, introduced some selection bias into our findings.

### 5. Conclusion

Although the effect sizes were small, this study provides some support for the hypothesis that physical activity is associated with both mental wellbeing and domain-specific measures of self-esteem. The study shows some advantages to using different outcome measures for mental health and for conceptualizing mental health as a multi-dimensional construct. Our findings contribute to an expanding evidencebase that links physical activity and mental health.

No association with academic achievement was found, supporting the notion that the evidence is still insufficient for reaching robust conclusions. Previous research has shown a relationship between mental health and academic achievement (Gustafsson et al., 2010), which might confound the relationship between PA and academic achievement. This needs further exploration in future studies.

Questions remain in terms of the most beneficial kinds of PA (including frequency and intensity but also form and context) for mental health and academic achievement, which might differ from the current recommendations for physical health.

#### Funding

This work was supported by the Research Council of Norway (238212/F60).

#### Availability of data

Please contact author for data requests.

### Ethical approval and consent to participate

The study was approved by the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (project no. 48192). Written informed consent from adolescents and their parent or legal guardian was obtained prior to participation in the study.

#### Declaration of competing interest

None.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank all the schools involved in the study, especially the pupils who participated, as well as all those who helped with data collection. The authors would also like to thank the Research Council of Norway for funding this project.

## References

- Bailey, R. C., Olson, J., Pepper, S. L., Porszasz, J., Barstow, T. J., & Cooper, D. M. (1995). The level and tempo of children's physical activities: An observational study. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 27(7), 1033–1041.
   Biddle, S. J. H., Ciaccioni, S., Thomas, G., & Vergeer, I. (2018). Physical activity and
- Biddle, S. J. H., Ciaccioni, S., Thomas, G., & Vergeer, I. (2018). Physical activity and mental health in children and adolescents: An updated review of reviews and an analysis of causality. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. psychsport.2018.08.011.
- Booth, J. N., Leary, S. D., Joinson, C., Ness, A. R., Tomporowski, P. D., Boyle, J. M., et al. (2014). Associations between objectively measured physical activity and academic attainment in adolescents from a UK cohort. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48(3), 265. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-092334.
- attainment in adolescents from a UK cohort. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 48(3), 265. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-092334.
   Clarke, A., Friede, T., Putz, R., Ashdown, J., Martin, S., Blake, A., ... Stewart-Brown, S. (2011). Warwick-edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): Validated for teenage school students in England and Scotland. A mixed methods assessment. BMC Public Health, 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-487 487-487.
- Cooper, K., & Barton, G. C. (2016). An exploration of physical activity and wellbeing in university employees. *Perspectives in Public Health*, 136(3), 152–160. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1757913915593103.
- Dalene, K. E., Anderssen, S. A., Andersen, L. B., Steene-Johannessen, J., Ekelund, U., Hansen, B. H., et al. (2018). Secular and longitudinal physical activity changes in population-based samples of children and adolescents. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, 28(1), 161–171. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12876.
- Dale, L. P., Vanderloo, L., More, S., & Faulkner, G. (2019). Physical activity and depression, anxiety, and self-esteem in children and youth: An umbrella systematic review. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 16, 66–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2018.12.001.
- A. (2014). The association between objectively measured physical activity and academic achievement in Dutch adolescents: Findings from the GOALS study. Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology, 36(5), 460–473. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.2014-0014.
- Bistban-Cornejo, I., Tejero-González, C. M., Martinez-Gomez, D., Cabanas-Sánchez, V., Fernández-Santos, J. R., Conde-Caveda, J., ... Veiga, O. L. (2014). Objectively measured physical activity has a negative but weak association with academic performance in children and adolescents. *Acta Paediatrica*, 103(11), e501–e506. https:// doi.org/10.1111/apa.12757.
- Esteban-Cornejo, I., Tejero-Gonzalez, C. M., Sallis, J. F., & Veiga, O. L. (2015). Physical activity and cognition in adolescents: A systematic review. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 18(5), 534–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2014.07.007.
- Fox, K. R. (1999). The influence of physical activity on mental well-being. Public Health Nutrition, 2(3a), 411–418. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980099000567.Goodman, A., & Goodman, R. (2009). Strengths and difficulties questionnaire as a dimensional measure of child mental health. Journal of the American Academy of Child &
- Adolescent Psychiatry, 48(4), 400–403. https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI. 0b013e3181985068.
  Goodman, A., Lamping, D. L., & Ploubidis, G. B. (2010). When to use broader internalising and externalising subscales instead of the hypothesised five subscales on the strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ): Data from British parents, teachers and children. Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 38(8), 1179–1191. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10802-010-9434x.
- Green, K., Thurston, M., Vaage, O., & Roberts, K. (2015). 'We're on the right track, baby, we were born this way'! Exploring sports participation in Norway. Sport, Education and Society, 20(3), 285–303. https://doi.org/10.1080/1357322.2013.769947. Guinhouya, B. C., Samouda, H., & de Beaufort, C. (2013). Level of physical activity among
- Guinhouya, B. C., Samouda, H., & de Beaufort, C. (2013). Level of physical activity among children and adolescents in europe: A review of physical activity assessed objectively by accelerometry. *Public Health*, 127(4), 301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2013. 01.020.
- Gustafsson, J.-E., Allodi Westling, M., Alin Åkerman, B., et al. (2010). School, learning and mental health: A systematic review. Stockholm: The Royal Academy of Sciences 978-001.710.138-5
- Hallal, P. C., Martínez-Mesa, J., Coll, C. V., Mielke, G. I., Mendes, M. A., Peixoto, M. B., ... Menezes, A. M. (2015). Physical activity at 11 Years of age and incidence of mental health problems in adolescence: Prospective study. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 12(4), 535. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2013-0029.
- Harter, S. (1988, 2012). Selv-perception profile for adolescents: Manual and questionnaires. Retrieved from https://portfolio.du.edu/SusanHarter/page/44210.
  Hartley, J. E. K., Levin, K., & Currie, C. (2016). A new version of the HBSC family af-
- Hartley, J. E. K., Levin, K., & Currie, C. (2016). A new version of the HBSC family affluence scale - FAS III: Scottish qualitative findings from the international FAS development study. *Child Indicators Research*, 9(1), 233–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12187-015-9325-3.
- Haugen, T., Säfvenbom, R., & Ommundsen, Y. (2011). Physical activity and global selfworth: The role of physical self-esteem indices and gender. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 4(2), 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2011.07.001.
- Hillman, C. H., Erickson, K. I., & Kramer, A. F. (2008). Be smart, exercise your heart: Exercise effects on brain and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9(1), 58-65. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2298.
- Kantomaa, M. T., Štamatakis, E., Kankaanpää, A., Kajantie, E., Taanila, A., & Tammelin, T. (2016). Associations of physical activity and sedentary behavior with adolescent academic achievement. Journal of Research on Adolescence, 26(3), 432–442. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jora.12203.
- Kwak, L., Kremers, S. P., Bergman, P., Ruiz, J. R., Rizzo, N. S., Sjostrom, M., ... Syndrome, R. N. R. M. (2009). Associations between physical activity, fitness, and academic achievement. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 155(6), 914–918. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

jpeds.2009.06.019 e911.

- Lagerberg, D. (2005). Physical activity and mental health in schoolchildren: A compli-cated relationship. Acta Paediatrica, International Journal of Paediatrics, 94(12), 1699-1701. https://doi.org/10.1080/08035250500369627
- Lubans, D., Richards, J., Hillman, C., Faulkner, G., Beauchamp, M., Nilsson, M., ... Biddle, S. (2016). Physical activity for cognitive and mental health in youth: A systematic review of mechanisms. Pediatrics, 138(3), https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1642,
- Marques, A., Santos, D. A., Hillman, C. H., & Sardinha, L. B. (2017). How does academic achievement relate to cardiorespiratory fitness, self-reported physical activity and objectively reported physical activity: A systematic review in children and adolescents aged 6-18 years. British Journal of Sports Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bjsports-2016-097361.
- Mountjoy, M., Andersen, L. B., Armstrong, N., Biddle, S., Boreham, C., Bedenbeck, H.-P. B., & van Mechelen, W. (2011). International Olympic Committee consensus state-ment on the health and fitness of young people through physical activity and sport. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 45(11), 839. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjspor 2011-090228
- 2011-090228.
  Norwegian Insitute of Public Health (2014). Folkehelserapporten 2014 : Helsetilstam norge [public health report 2014: The state of health in Norway], 2014:4. Oslo: Norwegian Insitute of Public Health.
  Oliveira, T., Pizarro, A., Costa, M., Fernandes, L., Silva, G., Mota, J., et al. (2017).
- Cardiorespiratory fitness, but not physical activity, is associated with academic achievement in children and adolescents. *Annals of Human Biology*, 44(4), 309–315. Opdal, I. M., Morseth, B., Handegård, B. H., Lillevoll, K., Ask, H., Nielsen, C. S., ...
- Rognmo, K. (2019). Change in physical activity is not associated with change in nogimo, K. (2017). Change in physical activity is not associated with change in mental distress among adolescents: The Tromse study: Fit Futures. BMC Public Health, 19(1), https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7271-6.
  Poitras, V. J., Gray, C. E., Borghese, M. M., Carson, V., Chaput, J.-P., Janssen, I., ...
- Tremblay, N. S. (2016). Systematic review of the relationships between objectively measured physical activity and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. *Applied Physiology Nutrition and Metabolism*, 41(6), S197–S239. https://doi.org/10.
- Apputer rugsway, including and a second s
- Rich, C., Geraci, M., Griffiths, L., Sera, F., Dezateux, C., & Cortina-Borja, M. (2013). Quality control methods in accelerometer data processing: Defining minimum wear time. *PloS One*, 8(6), e67206. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0067206.
  Rothman, K. J. (1990). No adjustments are needed for multiple comparisons.

Epidemiology, 1(1), 43-46.

Rutter, M., Kim-Cohen, J., & Maughan, B. (2006). Continuities and discontinuities in psychopathology between childhood and adult life. *Journal of Child Psychology and* Psychiatry, 47(3-4), 276-295. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01614.x 276-274

s, J. F., & Saelens, B. E. (2000). Assessment of physical activity by self-report: Status,

- limitations, and future directions. Research Quarterly for Exercise & Sport, 71(2), 1.
  Shephard, R. J., & Aoyagi, Y. (2012). Measurement of human energy expenditure, with particular reference to field studies: An historical perspective. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, 112(8), 2785–2815. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-68-6
- Tempelaar, W. M., de Vos, N., Plevier, C. M., van Gastel, W. A., Termorshuizen, F., MacCabe, J. H., et al. (2017). Educational level, underachievement, and general mental health problems in 10,866 adolescents. Academic Pediatrics, 17(6), 642–2859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2017.04.016.
- Tennant, R., Hiller, L., Fishwick, R., Platt, S., Joseph, S., Weich, S., ... Stewart-Brown, S. (2007). The Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 5, 63. https://doi.org/10.
- Trost, S. G., Loprinzi, P. D., Moore, R., & Pfeiffer, K. A. (2011). Comparison of accelerometer cut points for predicting activity intensity in youth. *Medicine & Science in Comparison of Compari* Sports & Exercise, 43(7), 1360. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182064766
- Van Dijk, M. L., Savelberg, H. H. C. M., Verboon, P., Kirschner, P. A., & De Groot, R. H. M. (2016). Decline in physical activity during adolescence is not associated with changes in mental health. BMC Public Health, 16, 300, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-2983-3
- Westerhof, G., & Keyes, C. (2010). Mental illness and mental health: The two continua model across the lifespan. Journal of Adult Development, 17(2), 110–119. https://do s://doi org/10.1007/s10804-009-9082-v
- Whitelaw, S., Teuton, J., Swift, J., & Scobie, G. (2010). The physical activity - mental wellbeing association in young people: A case study in dealing with a complex public health topic using a 'realistic evaluation' framework. Mental Health and Physical Activity, 3(2), 61–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2010.06.001. Wichstrøm, L. (1995). Harter's self-perception profile for adolescents: Reliability, validity, and evaluation of the question format. Journal of Personality Assessment, 65(1), 100.
- Wiles, N. J., Haase, A. M., Lawlor, D. A., Ness, A., & Lewis, G. (2012). Physical activity
- and depression in adolescents: Cross-sectional findings from the ALSPAC cohort. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 47(7), 1023–1033. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00127-011-0422-4.

Paper II
# Preventive Medicine Reports 21 (2021) 101312



# Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Preventive Medicine Reports

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pmedr



# Physical activity and academic achievement among Norwegian adolescents: Findings from a longitudinal study

Ingeborg Barth Vedøy<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Knut Ragnvald Skulberg<sup>a</sup>, Sigmund Alfred Anderssen<sup>b</sup>, Hege Eikeland Tjomsland<sup>a</sup>, Miranda Thurston<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Postboks 400, 2418 Elverum, Norway
<sup>b</sup> The Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, Postboks 4014 Ullevål stadion, 0806 Oslo, Norway

ARTICLEINFO

Keywords: Adolescence Accelerometry Academic performance Sleep Body composition

# ABSTRACT

Regular physical activity (PA) has been associated with academic achievement, but the evidence is mainly based on cross-sectional research and self-reported measures of PA. The purpose of the current study was to explore the longitudinal relationship between objectively measured PA and academic achievement among a cohort of adolescents in Norway between 2016 and 2018. As a secondary aim, an indirect relationship via waist circumference (WC) and sleep duration was assessed. Data from 599 adolescents (54.4% female, mean age at baseline  $\pm$  SD 13.3  $\pm$  0.3 years) were collected annually during their three years at lower secondary school. PA was measured objectively using accelerometry. Academic achievement was assessed using grade point average (GPA) from school records. Linear regression analysis was performed to explore associations between longitudinal changes in measures of PA (Total PA and moderate-to-vigorous PA [MVPA]) and academic achievement directly or via mediators. Results showed no significant associations between Total PA or MVPA and academic achievement, either in the main analyses or through mediation of WC and sleep duration. The results contribute to a growing evidence base of studies showing no association between objectively measured PA and academic achievement among adolescents.

# 1. Introduction

Succeeding academically during compulsory education is associated with broad and enduring advantages for later educational success, income, and better physical and mental health (Marmot, 2010). This welldocumented association highlights the importance of identifying factors that might contribute to academic achievement. There has long been an assumption that regular physical activity (PA) could positively contribute to academic achievement via enhancement of cognition (Lubans et al., 2016).

The volume of studies exploring the association between PA and academic achievement has increased substantially in recent years, alongside an increase in systematic reviews (Donnelly et al., 2016; Marques et al., 2017; Poitras et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2018). However, results are inconsistent, and most reviews conclude that there is a need for further research that addresses the methodological weaknesses of studies. The majority of studies have used a cross-sectional design, which is subject to cohort effects and cannot provide information about changes in predictor or outcome experienced by a single individual (Dumith et al., 2011). A longitudinal design can overcome these inherent limitations and is thus preferable when exploring associations between predictor and outcome variables that might develop over time.

The lack of comparable measurements across studies has been put forward as an additional explanation for the inconsistency in findings (Marques et al., 2017). Studies in which PA has been assessed by selfreport tend to find an association with academic achievement (Kantomaa et al., 2016; Kristjansson et al., 2010; Suchert et al., 2016), whereas those in which PA has been objectively measured frequently report null-findings (Corder et al., 2015; Oliveira et al., 2017; Syväoja et al., 2013; van Dijk et al., 2014). However, the number of studies that have used an objective measurement of PA remains small (Owen et al., 2018). In their review, Marques et al. (2017) explored the relationship between academic achievement and PA both by self-report and objective measures. They found that while self-reported PA was consistently and

*E-mail addresses:* ingeborg.vedoy@inn.no (I. Barth Vedøy), knut.skulberg@inn.no (K.R. Skulberg), s.a.anderssen@nih.no (S.A. Anderssen), hege.tjomsland@inn. no (H.E. Tjomsland), miranda.thurston@inn.no (M. Thurston).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101312

Received 21 June 2020; Received in revised form 1 December 2020; Accepted 7 December 2020

Available online 9 January 2021 2211-3355/© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Postboks 400, 2418 Elverum, Norway.

Preventive Medicine Reports 21 (2021) 101312



Fig. 1. Study population and participation.

positively associated with academic achievement, there was an inconsistent relationship between objectively measured PA and academic achievement. There was, nevertheless, nothing to suggest that there was a detrimental effect of PA. This is also supported by Syväoja et al. (2013) who assessed intensity-specific PA both by accelerometer and selfreport. They found no association between objectively measured moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) and grade point average (GPA), whereas they found a positive association between self-reported MVPA and GPA. They suggest that this inconsistency might be explained by these measurements not necessarily measuring the same construct of PA. Children and adolescents are especially at risk of over- or underestimating PA levels through self-report because of a more pronounced tendency than adults for recall and social desirability biases (Adamo et al., 2009). Marques et al. (2017) thus state that conclusions based solely on self-reported PA should be interpreted with caution. Given that objective measures can produce more robust estimates of PA (Adamo et al., 2009), their use has been advocated (Poitras et al., 2016).

PA is often quantified as total volume (total PA) or time spent in different intensities (Chomistek et al., 2017). Previous search shows that there might be differences in relationship with academic achievement depending on PA measure used (Booth et al., 2014), where positive associations have been reported more frequently for higher intensities (Kwak et al., 2009). However, research also shows evidence of a negative relationship between MVPA and academic achievement (Esteban-Cornejo et al., 2014; Estrada-Tenorio et al., 2020). There is, therefore, a need to explore this further.

Any association between PA and academic achievement might not, however, be direct, but indirect and act via mediators. Evidence regarding potential biological or psychosocial mediators is scarce, indicating a need for mediation studies (Singh et al., 2018). Obesity has been shown to be negatively related to both PA and cognitive functioning (Chang et al., 2017) and its role in the hypothesised relationship between PA and cognition has been explored in a review by Chang et al. (2017). They found two studies exploring weight status as a potential mediator of the association between PA and cognition, both conducted on an adult population. Although both studies found evidence of a mediating effect of obesity, only one study was reported to sufficiently test the mediator model. Evidence of mediation among adults was therefore limited. However, Lima et al. (2019) found an association between both MVPA and VPA and academic achievement mediated by body composition measured by waist circumference (WC) among children. To our knowledge, this has not previously been explored among adolescents.

Lubans et al., (2016) propose that changes in cognitive functions resulting from PA might be mediated by changes in associated

behaviours, such as sleep duration. Khan et al. (2015) found that longer sleep duration was associated with higher levels of PA, and in a systematic review (Chaput et al., 2016), evidence of an association between longer sleep duration and better academic achievement among children and youth was found. Sleep duration might then serve as a mediator in the relationship between PA and academic achievement and has not, to our knowledge, been explored hitherto. Syväoja et al. (2018) found a negative indirect association between self-reported MVPA and academic achievement via later bedtime, solely among girls. However, no relationship was present for objectively measured MVPA.

The purpose of this study is, therefore, to explore whether longitudinal changes in objectively measured PA [Total PA and MVPA] are associated with changes in academic achievement directly or via mediation of WC or sleep duration. We also explore whether there are differences between boys and girls.

# 2. Method

### 2.1. Design and participants

A prospective cohort study was carried out, which collected annual data from adolescents in 11 different schools during their three years in lower secondary school (normal age range 12–16 years). The schools were purposively recruited from three counties on the east and west side of Norway and were selected on the basis of school size, type of school (grades 1–10 or 8–10) location (urban, suburban and rural), socio-economic status (SES) and schools average score on National tests. Detailed description of the methodology has been published elsewhere (Barth Vedøy et al., 2020).

Data collection was conducted annually during the first semester of 8th, 9th, and 10th grade (2016–2018) for the predictor and mediator variables and at the end of first semester for the outcome variable. The study population consisted of all consenting adolescents starting in 8th grade in the autumn of 2016. Fig. 1 shows the number of adolescents invited and the proportion who participated throughout the three waves of the study.

## 2.2. Measurements

### 2.2.1. Physical activity

Physical activity was measured objectively using accelerometry (ActiGraph GT3X+ and GT3X-bt, LLC, Pensacola, Florida, USA). The monitor was placed on the right hip in an elastic belt. The participants were asked to wear it for seven consecutive days. Research staff attached the monitor during the first school visit to ensure correct placement. The

Preventive Medicine Reports 21 (2021) 101312



Note. MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity, WC = waist circumference, GPA = grade point average,  $\beta$  = standardized regression coefficient.

Adjusted for baseline sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, baseline sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

c Adjusted for baseline sex, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

Fig. 2. Parameter estimates of the regression coefficient of the longitudinal associations between changes (2016-2018) in physical activity (Total PA and MVPA), WC, sleep duration and academic achievement. (n = 379-468).

participants were instructed to wear the monitor during all waking hours except while swimming or doing other water activities. The monitor was initialised to start recording at 06:00 the day after it was delivered to the participants. After excluding data recorded between 00:00 and 06:00 and all intervals of  ${\geq}20$  consecutive minutes of no recording (non-wear), data were included if the participants had  $\geq$ 480 min of valid activity recordings each day. Analysis showed that participants with 2-3 days (Time 1 and 2 [T1 and T2]) and 1-3 days (Time 3 [T3]) of valid measurements did not differ from those with >4 days, and were thus included in further analysis. A 10-second epoch was used to register number of counts. For intensity specific analyses, data were aggregated to a 60-second epoch. The use of these criteria are in accordance with previous research using ActiGraph on similar age groups (Dalene et al., 2018b; Owen et al., 2018). As an overall measure of PA (Total PA), average counts min<sup>-1</sup> (CPM) throughout the assessment period was used. We defined sedentary behaviour (SED), light PA (LPA) and moderate to vigorous PA (MVPA) as <100 CPM, 100-1999 CPM and  $\geq$ 2000 CPM respectively. These cut-points are in accordance with previous research on adolescents in Norway (Dalene et al., 2018b).

When returning the accelerometer, participants were asked to register the amount of time spent doing activities that are poorly measured with the accelerometer (cycling) or required removal of the device (swimming). Time spent swimming and/or cycling among the majority of participants in this study was very low and these data were thus not included in further analyses.

# 2.2.2. Academic achievement

Academic achievement was assessed through the midterm grades from school records. Grade point average (GPA) was used as the indicator of academic achievement. GPA represents the average score achieved by the pupil in all subjects. In Norway, pupils in the same grade follow the same core subjects. The grade range is 1-6 where 6 represents the highest achievement possible. In the post-hoc analysis, the study sample was divided into a low GPA group (GPA 1.00-3.99) and a high GPA group (GPA 4.00-6.00) based on GPA T1.

# 2.2.3. Waist circumference

WC was measured to the nearest 0.5 cm with a medical measuring tape midway between the lowest rib and the top of the iliac crest at the end of gentle expiration. Measurements were conducted twice if the difference was  $\leq 1$  cm and three times if the difference was >1 cm. The average value of the two closest measurements was used.

# 2.2.4. Sleep

The participants reported the average times for going to bed and getting up in the morning on school days in a questionnaire (Supplementary Table S1). To estimate sleep duration, we subtracted and added 30 min to the lower (before 06:30/20:00) and upper (after 08:00/24:00) categories, respectively. In the remaining categories, the midpoint was used (e.g. 07:00-07:30 recoded to 07:15). The following algorithm was used for participants going to bed before 24.00: (sleep duration = 24 -CTIME.HOURS (bedtime - out of bed)) and (sleep duration = CTIME. HOURS (out of bed - bedtime)) for those going to bed after 24.00. This vielded sleep duration in hours for the participants (Dalene et al., 2018a).

# 2.2.5. Additional covariates

According to previous research, the following variables may influence the variables of interest: sex, body mass index (BMI), SES and seasonality (Faught et al., 2017; Owen et al., 2018; Rich et al., 2012). BMI was calculated using weight and height (kg·m<sup>-2</sup>). Weight and height were measured to the nearest 0.1 kg (Seca 877, SECA GmbH, Hamburg, Germany) and 0.5 cm (wall-mounted measuring tape), respectively. Participants were asked to remove shoes and sweaters. In line with standard practice, bodyweight measures were adjusted by subtracting 0.3 kg to account for clothing (Dalene et al., 2018b).

SES was measured through The Family Affluence Scale. This scale measures material affluence, and can be used as a proxy for SES (Hartley et al., 2016). Based on this scale, a score of relative family affluence was constructed by summing scores on all answers and categorising them in three broader groups (the lowest 20%, the middle 60% and the highest 20%)

Seasonality was defined by two categories depending on the time of data collection at the different schools (1: Sept-Oct, 2: Nov-Jan).

### 2.3. Data analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0 and Stata Statistical Software, version 16.0 (Copyright 1985-2019 StataCorp LLC), Texas 77,845 USA. Descriptive

data are presented as frequencies, mean and SD, and 95% confidence intervals (CI) where appropriate. Hayes' Process Macro v3.5 for SPSS was used to explore interactions by sex. As analyses showed no interaction, all data were analysed collectively. To test whether changes in objectively measured PA [Total PA and MVPA] was associated with changes in academic achievement directly or via mediators, variables of change ( $\Delta$ ) were created by subtracting T3-values from T1-values. Associations between the change variables were analysed by linear regression, adjusted for T1 covariates including sex, BMI, SES and seasonality (Fig. 2). All intensity specific analyses were adjusted for wear time of the accelerometer. Mediation of WC or sleep duration was explored through pairwise analyses between predictor and outcome, predictor and hypothesised mediators, and hypothesised mediators and outcome. Further, post-hoc analysis of groups with low GPA (1.00-3.99) and high GPA (4.00-6.00) were conducted to explore whether the pattern differed between these groups.

To test whether changes in PA [Total PA and MVPA] prospectively could indicate academic achievement at T3, linear regression analyses were used, adjusted for T1 covariates. Finally, linear regression analyses of each time point were conducted in order to provide a descriptive supplement to the longitudinal analyses (Table 2). The crude model showed associations between Total PA and academic achievement, whereas the adjusted model corrected for sex, BMI, SES and seasonality. All measures were scaled up to show changes in dependent variables occurring after changes in Total PA of 100 CPM. For informational purposes, separate analyses for boys and girls are presented in Supplementary file, Table S2.

Because of the clustered nature of the data, all analyses were adjusted for school-level clustering.

# 2.4. Ethics

The study was approved by the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (project no. 48192). As the participants were between 12 and 13 years at the time of enrolment in the study, written informed consent was obtained from pupils and his/her legal guardian prior to data collection.

### 3. Results

# 3.1. Descriptive results

BMI, WC and GPA significantly increased in both boys and girls from T1 to T3, while amount of sleep decreased significantly. The two measures of PA decreased significantly among girls from T1 to T3 (p = .020 for Total PA and p  $\leq$  0.001 for MVPA). This decrease was not found among boys (p = .589 for Total PA and p = .085 for MVPA) (see table 1).

# 3.2. Longitudinal results

Neither change in Total PA nor MVPA were directly associated with change in academic achievement (see Fig. 2). No indirect associations via change in WC or sleep duration were present. Post-hoc analyses, where the study sample was divided into high and low GPA groups were conducted (data not shown). The results from these analyses did not deviate from the results of the main analysis.

Results from the prospective analyses showed no associations between change in Total PA or MVPA and academic achievement at T3 (see Fig. A1).

### 3.3. Cross-sectional results

Table 2 shows the cross-sectional associations between Total PA and academic achievement measured by GPA at T1, T2 and T3. Total PA was significantly associated with academic achievement in T2, but solely in the adjusted analysis (p = 0.028) and the association was weak. Gender specific analyses (Supplementary Table S2) shows that this association

Table 1

Descriptive characteristics of the study sample by sex, all time points (mean  $\pm$  SD unless otherwise specified).

Characteristic	Time 1 (2016) n =	Time 2 (2017) n =	Time 3 (2018) n =
	333	561	332
Age			
Boys	13.4 (0.3)	14.4 (0.3)	15.4 (0.3)
Girls	13.3 (0.3)	14.3 (0.3)	15.3 (0.3)
Height (cm)			
Boys	163.9 (8.6)	171.3 (8.2)	176.9 (7.5)
Girls	161.7 (6.9)	165.0 (6.6)	166.3 (6.4)
Weight (kg)			
Boys	53.0 (11.8)	60.7 (13.5)	66.8 (13.6)
Girls	52.8 (9.9)	56.6 (9.8)	59.2 (9.8)
BMI (kg/m²)			
Boys	19.6 (3.3)	20.5 (3.7)	21.3 (3.7)
Girls	20.0 (3.1)	20.8 (3.0)	21.4 (3.0)
WC (cm)			
Boys	73.2 (9.7)	75.3 (10.0)	76.4 (9.4)
Girls	70.5 (8.8)	71.4 (7.7)	70.9 (7.4)
Sleep duration (	h)		
Boys	9.3 (0.9)	8.7 (0.9)	8.4 (0.9)
Girls	9.1 (0.8)	8.7 (0.9)	8.4 (0.9)
Total PA (CPM/	d)		
Boys	474.4 (178.7)	476.8 (177.5)	460.9 (204.7)
Girls	402.2 (118.6)	399.9 (127.5)	383.5 (138.3)
SED (min/d)			
Boys	548.4 (74.4)	541.7 (78.7)	542.1 (99.6)
Girls	565.7 (55.4)	561.3 (64.6)	564.1 (69.6)
LPA (min/d)			
Boys	172.2 (34.1)	167.6 (34.3)	140.8 (37.3)
Girls	161.4 (32.3)	153.9 (32.2)	137.6 (30.4)
MVPA (min/d)			
Boys	63.9 (22.9)	62.4 (24.3)	58.1 (26.7)
Girls	54.0 (18.5)	53.6 (19.4)	50.1 (21.4)
Meeting act. reg	(%)		
Boys	53.3	53.6	43.8
Girls	36.3	37.1	29.5
GPA			
Boys	3.8 (0.6)	3.9 (0.7)	4.0 (0.7)
Girls	4.1 (0.7)	4.3 (0.7)	4.4 (0.8)

Note. BMI = body mass index, WC = Waist circumference, Total PA (CPM) = average daily counts per minute, SED = average daily sedentary behaviour, LPA = average daily light physical activity, MVPA = average daily moderate to vigorous physical activity, Meeting act.reg = Meeting national recommendations of an average of  $\geq$ 60 min MVPA per day, GPA = grade point average, CPM/d = counts per minute per day, min/d = minutes per day.

was only significant among boys.

# 4. Discussion

The aim of the study was to explore whether the longitudinal change in objectively measured PA [Total PA and MVPA] was associated with change in academic achievement directly or via mediators. We found no association between longitudinal changes in PA levels [Total PA and MVPA] and academic achievement in the study sample of Norwegian adolescents, not by analysing the study sample as a whole, by grade specific analysis, or through mediators. There are several possible explanations for these findings.

Previous research shows a diverse picture of the association between PA and academic achievement, and results seem to be somewhat dependent on the way PA is measured. The current study adds to this by showing no significant association between objectively measured PA and academic achievement in the longitudinal analyses. Although assessing PA by an objective measure generates information about duration of movements with different intensities and is generally regarded as producing more robust estimates (Adamo et al., 2009), it does not indicate type of activity (Marques et al., 2017; Syväoja et al., 2013). Given the possible relationship between motor control and cognitive development, skill-specific activities that do not generate

Table 2

 $Cross-sectional associations between \ Total \ PA \ and \ academic \ achievement \ analysed \ with \ a \ multiple \ linear \ regression \ model \ (n=402-570).$ 

	Crude <sup>a</sup>				Adjusted <sup>b</sup>					
	n	β	95% CI	р	n	β	95% CI	р		
GPA Time 1	570	-0.009	-0.053, 0.035	0.650	518	0.006	-0.041, 0.054	0.767		
GPA Time 2	499	0.026	-0.010, 0.061	0.137	435	0.045	0.006, 0.084	0.028		
GPA Time 3	458	-0.021	-0.061, 0.020	0.289	402	-0.010	-0.062, 0.041	0.670		
Note. GPA = grade	e point average	, $\beta = \text{standardized}$	regression coefficient.							

All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in dependent variables occurring after changes of 100 CPM.

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for cluster sampling.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for cluster sampling, sex, BMI, SES and season of data collection.

activity counts might be relevant in explaining the relationship between PA and academic achievement (Marques et al., 2017), an issue that might be addressed in future research. However, analysis showed a cross-sectional association between Total PA and academic achievement at T2. It is possible that the association between PA and academic achievement differs between the years at lower secondary school, although the association was very small, and its consequence in real life difficult to infer. Furthermore, a longitudinal design generates more robust data than a cross-sectional design, putting a stronger emphasis on the results from the former.

Longitudinal associations were explored via change variables of both predictor and outcome. This might affect the results in situations where stability of variables over the follow-up period is high. In the current study, PA decreased significantly among girls, and GPA increased significantly among both boys and girls from T1 to T3. Stability of data is therefore unlikely to explain the results. A ceiling effect might also be an explanation for lack of association when change scores are analysed (Resaland et al., 2016). Those with already high GPA from T1 do not have the same possibility for further increase as those with lower GPA. Post-hoc analyses explored this potential explanation and found no evidence to suggest that a ceiling effect could explain the lack of significant associations in the current study sample.

Adolescence is an extended period of considerable physical and cognitive development (Paus, 2005). The follow-up period may not have been sufficiently long for associations between PA and academic achievement to emerge. A longitudinal study based on self-reported PA with a 30-year follow-up found long-term associations between change in PA (between the years of 12 and 15) and subsequent educational attainment in adulthood (Kari et al., 2017). However, when adjustments for individuals' prior academic achievement were included, the strength of the associations decreased. This suggests that the results are partly influenced by the higher GPA of physically active adolescents, and further raises the question about a selection effect.

In contrast to Lima et al. (2019), the current study showed no mediation effect via WC, neither through analysis of the entire study sample, or grouped by low- and high GPA. While the current study used GPA as a measure of academic achievement, Lima et al. (2019) used a composite score of national standardised tests in Danish and Mathematics. School grades assess a broad range of competencies, but might be influenced by teachers' perceptions (Marques et al., 2017; Owen et al., 2018). Although standardised tests yield an unbiased measure, they only assess a narrow range of the skills and competencies of the pupil (Owen et al., 2018; The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training, 2019). These differences in outcome measure might serve as an explanation for the dissimilar results. In addition, Lima et al. (2019) targeted a younger age group (7–12 years) than the current study (12–16 years). At a theoretical level, associations might be present among children without tracking into adolescence.

Neither the main nor post-hoc analysis showed any evidence for sleep duration serving as a mediator between PA and academic achievement. Although these results contrast with those of Syväoja et al. (2018) where a subjective measure of PA was used, they are consistent with results from the same study where an objective measure was used.

There were no differences between analyses using Total PA and MVPA as predictor variables in the present study, giving no evidence for an intensity-dependent association. This is consistent with previous research which found no direct association between PA and academic achievement in overall analysis of MVPA and/or VPA (Corder et al., 2015; Syväoja et al., 2013; van Dijk et al., 2014). However, Kwak et al. (2009) found a positive association between VPA and academic achievement, solely among girls. In a longitudinal study by Owen et al. (2018), positive associations were found through analysis of associations between changes in MVPA and changes in academic achievement among girls. The enduring differences between studies prevent us from drawing any conclusions regarding the putative role of intensity and gender differences in the analysis of PA and academic achievement. Further research is needed to explore this relationship.

# 4.1. Strengths and limitations

A key strength of the current study is its longitudinal design where both predictor and outcome are measured at all three time points. Even though the initial participation rate was 60%, and may have introduced some selection bias into the results, the attrition rate from T1 to T3 was very low (see Fig. 1). In addition, the analyses controlled for many wellknown confounders. The use of objectively measured PA also strengthens the study's quality. However, use of accelerometers also have some limitations. While worn at the hip and not completely waterproof, their ability to measure upper body movements, loadcarrying activities, cycling and swimming are limited (Shephard and Aoyagi, 2012). Time spent swimming and/or cycling among the majority of participants in this study was very low. Consequently, it is unlikely to have led to a large underestimation of activity level. While there remains no consensus regarding cut-points for intensity-specific PA, the present study used the same cut-points as other studies of Norwegian adolescents have done. This may limit comparability across studies using different cut-points. Finally, because the selection of participating schools was not conducted at random, selection bias cannot be ruled out, and generalisability is limited.

# 5. Conclusion

PA was unrelated to academic achievement in the current study sample, both through a direct association, and via mediators. These results contribute to a growing evidence base showing no relation between objectively measured PA and academic achievement among adolescents. However, it is important to note that although no positive association was found, there was nothing to suggest a detrimental effect of PA either, further implying that PA can be promoted for its wellknown beneficial effects on health among adolescents. Future research should explore these associations on a long-term basis where important covariates of SES is also accounted for. Finally, there is a need for research to further explore the potential long-term influence of sleep duration on these associations.

### Preventive Medicine Reports 21 (2021) 101312

I. Barth Vedøy et al.



Note. MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity, GPA = grade point average,  $\beta$  = standardized regression coefficient. <sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline GPA, sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, baseline GPA, sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

Fig. A1. Parameter estimates of the regression coefficient (95% CI) of the prospective associations between changes (2016–2018) in physical activity (Total PA and MVPA) and academic achievement Time 3. (n = 401).

# CRediT authorship contribution statement

Ingeborg Barth Vedøy: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing - original draft, Visualization. Knut Ragnvald Skulberg: Methodology, Formal analysis, Writing - review & editing, Visualization. Sigmund Alfred Anderssen: Methodology, Formal analysis, Writing - review & editing. Hege Eikeland Tjomsland: Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing. Miranda Thurston: Conceptualization, Project administration, Funding acquisition, Writing - review & editing.

# **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

### Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank all the schools involved in the study, especially the pupils who participated, all those who helped with data collection, and Professor Morten W. Fagerland for statistical guidance. The authors would also like to thank the Research Council of Norway for funding this project.

### Funding

This work was supported by the Research Council of Norway (238212/F60).

### Appendix A

# Fig. A1.

### Appendix B. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101312.

### References

- Adamo, K.B., Prince, S.A., Tricco, A.C., Connor-Gorber, S., Tremblay, M., 2009. A comparison of indirect versus direct measures for assessing physical activity in the pediatric population: a systematic review. Int. J. Pediatr. Obes. 4 (1), 2–27. https:// doi.org/10.1080/17477160802315010.
- Barth Vedøy, I., Anderssen, S.A., Tjonsland, H.E., Skulberg, K.R., Thurston, M., 2020. Physical activity, mental health and academic achievement: a cross-sectional study of Norwegian adolescents. Ment. Health Phys. Act. 18, 100322. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/i.mhpa.2020.100322.
- Booth, J.N., Leary, S.D., Joinson, C., Ness, A.R., Tomporowski, P.D., Boyle, J.M., Reilly, J.J., 2014. Associations between objectively measured physical activity and academic attainment in adolescents from a UK cohort. Br. J. Sports Med. 48 (3), 265–270. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-092334.

- Chang, Y.-K., Chu, C.-H., Chen, F.-T., Hung, T.-M., Etnier, J., 2017. Combined effects of physical activity and obesity on cognitive function: independent, overlapping, moderator, and mediator models. Sports Med. 47 (3), 449–468. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s40279-016-6589-7
- Chaput, J.-P., Gray, C.E., Poitras, V.J., Carson, V., Gruber, R., Olds, T., Weiss, S.K., Connor Gorber, S., Kho, M.E., Sampson, M., Belanger, K., Eryuzlu, S., Callender, L., Tremblay, M.S., 2016. Systematic review of the relationships between sleep duration and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab. 41 (6 Suppl. 3), S266–S282. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0627.
- and real influences in sectors age of uncertainty of the analysis of the metal of the analysis of the metal of the analysis of the metal of the analysis of the a
- Corder, K., Atkin, A.J., Bamber, D.J., Brage, S., Dunn, V.J., Ekelund, U., Owens, M., van Sluijs, E.M.F., Goodyer, I.M., 2015. Revising on the run or studying on the sofa: prospective associations between physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and exam results in British adolescents. Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 12 (1) https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12966-015-0269-2.
- Dalene, K.E., Anderssen, S.A., Andersen, L.B., Steene-Johannessen, J., Ekelund, U., Hansen, B.H., Kolle, E., 2018a. Cross-sectional and prospective associations between sleep, screen time, active school travel, sports/exercise participation and physical activity in children and adolescents. BMC Public Health 18 (1). https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12889-018-5610-7.
- Dalene, K.E., Anderssen, S.A., Andersen, L.B., Steene-Johannessen, J., Ekelund, U., Hansen, B.H., Kolle, E., 2018b. Secular and longitudinal physical activity changes in population-based samples of children and adolescents. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports 28 (1), 161–171. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.2018.28.issue-110.1111/sms.12876.
- (1), 101–171: https://doi.org/101111/jails.2010.2013061101111/jails.12010. Donnelly, J.E., Hillman, C.H., Castelli, D., Etnier, J.L., Lee, S., Tomporowski, P., Lambourne, K., Szabo-Reed, A.N., 2016. Physical activity, fitness, cognitive function, and academic achievement in children: a systematic review. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 48 (6). 1197–1222. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000000901
- and exactline duto clinic in clinical in clinical in systematic clinical and exactline and exactline duto clinical in clinical in the clinical intervention of the clinical intervention of the clinical exactline and the clinical exactl
- Steban-Cornejo, I., Tejero-González, C.M., Martínez-Gomez, D., Cabanas-Sánchez, V., Fernández-Santos, J.R., Conde-Caveda, J., Sallis, J.F., Veiga, O.L., 2014. Objectively measured physical activity has a negative but weak association with academic performance in children and adolescents. Acta Paediatr. 103 (11), e501–e506. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.opa.1252.
- Estrada-Tenorio, S., Julián, J.A., Aibar, A., Martín-Albo, J., Zaragoza, J., 2020. Academic achievement and physical activity: the ideal relationship to promote a healthier lifestyle in adolescents. J. Phys. Act. Health 17 (5), 525. https://doi.org/10.1123/ joah.2019-0320.
- Faught, E.L., Gleddie, D., Storey, K.E., Davison, C.M., Veugelers, P.J., 2017. Healthy lifestyle behaviours are positively and independently associated with academic achievement: an analysis of self-reported data from a nationally representative sample of Canadian early adolescents. PLoS One 12 (7), e0181938. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0181938.
- Hartley, J.E.K., Levin, K., Currie, C., 2016. A new version of the HBSC family affluence scale – FAS III: Scottish qualitative findings from the international FAS development study. Child Indic. Res. 9 (1), 233–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-015-9325-3.
- Kantomaa, M.T., Stamatakis, E., Kankaanpää, A., Kajantie, E., Taanila, A., Tammelin, T., 2016. Associations of physical activity and sedentary behavior with adolescent academic achievement. J. Res. Adolesc. 26 (3), 432–442. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jora.2016.26.issue-310.1111/jora.12203.
- Kari, J.T., Pehkonen, J., Hutri-Kahonen, N., Raitakari, O.T., Tammelin, T.H., 2017. Longitudinal associations between physical activity and educational outcomes. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 49 (11), 2158–2166. https://doi.org/10.1249/ mss.000000000001351.
- Khan, M., Chu, Y., Kirk, S., Veugelers, P., 2015. Are sleep duration and sleep quality associated with diet quality, physical activity, and body weight status? A population based study of Canadian children. Can. J. Public Health 106 (5), e277–e282. doi: 10.17269/CJPH.106.4892.

- Kristjansson, A.L., Sigfusdottir, I.D., Allegrante, J.P., 2010. Health behavior and academic achievement among adolescents: the relative contribution of dietary habits, physical activity, body mass index, and self-esteem. Health Educ. Behav. 37 (1), 51–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198107313481. Kwak, L., Kremers, S.P., Bergman, P., Ruiz, J.R., Rizzo, N.S., Sjostrom, M., 2009.
- Associations between physical activity, fitness, and academic achievement. J. Pediatr. 155 (6), 914–918.e911. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.06.019. Lima, R.A., Pfeiffer, K.A., Moller, N.C., Andersen, L.B., Bugge, A., 2019. Physical activity and sedentary time are positively associated with academic performance: a 3-year longitudinal study. J. Phys. Act. Health 16 (3), 177–183. https://doi.org/10.1123.
- Lubans, D., Richards, J., Hillman, C.H., Faulkner, G., Beauchamp, M., Nilsson, M., et al., 2016. Physical activity for cognitive and mental health in youth: a systematic review of mechanisms. Pediatrics 138 (3). doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-1642.
- Marmot, M., 2010. Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot Review: Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England Post-2010. ISBN 9780956487001. http://www. instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot
- review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf. Marques, A., Santos, D. A., Hillman, C.H., Sardinha, L.B., 2017. How does academic achievement relate to cardiorespiratory fitness, self-reported physical activity and objectively reported physical activity: a systematic review in children and
- objectively reported physical activity, a systematic revew in climiter and adolescents aged 6-18 years. Br. J. Sports Med. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-097361.Oliveira, T., Pizarro, A., Costa, M., Fernandes, L., Silva, G., Mota, J., Ribeiro, J.C., 2017. Cardiorespiratory fitness, but not physical activity, is associated with academic achievement in children and adolescents. Ann. Hum. Biol. 44 (4), 309–315. Owen, K.B., Parker, P.D., Astell-Burt, T., Lonsdale, C., 2018. Regular physical activity
- and educational outcomes in youth: a longitudinal study. J. Adol. Health 62 (3), **334–340**. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.09.014. is, T., 2005. Mapping brain maturation and cognitive develop
- nce. Trends Cogn. Sci. 9 (2), 60-68. Poitras, V.J., Gray, C.E., Borghese, M.M., Carson, V., Chaput, J.-P., Janssen, I., Katzmarzyk, P.T., Pate, R.R., Connor Gorber, S., Kho, M.E., Sampson, M., Tremblay, M.S., 2016, Systematic review of the relationships between objectively measured physical activity and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab. 41 (6), S197–S239. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0663

- Resaland, G.K., Aadland, E., Moe, V.F., Aadland, K.N., Skrede, T., Stavnsbo, M., Suominen, L., Steene-Johannessen, J., Glosvik, Ø., Andersen, J.R., Kvalheim, O.M., Engelsrud, G., Andersen, L.B., Holme, I.M., Ommundsen, Y., Kriemler, S., van Mechelen, W., McKay, H.A., Ekelund, U., Anderssen, S.A., 2016. Effects of physical activity on schoolchildren's academic performance: the Active Smarter Kids (ASK) cluster-randomized controlled trial. Prev. Med. 91, 322-328. https://doi.org d 2016 09 00
- Rich, C., Griffiths, L.J., Dezateux, C., 2012. Seasonal variation in accelerometer determined sedentary behaviour and physical activity in children: a review. Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act. 9, 49. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-9-49.
  Shephard, R.J., Aoyagi, Y., 2012. Measurement of human energy expenditure, with
- particular reference to field studies: an historical perspective. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 112 (8), 2785–2815. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-011-2268-6. Singh, A.S., Saliasi, E., van den Berg, V., Uijtdewilligen, de Groot, L.R.H.M., Jolles, J.,
- et al., 2018. Effects of physical activity interventions on cognitive and academic performance in children and adolescents: a novel combination of a systematic review and recommendations from an expert panel. Br. J. Sports Med. 0, 1–10. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2017-098136.
- Suchert, V., Hanewinkel, R., Isensee, B., 2016. Longitudinal relationships of fitness, physical activity, and weight status with academic achievement in adolescents. J. School Health 86 (10), 734–741. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12424.
- Syväoja, H.J., Kankaanpää, A., Kallio, J., Hakonen, H., Kulmala, J., Hillman, C.H., Pesonen, A.-K., Tammelin, T.H., 2018. The relation of physical activity, sedentary behaviors, and academic achievement is mediated by fitness and bedtime. J. Phys. beraviots, and academic achievement is included by intess and bednine. J. Filys. Act. Health 15. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2017-0135.Syväoja, H.J., Kantomaa, M.T., Ahonen, T., Hakonen, H., Kankaanpää, A., Tammelin, T.
- H., 2013. Physical activity, sedentary behavior, and academic performance in finish children. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 45 (11), 2098–2104. https://doi.org/10.1249 MSS.0b013e318296d7b8.
- The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training, 2019. Kva er nasjonale prøver? [What is national tests?]. Retrieved from https://www.udir.no/eksamen-og-prover/ prover/nasjonale-prover/.
- an Dijk, M.L., de Groot, R.H.M., Savelberg, H.H.C.M., van Acker, F., Kirschner, P.A., 2014. The association between objectively measured physical activity and academic achievement in Dutch adolescents: findings from the GOALS study. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 36 (5), 460-473. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.2014-0014.

# Supplementary file

Table S1. Questions about usual time for going to bed and getting up in the morning on school days from the questionnaire.

Sleep duration	
When do you usually get out of bed on	□ Before 06:30, □ Between 06:30 and 07:00,
schooldays?	□ Between 07:00 and 07:30, □ Between 07:30
	and 08:00,
When do you usually go to bed on schooldays?	□ Before 20:00, □ Between 20:00 and 21:00, □
	Between 21:00 and 22:00, □ Between 22:00 and
	23:00, □ Between 23:00 and 24:00, □ After
	24:00

Table S2. Cross-sectional associations between Total PA and academic achievement analysed with a multiple linear regression model (n= 402-570)

			Crude <sup>a</sup>				Adjusted <sup>b</sup>	
	u	β	95 % CI	đ	=	£	95 % CI	d
<b>GPA Time 1</b> Boys Girls	570 254 316	-0.002 0.05	-0.05, 0.04 -0.05, 0.15	.931 .280	518 237 281	0.0002 0.01	-0.05, 0.05 -0.08, 0.11	.994 .759
GPA Time 2 Boys	499 208	0.05		.091 190	435 186 240	0.04	0.006, 0.07	.024
GPA Time 3 Boys	458 190	10.0	-0.07, 0.05	799. 799.	402 170	-0.02	-0.07, 0.03	
Girls <i>Note</i> . GPA = grade p	268 oint average	0.03 $\beta = \text{standardize}$	-0.06, 0.11 d regression coefficient	.492	232	0.001	-0.09, 0.09	6/6

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for cluster sampling <sup>b</sup>Adjusted for cluster sampling, BMI, SES and season of data collection. All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in dependent variables occurring after changes of 100 CPM.

Paper III

<u>Title:</u> The longitudinal association between objectively measured physical activity and mental health among Norwegian adolescents

# **Authors:**

Barth Vedøy, Ingeborg<sup>1,2</sup>, email: <u>ingeborg.vedoy@inn.no</u> Skulberg, Knut Ragnvald<sup>1</sup>, email: <u>knut.skulberg@inn.no</u> Anderssen, Sigmund Alfred<sup>2</sup>, email: <u>s.a.anderssen@nih.no</u> Fagerland, Morten Wang<sup>2</sup>, email: mortenwf@nih.no Tjomsland, Hege Eikeland<sup>1</sup>, email: <u>hege.tjomsland@inn.no</u> Thurston, Miranda<sup>1</sup>, email: miranda.thurston@inn.no

# **Affiliation**

<sup>1</sup>Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Postboks 400, 2418 Elverum, Norway

<sup>2</sup>The Norwegian school of Sport Sciences, Postboks 4014 Ullevål stadion, 0806 Oslo, Norway

# **Corresponding author**

Ingeborg Barth Vedøy Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences Postboks 400 2418 Elverum Norway Phone: +47 62 43 03 45

Email: ingeborg.vedoy@inn.no

# Abstract

**Background:** Mental health among young people in many countries, including Norway, seems to be deteriorating. Physical activity (PA) has been positively associated with mental health. However, methodological issues related to study design and measurement of PA and mental health outcome currently limits our understanding of the relationship. The purpose of the present study is to explore the longitudinal relationship of objectively measured PA (total PA and moderate-to-vigorous PA [MVPA]) and sedentary behaviour (SED) with mental wellbeing (MWB) and mental health problems (MHP).

**Methods:** Data from 599 adolescents (54.4 % female, mean age at baseline ± SD 13.3 ± 0.3 years) were collected annually during their three years at lower secondary school. PA was measured using accelerometry. MWB was measured using the 'Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale' and MHP were measured by 'Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire'. Multiple linear regression was performed to explore relationships between changes in PA/SED and MWB/MHP.

**Results:** Among boys, an increase in SED was positively associated with MWB ( $\beta$  =0.05, 95% CI: 0.01 to 0.10), whereas a small positive association between an increase in total PA and MWB was found in girls ( $\beta$  = 1.13, 95% CI: 0.05 to 2.21). There were no associations between changes in any movement categories (total PA, MVPA, SED) and score on MHP at T3, neither for girls nor boys.

**Conclusion:** This study provided no clear evidence of any association between change in volume or intensity of PA and MHP among an overall healthy adolescent study sample. There was, however, evidence of a relationship between increased SED and MWB among boys and increased volume of PA and MWB among girls. The relationship between movement categories and mental health may depend on the measurement used to assess both PA/SED and variables of mental health. To improve comparability across studies, future research should include both objective and subjective measures of PA/SED and explore their relationship with variables of mental health. Further there is a profound need for researchers to be clear on what construct of mental health they are exploring, and how they operationalise its measurement.

Keywords: Physical activity, Accelerometry, Mental wellbeing, Mental health problems,

Adolescence, Prospective cohort study

# Introduction

Mental health among young people has received increasing attention in recent years especially given its significance for a healthy transition to adulthood [1]. Yet international trends from high-income countries suggest their mental health is deteriorating, particularly among adolescent girls [2-4]. These trends are reflected in the increase in diagnosis and treatment of mental disorders over the past few decades [2]. In 2019, mental disorders represented the 4<sup>th</sup> leading global cause of disabilityadjusted life-years among youth (10-24 years), contributing significantly to adolescents' overall health burden [5]. Similar trends among youth have been reported in Norway, which show that mental health problems (MHP) vary according to age and sex, with older adolescent girls showing a larger increase in MHP over time than younger boys [6]. Although trends are complex, the apparent deterioration in young people's mental health has stimulated extensive research into putative risk and protective factors. The role of physical activity in enhancing mental health and preventing MHP during adolescence has received particular attention as this is a period during which not only most mental disorders occur [7] but also levels of physical activity (PA) decline [8, 9].

There is evidence from umbrella- and systematic reviews to indicate that PA is positively associated with various indicators of mental health among children and adolescents [10-13] and that relationships might be more consistent and robust for PA at higher intensities, (moderate-to-vigorous intensity PA [MVPA]) [14]. However, the strength of these relationships is weak to moderate. Methodological weaknesses in study design and measurement of PA have been put forward as limitations of the current knowledge base [11, 13]. Research using stronger study designs (longitudinal studies) and objective measures of PA have been called for to further clarify the relationship [12]. Alongside these methodological concerns, the conceptualization of mental health has increasingly been recognised as multidimensional, comprising both negative (e.g. depression and anxiety) and positive dimensions (e.g. mental wellbeing [MWB] and self-esteem) [12]. According to Westerhof and Keys' [15] two continua model, MHP or mental disorders and MWB are presented as

two distinct but related dimensions. As they explain, the absence of negative indicators does not necessarily imply the presence of high levels of wellbeing and vice versa. The majority of research in the PA field to date has focused on negative indicators of mental health, such as MHP or mental disorders.

To the best of our knowledge, five longitudinal studies have, in varying ways, sought to address these methodological concerns among adolescents [16-20]. The relationship between PA and MHP was addressed in 4/5 studies, of which no association was found [16-19]. Within the PA-MWB relationship the findings were mixed showing both positive [20] or no [16] association. The heterogeneity of these studies should be noted, however. Not only have they been carried out on samples of young people from various countries where population levels of mental health and related social norms may be different, they have also used diverse instruments to measure MHP and MWB.

Recently, more attention has also been paid to the relationship between sedentary behaviours (SED) and indicators of mental health, and the role of SED in the mental health of young people was thus explored in a recent systematic review [13]. This found evidence for an inverse association between SED and satisfaction with life and happiness, as well as a positive association between SED and MHP. The authors underline the need for future research to explore relationships of SED and other indicators of MWB, for which there is currently minimal evidence.

The purpose of this study was therefore to explore whether changes in movement categories [total PA, MVPA and SED] were associated with MHP or MWB. Further, the study sought to explore whether different PA transitions were associated with MHP or MWB.

# Methods

# Study design and participants

In 2016, all students starting 8<sup>th</sup> grade (12-13 years) in 11 lower secondary schools were invited to participate in a prospective cohort study. The schools were recruited from two counties on the east and west side of Norway and were selected on the basis of school size, type of school (grades 1-10 or 8-10) location (urban, suburban and rural), socio-economic status and a school's average score on National tests. Detailed description of the methodology has been published elsewhere [21]. Annual data collection took place during the first semester of 8<sup>th</sup>, 9<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> grade. Figure 1 illustrates students' participation.

Figure 1. Flowchart of the study population and participation.

# Measurements

# Physical activity

Physical activity was measured objectively, using ActiGraph GT3X+/bt (LLC, Pensacola, Florida, USA). The monitor was placed on the right hip in an elastic belt. The participants were asked to wear it for seven consecutive days. To ensure correct placement, research staff attached the monitor during the first school visit. The participants were instructed to wear the monitor for all waking hours, except while doing water activities. The monitor was initialised to start recording at 06:00 the following day. After excluding data recorded between 00:00 and 06:00 and all intervals of  $\geq$ 20 consecutive minutes of no recording (non-wear), accelerometer data were included if the participants had  $\geq$ 480 minutes of valid activity recordings each day. A minimum of 4 days of valid data are recommended to achieve satisfactory reliability [22]. However, as analyses showed that participants with 2-3 days (Time 1 and 2 [T1 and T2]) and 1-3 days (Time 3 [T3]) of valid measurements did not differ from those with  $\geq$ 4 days, these were included in further analyses. Data was downloaded in a 10 sec epoch but aggregated up to a 60 sec epoch for the intensity specific analysis. As an overall measure of PA (total PA), average counts·min<sup>-1</sup> (CPM) throughout the assessment period were used. We defined SED, light intensity PA (LPA) and MVPA as <100 CPM, 100-1999 CPM and ≥2000 CPM respectively. Further, accumulation of an average of ≥60 min MVPA/day was used to categorise participants into meeting/not meeting national recommendations for PA. The use of these accelerometer processing criteria are in accordance with previous Norwegian research conducted on similar age groups [9]. PA transition profiles were created based on the participants meeting/not meeting national PA recommendations in T1 and T3. 'Active maintainers' consist of those adhering to PA recommendations in T1 and T3, 'move to inactive' consist of those adhering to PA recommendations in T1, but not in T3, 'move to active' consist of those not adhering to PA recommendations in T1, but adhered to them in T3, and 'inactive maintainers' consist of those not adhering to PA recommendations in T1 nor in T3.

# Mental health problems

MHP were measured using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ). The instrument consists of 25 questions divided into 5 scales of 5 questions each (Emotional problems scale, Conduct problems scale, Hyperactivity scale, Peer problems scale and Prosocial scale). Each item can be addressed "not true", "somewhat true" or "certainly true". All scales, except the Prosocial scale, are summed up to create a 'total difficulty score' ranging from 0-40 where a higher score indicates poorer mental health. [23]. The instrument has demonstrated satisfactory reliability and validity among community samples of children and adolescents [24]. The current study used the established Norwegian translation. The continuous 'total difficulty score' was labelled 'MHP' and used as an outcome variable in all analyses.

# Mental wellbeing

The Warwick-Edinburg Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS) was used to assess MWB. This instrument comprises 14 positively loaded items using a 5-point Likert scale (1 = 'none of the time' to 5 = 'all of the time'). Responses were summed to create an overall wellbeing score ranging from 14 to 70, where a higher score indicates higher levels of wellbeing. The instrument is a psychometrically robust

scale showing good content validity and high test-retest reliability [25]. The scale is validated for use among adolescents from 13 years of age and onwards [26] and has been validated for use among Norwegian adolescents [27]. The current study used the established Norwegian translation with minor linguistic amendments. The continuous score was labelled 'MWB' and used as an outcome variable in all analyses

# Covariates

As reported in previous literature, covariates may confound the relationship of interest: socioeconomic status (SES) [28], body mass index (BMI) [29] and seasonality [30]. The Family affluence scale was used as a measure of SES. The scale measures material affluence and is a widely used proxy for SES [31]. A score of *relative family affluence* can be derived by summing scores on all answers and categorising them into three broader groups (the lowest 20 %, the middle 60 % and the highest 20 %).

BMI was objectively measured and calculated using weight and height (kg·m<sup>-2</sup>), measured to the nearest 0.1 kg (Seca 877, SECA GmbH, Hamburg, Germany) and 0.5 cm (wall-mounted measuring tape), respectively. Participants were asked to remove shoes and sweaters before measurement. Bodyweight measures were adjusted by subtracting 0.3 kg to account for clothing.

Seasonality was defined by two categories depending on the time of data collection at the different schools (1: Sept-Oct, 2: Nov-Jan).

# Ethics

The study was registered with the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (project no. 48192). Written informed consent was obtained from both the participants and their legal guardians prior to data collection.

# Data analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0 and Stata Statistical Software, version 16.0 (Copyright 1985-2019 StataCorp LLC), Texas 77845 USA. Descriptive data are presented as frequencies, mean and SD where appropriate. As analysis showed an interaction by sex, data were analysed separately for boys and girls. Paired T-test was used to explore longitudinal differences between variables in T1 and T3 (Table 1). To explore correlations between MHP and MWB, Pearson's bivariate correlation analyses with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) based on the Fisher Z-transformation were used.

To explore whether changes in movement categories [total PA, MVPA and SED] from T1 to T3 were associated with MWB and MHP at T3, multiple linear regression analyses were used. Change scores were created by subtracting T3-values from T1-values, creating new change variables that entered the model. The models were adjusted for T1-variables of MHP/MWB, BMI, SES, season of data collection. Further, all analyses were adjusted for school-level clustering and all analyses of  $\Delta$ MVPA and  $\Delta$ SED were adjusted for each other and wear-time of the accelerometer (Figure 2 & 3). As the associations can be bi-directional, the models were reversed, creating change scores of the mental health variables, and exploring their relationship with the different movement categories at T3 (Additional files 1 & 2).

To explore the influence of PA transitions, dummy variables of the different PA transition groups were created before entering the models alongside T1-variables of MHP/MWB, BMI, SES, season of data collection and sex. Associations between variables of PA transitions and score on MHP or MWB in T3 for the different groups were analysed using multiple linear regression (Table 2a and b). Further, post-hoc analysis of change in minutes of MVPA between T1 and T3 for the different PA transition profiles was conducted using paired T-test (Additional file 3).

In this study WEMWBS was assessed in a six-point Likert scale from *not at all* (0) to *all the time* (5). To be able to compare results with international data, the following equation was applied: 'WEMWBS 5-point score = 1 + ((4/5)\*WEMWBS 6-point score)'. As the SDQ guidelines enables imputations, these have been performed for the instrument according to standard practice. While analysis showed

variables not to be missing completely by random for WEMWBS, imputations were not performed for this instrument.

# Results

Descriptive statistics on key variables over the three years of study are shown in Table 1. Significant differences between T1 and T3 were seen for all variables among girls, except SED. For boys, significant differences were evident for BMI, SED, LPA and MVPA. The proportion of students with MHP-scores categorised as normal remained high (boys: 85% - 80%, girls: 84% - 76%) throughout the three time points (see additional file 4). The same pattern was evident for MWB, where the mean scores remained high (boys: 57.1-55.9, girls: 55.0-50.6), the score distributions being positively skewed throughout the three time points (see additional file 5). The correlations between MHP and MWB were moderate throughout the study (T1: r= -0.44, 95% CI -0.51, -0.37; T2: r= -0.45, 95% CI - 0.52, -0.38; T3: r= -0.53, 95% CI -0.60, -0.47) indicating that they are distinct, but related dimensions of mental health.

Characteristic	Time 1 (2016)	Time 2 (2017)	Time 3 (2018)
	n = 599	n = 581	n = 552
Age			
Boys	13.4 (0.3)	14.4 (0.3)	15.4 (0.3)
Girls	13.3 (0.3)	14.3 (0.3)	15.3 (0.3)
Height (cm)			
Boys	163.9 (8.6)	171.3 (8.2)	176.9 (7.5)
Girls	161.7 (6.9)	165.0 (6.6)	166.3 (6.4)
Weight (kg)			
Boys	53.0 (11.8)	60.7 (13.5)	66.8 (13.6)
Girls	52.8 (9.9)	56.6 (9.8)	59.2 (9.8)
BMI (kg/m²)			
Boys	19.6 (3.3)	20.5 (3.7)	21.3 (3.7)**
Girls	20.0 (3.1)	20.8 (3.0)	21.4 (3.0)**
MHP			
Boys	9.7 (5.4)	10.1 (5.3)	10.4 (5.2)
Girls	10.0 (5.1)	11.3 (5.8)	12.0 (5.3)**
MWB			
Boys	57.1 (9.1)	57.3 (9.4)	55.9 (9.6)
Girls	55.0 (8.9)	52.2 (10.5)	50.6 (11.0)**
Total PA (CPM/d)			
Boys	474.4 (178.7)	476.8 (177.5)	460.9 (204.7)
Girls	402.2 (118.6)	399.9 (127.5)	383.5 (138.3)*
SED (min/d)			
Boys	548.4 (74.4)	541.7 (78.7)	542.1 (99.6)*
Girls	565.7 (55.4)	561.3 (64.6)	564.1 (69.6)
LPA (min/d)			
Boys	172.2 (34.1)	167.6 (34.3)	140.8 (37.3)**
Girls	161.4 (32.3)	153.9 (32.2)	137.6 (30.4)**
MVPA (min/d)			
Boys	63.9 (22.9)	62.4 (24.3)	58.1 (26.7)*
Girls	54.0 (18.5)	53.6 (19.4)	50.1 (21.4)*
Meeting act.rec (%)			
Boys	53.3	53.6	43.8
Girls	36.3	37.1	29.5

**Table 1:** Descriptive characteristics of the study sample by sex, all time points (mean ± SD unless otherwise specified)

*Note.* BMI = body mass index, MHP = mental health problems, MWB = mental wellbeing, Total PA (CPM) = average daily counts per minute, SED = average daily sedentary behaviour, LPA = average daily light physical activity, MVPA = average daily moderate to vigorous physical activity, Meeting act.rec = meeting national recommendations for PA, GPA = grade point average, CPM/d = counts per minute per day, min/d = minutes per day.

\* Significant change of variable between T1 to T3,  $p \le 0.5$ . Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T3 (n = 177-269)

\*\* Significant change of variable between T1 to T3, p ≤.001. Tests are performed on subsamples with valid measurements on outcome variable in T1 and T3 (n = 177-269).

Prospective analyses showed that an increase in SED was positively associated with MWB score in T3 among boys (Figure 2). The magnitude of the association translates to an increase in SED of 60 min from T1 to T3 being equivalent to a 3.2 points higher score in MWB. Among girls, an increase in total PA was positively associated with MWB score in T3 (Figure 3). As a change of 1 cpm is too small to

reflect any meaningful change in outcome variable, the value is scaled up 100 times, showing

changes in outcome variable occurring after changes of 100 cpm. This change corresponds to an

increase in daily activity level of approximately 20 %. Such an increase in activity level will generate

an increased score in MWB of 1.13 points. No associations were found between changes in any

movement categories (total PA, MVPA, SED) and score on MHP in T3, neither for girls nor boys

(Figure 2 & 3). In the reversed model (Additional files 1 & 2), changes in MHP/MWB were used as

predictors and measures of movement categories [total PA, MVPA and SED] in T3 were the

outcomes. Neither of these analyses showed any significant relationships between the variables of

interest among boys or girls, posing no evidence for a bi-directional association.

Note: MHP = Mental health problems, MWB = Mental Wellbeing, MVPA = Moderate to Vigorous Physical activity, SED = Sedentary behaviour

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling. All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in dependent variables occurring after changes of 100 CPM.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, ΔSED, baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

 $^{c}$ Adjusted for accelerometer wear time,  $\Delta$ MVPA, baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

**Figure 2.** Association between change in intensities of PA (2016-2018) and mental health outcomes in 2018 among boys. (n = 139-159).

Note: MHP = Mental health problems, MWB = Mental Wellbeing, MVPA = Moderate to Vigorous Physical activity, SED = Sedentary behaviour

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling. All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in dependent variables occurring after changes of 100 CPM.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, ΔSED, baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

<sup>c</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, ΔMVPA, baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

**Figure 3.** Association between change in intensities of PA (2016-2018) and mental health outcomes in 2018 among girls. (n = 196-222).

Analyses of differences in MHP and MWB at T3 for different PA transition profiles showed a

significant difference in MHP-score at T3 between 'inactive maintainers' and 'move to active'

(p=.013), and between 'active maintainers' and 'move to active' (p=.018) in the crude analyses (Table

2a and 2b). However, both differences disappeared in the adjusted analyses. In the adjusted

analyses, a significant difference in MHP-score at T3 was found between 'inactive maintainers' and

'move to inactive', where 'move to inactive' scored 1.3 units higher than 'inactive maintainers'

(p=.033).

**Table 2a:** Inactive maintainers vs three transition profiles on mental health problems and mental wellbeing at Time 3 (linear regression results).

	Inactive	Move to			Move to			Active		
	maintainers	inactive			active			maintainers		
	(n=202)	(n=83)			(n=53)			(n=99)		
		β	95 %CI	р	β	95 %CI	р	β	95 %CI	Р
MHP <sup>a</sup>	ref.	1.11	-0.24,	.106	2.07	0.44,	.013	-0.09	-1.37,	.887
			2.45			3.69			1.19	
MHP <sup>b</sup>	ref.	1.30	0.11,	.033	0.47	-1.00,	.533	0.41	-0.73,	.480
			2.48			1.93			1.54	
MWB <sup>a</sup>	ref.	-0.45	-3.24,	.755	1.03	-2.41,	.557	1.62	-1.01,	.227
			2.35			4.46			4.25	
MWB <sup>b</sup>	ref.	-1.59	-4.26,	.240	1.24	-2.05,	.460	0.77	-1.72,	.543
			1.07			4.52			3.26	

Note. MHP<sup>a</sup> ref. = 10.50, MHP<sup>b</sup> ref. = 0.74. MWB<sup>a</sup> ref. = 52.32, MWB<sup>b</sup> ref. = 36.38. MHP = Mental health problems (T3), MWB = Mental wellbeing (T3)

<sup>a</sup> Crude

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for baseline MHP/MWB, baseline sex, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status and baseline season of data collection

<b>Table 2b:</b> Active maintainers vs three transition	profiles on mental	health problems	and mental
wellbeing at Time 3 (linear regression results).			

	Active	Move to			Move to			Inactive		
	maintainers	inactive			active			maintainers		
	(n=99)	(n=83)			(n=53)			(n=202)		
		β	95 %CI	р	β	95 %CI	р	β	95 %CI	Р
MHP <sup>a</sup>	ref.	1.20	-0.34,	.127	2.16	0.37,	.018	0.09	-1.19,	.887
			2.74			3.95			1.37	
MHP <sup>b</sup>	ref.	0.89	-0.46,	.195	0.06	-1.53,	.944	-0.41	-1.54,	.480
			2.23			1.65			0.73	
MWB <sup>a</sup>	ref.	-2.07	-5.24,	.201	-0.59	-4.34,	.756	-1.62	-4.25,	.227
			1.11			3.15			1.01	
MWB <sup>b</sup>	ref.	-2.36	-5.31,	.116	0.47	-3.06,	.795	-0.77	-3.26,	.543
			0.58			3.98			1.72	

Note. MHP<sup>a</sup> ref. = 10.40, MHP<sup>b</sup> ref. = 1.15. MWB<sup>a</sup> ref. = 53.94, MWB<sup>b</sup> ref. = 37.15. MHP = Mental health problems (T3), MWB = Mental wellbeing (T3)

<sup>a</sup> Crude

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for baseline MHP/MWB, baseline sex, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status and baseline season of data collection

# Discussion

The purpose of this study was to explore whether changes in movement categories were associated with MHP or MWB. Our main results showed that an increase in SED from T1 to T3 was associated with a higher MWB score in T3 for boys. Among girls, results indicated that an increase in total PA from T1 to T3 was associated with a higher score on MWB in T3.

The results with respect to the positive association between SED and MWB for boys, contradicts results from a previous systematic review [13]. However, this review includes studies which have measured MWB using different instruments as well as setting no criteria for objective measures of movement patterns. Results might thus not be directly comparable with the current study. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to explore the relationship between objectively measured SED and MWB (measured by WEMWBS) among adolescents. Although there is yet no consensus regarding what constitutes an important change in WEMWBS, the instrument has been found to be responsive at both individual and group/population level [32]. At an individual level, a change of 3 or more units (1 SEM) has been interpreted as important [32]. The current study found a 60 min increase in SED to be equivalent to 3.2 points increase in WEMWBS. We interpret this as an important change in MWB among boys in this study. As SED was assessed using accelerometry, we do not know the context of this behaviour. Previous research has shown that distinct sedentary behaviours might associate differently with variables of mental health, e.g. screen-based vs nonscreen-based sedentary behaviour [33]. Moreover, recent research has found differences between passive screen time, which has been associated with mood and anxiety disorders, and active screen time which has not [34]. The social interplay which gaming, for example offers, might serve as one explanation for the positive association between SED and MWB in the current study. How SED relates to MWB remains an important focus for future research.

Among girls, results showed that an increase in total PA was associated with a higher score on MWB. As a rather large increase of PA-levels (about 20 %) was equivalent to a somewhat small increase in

MWB score (1.13 points), it was not considered to constitute an important change based on the suggested criteria [32]. Although weak, this association contradicts the results of Bell et al. [16] who found no evidence of an association between total PA and score on MWB (measured using the same instrument) among the same age group. However, Bell et al. [16] measured PA at baseline only and explored changes in outcome three years later. The results cannot, therefore, associate changes in PA with MWB score. The relationship between total PA and MWB among girls in particular, is thus in need of further exploration.

There were no significant associations between movement categories and MHP among girls or boys in the current study. These results are in line with previous research which found no association between volume- [16-18] or intensity [16, 18, 19] of objectively measured PA and measures of MHP among adolescents. This might suggest that MHP are better explained by variables other than change of movement categories. Toseeb et al. [18] discuss whether associations between PA and MHP might be small or non-existent during the adolescent years, as research more frequently reports positive associations in adult populations. Throughout all time points of this study, the sample means were low for MHP and high for MWB. Stronger effects of PA on mental disorders have been found in clinical samples [12], which might indicate that the overall good level of mental health in the study sample makes any contribution of PA negligible. Opdal et al. [19] also argue that in a study sample where few adolescents experience change in their mental health, it is difficult to find associations with change in PA levels. Although the score on MHP increased significantly among girls from T1 to T3, the mean scores of boys and girls in the current study are all within the normal range, and thus indicative of a mentally healthy study sample. The same pattern was also present among British adolescents of the same age where the mean scores were within the normal range and no association was found between volume or intensity of PA and MHP [16].

Analyses exploring the longitudinal associations between PA and MHP through categorisation of participants into different PA transition profiles nevertheless found participants belonging to the

'move to inactive' profile to have a significantly higher score on MHP than 'inactive maintainers'. Previous research has shown that participants changing from an active to a sedentary profile showed larger decrease in positive affect when compared with profiles that showed no reduction in PA [20]. There were, however, no equivalent differences between 'active maintainers' and 'move to inactive' in the current study, providing no clear evidence for such an explanation. In addition, the 95 % CI for the  $\beta$  'move to inactive' included a very small effect (0.11), which indicates that the 'move to inactive' group is not that different from the 'inactive maintainers'. There were no differences in MWB between different PA transition profiles, further elucidating the weak relationship between PA and MWB in the current study sample. These results contradict those of Sánchez-Oliva et al. [20] who found that belonging to active profiles (participants engaging in lower levels of SED and higher levels of PA) was associated with better MWB (measured by HRQoL and positive affect) than belonging to sedentary profiles (participants engaging in higher levels of SED and lower levels of PA). However, we used meeting/not meeting national PA recommendations in T1 and T3 as the criteria for placement within the different PA profiles. As small changes in activity level may tip a participant from one group to another (e.g. 59 min of MVPA in T1 and 61 min of MVPA in T3), there might not have been a large enough change to produce effects on variables of MHP and MWB. Post-hoc analysis was therefore conducted to explore whether the average MVPA for the different PA transition profiles varied significantly between T1 and T3 (see additional file 3). This analysis showed large and significant changes in MVPA within all groups except Active maintainers. Small changes between T1 and T3 can thus not explain the weak relationship with mental health outcomes.

# Methodological considerations

There are several strengths to this study. First, the longitudinal design with very high adherence and the use of accelerometry to measure PA alongside validated instruments to measure variables of mental health are key strengths. Both predictor variables and outcomes were measured at all time points. This created a strong longitudinal line of data and enabled exploration of the temporal nature

of potential relationships, as well as taking into account the changing patterns of PA, which was called for in a recent study [16]. Furthermore, we controlled for important covariates. However, both PA and mental health are multifactorial and complex constructs, which are influenced by several known and unknown factors [10, 35]. Consequently, there are likely to be additional important factors, that we have no measure of, which may override the possible associations between PA and variables of mental health. As there were few significant findings this may suggest that mental health outcomes are better explained by other factors than change in movement patterns, or that our measurements were not sufficiently sensitive to detect patterns that might be present. Although providing an objective measure of PA, accelerometry also has limitations. Monitors are not completely waterproof and must be removed while doing water activities. Further, they underestimate the energy cost for cycling, activities on a gradient and arm-intensive activities [36]. Registration of time spent swimming and cycling was conducted to account for some of these issues. As the main proportion of pupils reported 0-1 hour of both activities, swimming and cycling was not considered to contribute to underestimating the true activity level, at least not to a large degree. In addition, accelerometers might not be sufficiently sensitive to capture patterns of SED because of their limitations in the measurement of posture [33], which may have led to a less precise measure of SED among the study sample. Moreover, despite being validated instruments, the measures of mental health may also introduce limitations. The potential insensitivity to change over time (SDQ), as well as problems with discriminating sufficiently within high (SDQ and WEMWBS) and low scores (SDQ) [27, 37], may limit their ability to assess associations within overall healthy study samples.

Although the non-random sampling prevents us from drawing definite conclusions regarding generalisability, the sampling procedure nevertheless ensures that the participating schools are likely to be broadly representative of secondary schools found in Norway. However, because the participation rate was 60 % at T1, and no drop-out analysis was conducted, this might have introduced some selection bias into our findings. Nevertheless, the loss to follow-up was small,

providing a longitudinal participation rate of 97.0 % and 92.2 % in T2 and T3 respectively when T1 is set as the eligible sample.

# Conclusion

This study provided no clear evidence for any association between change of volume or intensity of PA and MHP among an overall healthy adolescent study sample. When MWB was the outcome, a weak association was found with change in total PA, solely among girls, and an association with change in SED among boys. However, as objective measures alone cannot provide information about the context of the SED, future research should combine objective measures with subjective measures to enable such contextual information to be captured and potentially generate a more detailed picture of the relationship between SED and variables of mental health. Further, there is a need to increase the sensitivity of measures of mental health to improve their ability to discriminate within high and low scores, advancing our knowledge on the relationship between PA and variables of mental health in overall mentally healthy study samples. Lastly, to avoid ambiguity, there is a profound need for researchers to be clear on what construct of mental health they are exploring, and how they operationalise their measurements.

# **Supplementary information**

- Additional file 1: Figure 1. Association between change in variables of mental health (2016-2018) and intensities of PA in 2018 among boys. (N= 139-159).
- Additional file 2: Figure 2. Association between change in variables of mental health (2016-2018) and intensities of PA in 2018 among girls. (N= 196-222).
- Additional file 3: Table 1. Differences in minutes in MVPA between T1 and T3 analysed by paired T-test.
- Additional file 4: Table 2. Score distribution of SDQ within a 4-band categorization in T1-T3 (n + %).
- Additional file 5: Figure 3. Score distribution of WEMWBS in T1-T3.

# Abbreviations

MHP: mental health problems; MWB: mental wellbeing; PA: physical activity; LPA: light intensity PA; MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous intensity PA; SED: sedentary behaviours; CPM: average counts·min<sup>-1</sup>; T1: time 1; T2: time 2; T3: time 3; WEMWBS: The Warwick-Edinburg Mental Wellbeing Scale; SDQ: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire; BMI: Body mass index; CI: confidence intervals; SES: Socio-economic status

# Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank all the schools involved in the study, especially the students who participated, as well as all those who helped with data collection. The authors would also like to thank the Research Council of Norway for funding this project.

# Authors' contributions

**IBV:** Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing - Original Draft, Visualization, **KRS:** Methodology, Formal analysis, Writing - Review & Editing, Visualization, **SAA:** Methodology, Formal analysis, Writing - Review & Editing, **MWF:** Formal analysis, Writing - Review & Editing **HET:** Conceptualization, Writing - Review & Editing, **MT:** Conceptualization, Project administration, Funding acquisition, Writing - Review & Editing.

# Funding

This work was supported by the Research Council of Norway (238212/F60).

# Availability of data and materials

The datasets generated and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

# Ethical approval and consent to participate

The study was registered with the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (project no. 48192). Written informed consent was obtained from both the participants and their legal guardians prior to data collection.

# **Consent for publication**

Not applicable.

# **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

# Author details

<sup>1</sup>Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences, Postboks 400, 2418 Elverum, Norway

<sup>2</sup>The Norwegian school of Sport Sciences, Postboks 4014 Ullevål stadion, 0806 Oslo, Norway

# References

- 1. Inchley J, Currie D, Budisavljevic S, Torsheim T, Jåstad A, Cosma A, et al., editors. Spotlight on adolescent health and well-being. Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in Schoolaged Children (HBSC) survey in Europe and Canada. International report. Volume 1. Key findings. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2020. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- 2. Collishaw S. Annual Research Review: Secular trends in child and adolescent mental health. *J* Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2015;56:370-93.
- Cosma A, Stevens G, Martin G, Duinhof EL, Walsh SD, Garcia-Moya I, et al. Cross-National Time Trends in Adolescent Mental Well-Being From 2002 to 2018 and the Explanatory Role of Schoolwork Pressure. Journal of Adolescent Health. 2020;66:50-8. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.02.010
- 4. Bor W, Dean AJ, Najman J, Hayatbakhsh R. Are child and adolescent mental health problems increasing in the 21st century? A systematic review. *ANZJP. 2014;48*(7):606-16. doi:10.1177/0004867414533834
- Vos T, Abbasi M, Abbasifard M, Abbastabar H, Abd-Allah F, Abdelalim A, et al. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet (British edition). 2020;396(10258):1204-22. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9
- Potrebny T, Wiium N, Haugstvedt A, Sollesnes R, Torsheim T, Wold B, et al. Health complaints among adolescents in Norway: A twenty-year perspective on trends. PLoS ONE. 2019;14(1). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0210509
- Patton GC, Sawyer SM, Santelli JS, Ross DA, Afifi R, Allen NB, et al. Our future: a Lancet commission on adolescent health and wellbeing. The Lancet. 2016;387(10036):2423-78. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00579-1
- Steene-Johannessen J, Hansen BH, Dalene KE, Kolle E, Northstone K, Moller NC, et al. Variations in accelerometry measured physical activity and sedentary time across Europe harmonized analyses of 47,497 children and adolescents. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2020;17(1):38. doi:10.1186/s12966-020-00930-x
- Dalene KE, Anderssen SA, Andersen LB, Steene-Johannessen J, Ekelund U, Hansen BH, et al. Secular and longitudinal physical activity changes in population-based samples of children and adolescents. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports. 2018;28(1):161-71. doi:10.1111/sms.12876
- 10. Lubans D, Richards J, Hillman CH, Faulkner G, Beauchamp M, Nilsson M, et al. Physical Activity for Cognitive and Mental Health in Youth: A Systematic Review of Mechanisms. Pediatrics. 2016;138(3). doi:10.1542/peds.2016-1642
- 11. Biddle SJH, Ciaccioni S, Thomas G, Vergeer I. Physical activity and mental health in children and adolescents: An updated review of reviews and an analysis of causality. Psychology of Sport & Exercise. 2018;42:146-55. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.08.011
- 12. Dale LP, Vanderloo L, Moore S, Faulkner G. Physical activity and depression, anxiety, and selfesteem in children and youth: An umbrella systematic review. Mental Health and Physical Activity. 2019;16:66-79. doi:10.1016/j.mhpa.2018.12.001
- Rodriguez-Ayllon M, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Estevez-Lopez F, Munoz NE, Mora-Gonzalez J, Migueles JH, et al. Role of Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in the Mental Health of Preschoolers, Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sports Medicine 2019;49(9):1383-410. doi:10.1007/s40279-019-01099-5
- Poitras VJ, Gray CE, Borghese MM, Carson V, Chaput J-P, Janssen I, et al. Systematic review of the relationships between objectively measured physical activity and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism. 2016;41(6):197-239. doi:10.1139/apnm-2015-0663
- 15. Westerhof G, Keyes C. Mental Illness and Mental Health: The Two Continua Model Across the Lifespan. Journal of Adult Development. 2010;17(2):110-9. doi:10.1007/s10804-009-9082-y

- 16. Bell SL, Audrey S, Gunnell D, Cooper A, Campbell R. The relationship between physical activity, mental wellbeing and symptoms of mental health disorder in adolescents: a cohort study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2019;16(1):138. doi:10.1186/s12966-019-0901-7
- 17. Van Dijk ML, Savelberg HHCM, Verboon P, Kirschner PA, De Groot RHM. Decline in physical activity during adolescence is not associated with changes in mental health. BMC public health. 2016;16:300. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-2983-3
- Toseeb U, Brage S, Corder K, Dunn V, Jones P, Owens M, et al. Exercise and Depressive Symptoms in Adolescents: A Longitudinal Cohort Study. JAMA Pediatrics. 2014;168(12):1093. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.1794
- 19. Opdal IM, Morseth B, Handegård BH, Lillevoll K, Ask H, Nielsen CS, et al. Change in physical activity is not associated with change in mental distress among adolescents: The Tromsø study: Fit Futures. BMC public health. 2019;19(1). doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7271-6
- Sánchez-Oliva D, Esteban-Cornejo I, Padilla-Moledo C, Pérez-Bey A, Veiga ÓL, Cabanas-Sánchez V, et al. Associations between physical activity and sedentary time profiles transitions and changes in well-being in youth: The UP&DOWN longitudinal study. Psychology of Sport & Exercise. 2020;47. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2019.101558
- 21. Barth Vedøy I, Anderssen SA, Tjomsland HE, Skulberg KR, Thurston M. Physical activity, mental health and academic achievement: a cross-sectional study of Norwegian adolescents. Mental Health and Physical Activity. 2020;18:100322. doi:10.1016/j.mhpa.2020.100322
- Migueles JH, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Ekelund U, Delisle Nyström C, Mora-Gonzalez J, Löf M, et al. Accelerometer Data Collection and Processing Criteria to Assess Physical Activity and Other Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Practical Considerations. Sports Medicine (Auckland, NZ). 2017;47(9). doi:10.1007/s40279-017-0716-0
- 23. Goodman R. The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A Research Note. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 1997;38(5):581-6. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997.tb01545.x
- 24. Goodman R. Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. 2001;40(11):1337-45. doi:10.1097/00004583-200111000-00015
- 25. Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, Platt S, Joseph S, Weich S, et al. The Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2007;5:63. doi:10.1186/1477-7525-5-63
- Clarke A, Friede T, Putz R, Ashdown J, Martin S, Blake A, et al. Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): Validated for teenage school students in England and Scotland. A mixed methods assessment. BMC public health. 2011;11:487-. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-487
- 27. Ringdal R, Bradley Eilertsen M-E, Bjørnsen HN, Espnes GA, Moksnes UK. Validation of two versions of the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale among Norwegian adolescents. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2017. doi:10.1177/1403494817735391
- 28. Chzhen Y, Moor I, Pickett W, Toczydlowska E, Stevens G. International trends in 'bottom-end' inequality in adolescent physical activity and nutrition: HBSC study 2002-2014. European journal of public health. 2018;28(4):624-30. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckx237
- 29. Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, Boyce WF, King MA, Pickett W. Overweight and obesity in Canadian adolescents and their associations with dietary habits and physical activity patterns. J Adolesc Health. 2004;35(5):360-7. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2003.11.095
- Rich C, Griffiths LJ, Dezateux C. Seasonal variation in accelerometer-determined sedentary behaviour and physical activity in children: a review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2012;9:49. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-9-49
- Hartley JEK, Levin K, Currie C. A new version of the HBSC Family Affluence Scale FAS III: Scottish Qualitative Findings from the International FAS Development Study. Child Indicators Research. 2016;9(1):233-45. doi:10.1007/s12187-015-9325-3

- 32. Maheswaran H, Weich S, Powell J, Stewart-Brown S. Evaluating the responsiveness of the Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (WEMWBS): Group and individual level analysis. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2012;10(1):156. doi:10.1186/1477-7525-10-156
- Carson V, Hunter S, Kuzik N, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Chaput JP, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth: an update. Applied physiology, nutrition, and metabolism = Physiologie appliquee, nutrition et metabolisme. 2016;41(6 Suppl 3):S240-65. doi:10.1139/apnm-2015-0630
- 34. Kim S, Favotto L, Halladay J, Wang L, Boyle MH, Georgiades K. Differential associations between passive and active forms of screen time and adolescent mood and anxiety disorders. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2020. doi:10.1007/s00127-020-01833-9
- 35. Whitelaw S, Teuton J, Swift J, Scobie G. The physical activity mental wellbeing association in young people: A case study in dealing with a complex public health topic using a 'realistic evaluation' framework. Mental Health and Physical Activity. 2010;3(2):61-6. doi:10.1016/j.mhpa.2010.06.001
- Adamo KB, Prince SA, Tricco AC, Connor-Gorber S, Tremblay M. A comparison of indirect versus direct measures for assessing physical activity in the pediatric population: a systematic review. International journal of pediatric obesity : IJPO : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2009;4(1):2-27. doi:10.1080/17477160802315010
- 37. Deighton J, Croudace T, Fonagy P, Brown J, Patalay P, Wolpert M. Measuring mental health and wellbeing outcomes for children and adolescents to inform practice and policy: a review of child self-report measures. Child and adolescent psychiatry and mental health. 2014;8:14. doi:10.1186/1753-2000-8-14



Figure 1. Flowchart of the study population and participation.



Note: MHP = Mental health problems, MWB = Mental Wellbeing, MVPA = Moderate to Vigorous Physical activity, SED = Sedentary behaviour

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling. All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in dependent variables occurring after changes of 100 CPM.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, ΔSED, baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

 $^{\rm c}$  Adjusted for accelerometer wear time,  $\Delta MVPA$ , baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

**Figure 2.** Association between change in intensities of PA (2016-2018) and mental health outcomes in 2018 among boys. (n = 139-159).



Note: MHP = Mental health problems, MWB = Mental Wellbeing, MVPA = Moderate to Vigorous Physical activity, SED = Sedentary behaviour

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling. All measures are scaled up 100 times showing changes in dependent variables occurring after changes of 100 CPM.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, ΔSED, baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

 $^{\rm c}$  Adjusted for accelerometer wear time,  $\Delta MVPA$ , baseline MHP/MWB, baseline BMI, baseline socio-economic status, baseline season of data collection and cluster sampling

**Figure 3.** Association between change in intensities of PA (2016-2018) and mental health outcomes in 2018 among girls. (n = 196-222).



Note: MHP = Mental health problems, MWB = Mental Wellbeing, MVPA = Moderate to Vigorous Physical activity, SED = Sedentary time

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, baseline sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

Additional file 1, figure 1. Association between change in variables of mental health (2016-2018) and intensities of PA in 2018 among boys. (N= 139-159)


Note: MHP = Mental health problems, MWB = Mental Wellbeing, MVPA = Moderate to Vigorous Physical activity, SED = Sedentary time

<sup>a</sup> Adjusted for baseline sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

<sup>b</sup> Adjusted for accelerometer wear time, baseline sex, BMI, SES, season of data collection and cluster sampling

Additional file 2, figure 2. Association between change in variables of mental health (2016-2018) and intensities of PA in 2018 among girls. (N= 196-222)

	n	T1 Mean MVPA (SD)	T3 Mean MVPA (SD)	t	р
Active maintainer	99	79.2 (15.1)	79.7 (17.7)	0.3	.755
Move to inactive	83	74.7 (13.3)	43.8 (11.3)	-15.0	<.001
Move to active	53	46.2 (10.9)	75.4 (17.3)	9.3	<.001
Inactive maintainers	202	42.8 (10.3)	37.3 (11.7)	-6.0	<.001

Additional file 3, table 1. Differences in minutes in MVPA between T1 and T3 analysed by paired T-test.

Additional file 4, table 2. Score distribution of SDQ within a 4-band categorization in T1-T3 (n + %).

	T1 (2016)	T2 (2017)	T3 (2018)
'Close to average' (0-14)	483 (84.0)	404 (75.0)	378 (77.5)
'Slightly raised' (15-17)	48 (8.3)	66 (12.2)	65 (13.3)
<b>'High'</b> (18-19)	14 (2.4)	27 (5.0)	32 (6.6)
<b>'Very high'</b> (20-40)	30 (5.2)	42 (7.8)	13 (2.7)
Total	575 (100)	539 (100)	488 (100)



Additional file 5, figure 3. Score distribution of WEMWBS in T1-T3.

## Appendix I:

### Questionnaire

Due to better readability of the pdf output of the online questionnaire from the 2<sup>nd</sup> data collection (2017), this version is attached. However, as Hedmark University College changed its' name to Inland Norway University of Applied Sciences this year, the new name and logo will thus appear on this output.



INFORMASJON OM SAMTYKKE
Skole, læring og psykisk helse prosjektet
Takk for at du er positiv til å delta i undersøkelsen vår. På denne måten hjelper du oss med å få bedre kunnskap om barn og ungdom sin psykiske helse. fysiske aktivitet og skolemiljø. Ungdommer fra 11 ulike skoler skal svare på de samme spørsmålene. Svarene dine skal være hemmelige, og ingen på skolen vil få lov til å se spørreskjemaet ditt etter at du har fylt dette ut.
For å få god kunnskap om ungdommer sin psykiske helse, fysiske aktivitet og skolemiljø er det til stor hjelp for oss at du svarer så ærlig som mulig på alle spørsmålene. Om det likevel er noen spørsmål du ikke ønsker å svare på, lar du dette stå åpent og går videre til neste spørsmål. Det er heller ingen svar som er rett eller galt, svar slik du virkelig føler. Om noe er forvirrende, be om hjelp, så skal vi hjelpe deg.
Noen av spørsmålene kan virke veldig like. Det skal de også være. Det er imidlertid viktig at du leser spørsmålene grundig (godt) fordi svaralternativene til spørsmålene vil variere.
Tusen takk for hjelpen!
Professor Miranda Thurston Prosjektleder
Jeg har lest teksten og ønsker å være med på undersøkelsen
6 siffer 6 siffer
ID-nummer



1. Hva er føds(																												
	7	с	4	Q	G	~	8	10	0 11	12	13	4	15	Jag 16	17 1	18	9 2	0 5.	1 22	23	24	25	26	27	28 2	6 3	ю О	1 Ja
Velg i nedtrekklistene	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	Õ	ŏ				0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	õ				0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0			
2. Er du gutt el	ler jen	te?																										
Gutt																												
Jente																												



# 3. Hva er den høyeste utdanningen du har tenkt til å ta? Sett bare et krysa Universitet eller høyskoleutdanning av høyere grad (f.eks. master, lektor, advokat, sivlingeniør, journalist) Universitet eller høyskoleutdanning av høyere grad (f.eks. master, lektor, advokat, sivlingeniør, journalist) Urderegående skole: studiespesialisering / idrettsfag / musikk, dans og drama Videregående skole: studiespesialisering / idrettsfag / musikk, dans og drama Videregående skole: studiespesialisering / idrettsfag / musikk, dans og drama I ar ikke bestemt meg Annet: Annet: Annet: Nitiket bastemt tal I hniket land er du født? I horge I sverige, Finland, Danmark eller Island Monet land i Europa Annet land i Europa Vet ike



5.1.	l hvilket land er din mor født?
$\bigcirc$	l Norge
$\bigcirc$	I Sverige, Finland, Danmark eller Island
$\bigcirc$	Annet land i Europa
$\bigcirc$	Annet land utenfor Europa
$\bigcirc$	Vet ikke
5.2.	l hvilket land er din far født?
$\bigcirc$	l Norge
$\bigcirc$	I Sverige, Finland, Danmark eller Island
$\bigcirc$	Annet land i Europa
$\bigcirc$	Annet land utenfor Europa
$\bigcirc$	Vet ikke



jobb?			ę	ke eller treffer ikke min far	
6. Har din fa	)a	Nei	🔵 Jeg vet i	Jeg har	

Denne undersøkelsen er produsert og tilrettelagt av Høgskolen i Innlandet



kehus, restaurant, skole)	kepleier, kelner, lærer)	øt.				
6.a.1. Kan du da skrive hvor han jobber? (for eksempel sy	6.a.2. Skriv ned nøyaktig hva han gjør der (for eksempel sy	6.b.1. Vet du hva din far gjør? Sett kryss ved det passer be Han er svk. pensionist eller student	<ul> <li>Han søker jobb</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Han er hjemme på heltid (tar seg av hus og barn)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Jeg vet ikke</li> </ul>	



				ikke min mor	
n mor jobb?			ret ikke	nar ikke eller treffer	
7. Har dir	) Ja	Nei	) Jeg	🔵 Jeg l	

Denne undersøkelsen er produsert og tilrettelagt av Høgskolen i Innlandet



7.a.1. Kan du da skrive hvor hun jobber (for eksempel sykehus, restaurant, skole)	7.a.2. Skriv ned nøyaktig hva hun gjør der (for eksempel sykepleier, kelner, lærer)	7.b.1. Vet du hva din mor gjør? Sett kryss ved det svaret som passer best	<ul> <li>Hun søker jobb</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Hun er hjemme på heltid (tar seg av hus og barn)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Jeg vet ikke</li> </ul>	



8. Har familien din bil?
Rei
🔘 Ja, en
<ul> <li>Ja, to eller flere</li> </ul>
9. Har du eget soverom?
© Rei
el 🔘
10. Hvor mange ganger reiste du og familien din på ferie til utlandet i fjor?
<ul> <li>Ingen</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>En gang</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>To ganger</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Mer enn to ganger</li> </ul>





• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
---------------------------------------



<ul> <li>15. Hvor bor du?</li> <li>1 en enebolig</li> <li>1 et rekkehus (ta også med to- eller firemannsbolig)</li> <li>1 en leilighet</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>16. Har familien din hytte eller feriehus/ferieleilighet i Norge?</li> <li>Nei</li> <li>En</li> <li>To</li> <li>Flere enn to</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>17. Har familien din hytte eller feriehus/ferieleilighet i utlandet?</li> <li>Nei</li> <li>En</li> <li>To</li> <li>Flere enn to</li> </ul>



				ell	Jeg har ikke Ier treffer ikke
	Veldig lett	Lett	Vanskelig	Veldig vanskelig de	nne personer
Far	٢	0	0	0	0
Stefar / mors kjæreste	0	0	0	0	0
Mor	٢		۲	١	
Stemor / fars kjæreste	•	0	0	0	0
Eldre brødre	٢		۲	١	
Eldre søstre	•	0	0	0	0
Beste venn	٢		۲	0	0
Venner av samme kjønn	•	0	0	0	0
Venner av motsatt kjønn	۲	0	0	0	0



amilien mi	n prøver virke	elig å hjelpe m	60			
vært uenig						Svært enig
_	0 0	() ო	04	م ()	0 ()	∠
eg får den	følelsesmess	sige hjelpen oç	j støtten jeg t	trenger fra far	nilien min	
vært uenig						Svært enig
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
-	2	ç	4	5	9	7
eg kan pra	te med famili	en min om pro	blemene min	e		
vært uenig						Svært enig
0	0	0	۲	0	0	0
-	2	ę	4	5	9	7
amilien mi	n ønsker å hj	elpe meg i å ta	a beslutninge			
wært uenig						Svært enig
١	0	0	0	0	0	0
-	2	ŝ	4	LC.	9	7



			Verken enig		
	Helt enig	Enig	eller uenig	Uenig	Helt uenig
min familie føler jeg de viktige tingene blir snakket om	0	0	0	0	0
min familie blir jeg hørt når jeg forteller om noe	0	0	0	0	0
min familie stiller vi spørsmål når vi ikke forstår hverandre	۲		۲	١	١
min familie prater vi sammen til vi har oppklart en misforståelse					



pplevelse for hvert utsagn de siste 2 uken	-i-					
	kke i det hele tatt					-lele tiden
	0	-	7	З	4	S
Jeg har vært optimistisk med hensyn til fremtiden	۲	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har følt meg nyttig	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har følt meg avslappet	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har følt interesse for andre mennesker	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har hatt masse energi	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har løst problemer på en god måte	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har tenkt klart	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har vært fornøyd med meg selv	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har følt nærhet til andre mennesker	0	۲	0	0	0	0
Jeg har følt meg selvsikker	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har vært i stand til å ta beslutninger	0	۲	0	١	0	0
Jeg har følt at noen er glad i meg	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har vært interessert i nye ting	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jeg har vært i godt humør	0	0	0	0	0	0



	Stemmer svært	Stemmer nokså	Stemmer nokså	Stemmer svært
	godt	godt	dårlig	dårlig
Jeg synes jeg er like smart som andre på min alder		۲	۲	۲
Jeg synes det er ganske vanskelig å få venner	0	0	0	0
Jeg er flink i all slags sport				۲
Jeg er ikke fornøyd med utseende mitt	0	0	0	0
Når jeg er interessert i å bli kjæreste med en, så er det gode muligheter for at den andre vil være interessert i meg også	٢	٢	٢	۲
Jeg klarer å få virkelig nære venner	0	0	0	0
Jeg er ofte skuffet over meg selv		٢		۲
Jeg er ganske sein med å bli ferdig med skolearbeidet	•	0	•	0
Jeg har mange venner	0	٢	0	۲
Jeg tror jeg kan gjøre det bra i nesten hvilken som helst ny sport	0	0	0	0
Jeg ønsker at kroppen min var annerledes	0	٢	0	۲
Jeg prøver å sjekke opp de som jeg er virkelig nteressert i	0	0	0	0

	godt	godt	dårlig	dårlig
Jeg har en nær venn som jeg kan dele hemmeligheter med	۲			
Jeg liker <u>ikke</u> den måten jeg lever livet mitt på	0	0	0	0
Jeg gjør det svært godt på skolen		0	0	0
Andre ungdommer har vanskelig for å like meg	0	0	0	0
Jeg synes at jeg er bedre i sport enn andre på min alder				
Jeg ønsker at jeg så annerledes ut	0	0	0	•
De som jeg kunne tenkt meg å bli kjæreste med, vil også kunne bli interessert i meg	١			
Jeg har en venn som jeg kan dele ting med	0	0	0	0
Jeg er stort sett fornøyd med meg selv	۲	۲	٢	0
Jeg har vansker med å svare riktig på skolen	0	0	•	•
Jeg er populær blant jevnaldrende		0		0
Jeg gjør det ikke så godt i nye øvelser i gymtimene	0	0	0	0
22. Nedenfor er noen spørsmål om hvordan c	iu synes du selv	r er. Kryss av f	or det som pass	ser best på deg
		Stemmer nokså	Stemmer nokså	Stemmer svært
	Stemmer godt	godt	dårlig	dårlig
Jeg synes jeg ser bra ut		0	0	0
Jeg tror at jeg er spennende og interessant for de som vil ha en kjæreste	0	0	0	0
Jeg synes det er vanskelig å få venner som jeg virkelig kan stole på	١			
Jeg liker meg selv slik jeg er	0	0	0	0

 $\bigcirc$ 

 $\bigcirc$ 

Jeg tror jeg er ganske intelligent Jeg føler at jevnaldrende godtar meg

Jeg synes ikke at jeg har så sterk kropp som andre på min alder	0	0	0	0
Jeg liker utseende mitt veldig godt	•	0	0	0
Jeg forsøker vanligvis ikke å få den jeg er interessert i til å bli interessert i meg			۲	0
Jeg har ikke noen god venn som jeg kan dele virkelig personlige ting med	•	0	0	0
Jeg er svært fornøyd med hvordan jeg er	0	0	0	0



### Sjelden eller al 24. I løpet av de siste 6 månedene: Hvor ofte har du hatt følgende plager? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Omtrent hver måned $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ Nå kommer noen spørsmål om helse og livskvalitet Omtrent hver uke $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ Mer enn èn gang i uka $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ Omtrent hver dag $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ $\bigcirc$ 23. Vil du si at din helse er..? Vært irritabel eller i dårlig humør Vondt i nakke og skulder Følt deg nedfor (trist) Vanskelig for å sovne Lei og utslitt (sliten) Ganske god Svært god Vondt i ryggen Vondt i magen 🔵 Dårlig God Hodepine Nervøs Svimmel Redd



e av en stige. Øverst på stig ge livet for deg. or synes du at du står på sti best forteller hvor du står. liv
er er et bild relt sett hvu neret som t Best mulig Dårligst mu

Denne undersøkelsen er produsert og tilrettelagt av Høgskolen i Innlandet



# Sterke og svake sider

selv om du ikke er helt sikker eller synes utsagnet virker rart. Svar på grunnlag av hvordan du har hatt det de 26. Vennligst kryss av for hvert utsagn: Stemmer ikke, Stemmer delvis eller Stemmer helt. Prøv å svare på alt

siste 6 månedene.

		Sierniner Genvis	SIETITIET TIELL
Jeg prøver å være hyggelig mot andre. Jeg bryr meg om hva de føler	0	0	0
Jeg er rastløs. Jeg kan ikke være lenge i ro	0	0	0
Jeg har ofte hodepine, vondt i magen eller kvalme	١		0
Jeg deler gjerne med andre (mat, spill, andre ting)	0	0	0
Jeg blir ofte sint og har kort lunte	١		0
Jeg er ofte for meg selv. Jeg gjør som regel ting alene	0	0	0
Jeg gjør som regel det jeg får beskjed om	١		0
Jeg bekymrer meg mye	0	0	0
Jeg stiller opp hvis noen er såret, lei seg eller føler seg dårlig			0
Jeg er stadig urolig eller i bevegelse	0	0	0
Jeg har en eller flere gode venner			0
Jeg slåss mye. Jeg kan få andre til å gjøre det jeg vil	0	0	0
Jeg er ofte lei meg, nedfor eller på gråten	0	0	0
Jeg blir som regel likt av andre på min alder	0	0	0
Jeg blir lett distrahert, jeg synes det er vanskelig å konsentrere meg	0	0	0
Jeg blir nervøs i nye situasjoner. Jeg blir lett usikker	0	0	0
Jeg er snill mot de som er yngre enn meg	0	0	0

Andre barn eller unge plager eller mobber meg       Image       I	Jeg blir ofte beskyldt for å lyve eller jukse	0	0	0
Jeg tilbyr meg ofte å hjelpe andre (foreldre, lærere, andre barn/unge) <ul> <li>Deg tenker meg om før jeg handler (gjør noe)</li> <li>Jeg tar ting som ikke er mine hjemme, på skolen eller andre steder</li> <li>Deg kommer bedre overens med voksne enn de på min egen alder</li> <li>Deg er redd for mye, jeg blir lett skremt</li> <li>Def fulfører oppgaver. Jeg er god til å konsentrere meg</li> <li>Def fulfører oppgaver. Jeg er god til å konsentrere meg</li> <li>Def for mye</li> <li>Def f</li></ul>	Andre barn eller unge plager eller mobber meg	0	0	
Jeg tenker meg om før jeg handler (gjør noe) <ul> <li>Deg tar ting som ikke er mine hjernme, på skolen eller andre steder</li> <li>Jeg kommer bedre overens med voksne enn de på min egen alder</li> <li>Jeg er redd for mye, jeg blir lett skremt</li> <li>Jeg fullfører oppgaver. Jeg er god til å konsentrere meg</li> <li>Independent</li> <li>Indepndent</li> <li>Independent</li> <li>Independent&lt;</li></ul>	Jeg tilbyr meg ofte å hjelpe andre (foreldre, lærere, andre barn/unge)	0	0	0
Jeg tar ting som ikke er mine hjemme, på skolen eller andre steder <ul> <li></li></ul>	Jeg tenker meg om før jeg handler (gjør noe)	0	0	١
Jeg kommer bedre overens med voksne enn de på min egen alder       O       O         Jeg er redd for mye, jeg blir lett skremt       O       O         Jeg fullfører oppgaver. Jeg er god til å konsentrere meg       O       O	Jeg tar ting som ikke er mine hjemme, på skolen eller andre steder	0	0	0
Jeg er redd for mye, jeg blir lett skremt Jeg fullfører oppgaver. Jeg er god til å konsentrere meg	Jeg kommer bedre overens med voksne enn de på min egen alder		۲	۲
Jeg fullfører oppgaver. Jeg er god til å konsentrere meg	Jeg er redd for mye, jeg blir lett skremt	0	0	0
	Jeg fullfører oppgaver. Jeg er god til å konsentrere meg		۲	۲

Denne undersøkelsen er produsert og tilrettelagt av Høgskolen i Innlandet



Nå kommer noen spørsmål om skolen og skoledagen op på en skoledag ?			ovis nå en skoledan?					
Nå kommer noen 27. Når står du vanligvis opp på en skoledag ?	<ul> <li>Far 6.30</li> <li>Mellom 6.30 og 7.00</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Mellom 7.00 og 7.30</li> <li>Mellom 7.30 og 8.00</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Etter 8.00</li> <li>28 Når lenner du den vanlinvis nå en skoledan?</li> </ul>	Før 20.00	<ul> <li>Mellom 20.00 og 21.00</li> <li>Mellom 21.00 og 21.00</li> </ul>	Mellom 22.00 og 23.00	Mellom 23.00 og 24.00	Etter 24.00



29. Hvordan kommer du deg vanligvis til og fra skolen på denne årstiden ? Seti ett kryss for Til skolen og ett kryss for Fra skolen
Til skolen?
Med bil eller motorsykkel
Med buss, trikk, t-bane eller tog
Med sykkel
O Gár
Fra skolen?
Med bil eller motorsykkel
Med buss, trikk, t-bane eller tog
Med sykkel
O Gàr



30. Hvor lang tid bruker du vanligvis til og fra skolen på denne årstiden?
Sett ett kryss for <b>Til skolen</b> og ett kryss for <b>Fra skolen</b>
Til skolen?
Mindre enn 5 minutter
<ul> <li>6-15 minutter</li> </ul>
16-30 minutter
31 minutter til 1 time
Mer enn en time
Fra skolen?
Mindre enn 5 minutter
<ul> <li>6-15 minutter</li> </ul>
16-30 minutter
31 minutter til 1 time
<ul> <li>Mer enn en time</li> </ul>



<ol> <li>Hva gjør du vanligvis på i friminuttene? (Kryss av for alle altemativ som gjelder for deg)</li> </ol>	Spiller ballspill	Deltar i andre aktiviteter	📄 Gầr tur	Shakker med vennene mine	Holder på med telefonen min	Annet	31.1. Annet: Nevn hva	



er)?					
(både arbeid du skal gjøre på skolen og lek					
32. Hvor stresset blir du av skolearbeidet (	<ul> <li>Ikke i det hele tatt</li> </ul>	Litt	<ul> <li>Ganske mye</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Svært mye</li> </ul>	

Denne undersøkelsen er produsert og tilrettelagt av Høgskolen i Innlandet



# De neste spørsmålene handler om hva du synes om å gå på skolen Du skal kun sette ett kryss for hver setning. Synes du det er vanskelig å svare, sett kryss i den ruten som er nærmest det du mener. $\overline{\mathbb{P}}$ IJ $\bigcirc$ nei <u>e</u> <u>a</u> <u>m</u> ≰ Hvis du er helt enig i setningen setter du et kryss på stor JA ₹ Du skal tenke på hvordan du har hatt det på skolen i høst. Jeg synes det er viktig å gå på skolen for å lære Jeg blir ofte mobbet og plaget av andre elever Det er viktig for meg å gjøre det bra på skolen Hvis du er nesten enig setter du kryss på liten ja Hvis du er helt uenig setter du kryss på stor NEI Hvis du er litt uenig setter du kryss på liten nei Jeg synes ofte det er kjedelig i timene Jeg liker vanligvis å gå på skolen Jeg liker meg godt i friminuttene Jeg liker meg godt i klassa 33. Faglig trivsel **34. Sosial trivsel**


## De neste spørsmålene handler om lærerne dine

Nedenfor skal du ta stilling til en rekke setninger om læreren din. Du har sikkert flere lærere, men her skal du kun tenke på kontaktlæreren din når du svarer. Du skal sette kryss i den ruten som passer best for hvordan din kontaktlærere er overfor deg og andre elever i basisgruppa/klassa. Du kan velge mellom svaralternativene: «Helt enig», «Litt uenig», «Helt uenig», «Helt uenig».

### 35. Relasjoner mellom lærer og elev

	Helt enig	Litt enig	Litt uenig	Helt uenig
Jeg har god kontakt med læreren	۲		۲	۲
Læreren liker meg	0	0	0	0
Når jeg har problemer eller er lei meg kan jeg snakke med læreren				
Læreren roser meg når jeg jobber hardt	0	0	0	0
Læreren gjør alt for å hjelpe meg til å lære mest mulig	٢	١	۲	۲
Læreren bryr seg om hvordan jeg har det	0	0	0	0
Læreren gjør meg flau hvis jeg ikke vet svarene	٢	١	۲	۲
Læreren bruker lite tid til å snakke med meg	0	0	0	0
Læreren oppmuntrer meg når jeg ikke får til det jeg holder på med				0



# De neste spørsmålene handler om klassa og klassekammeratene dine

Her kommer det noen setninger som handler om klassa du går i og klassekameratene dine. Du skal svare ut fra hvordan du mener det vanligvis er i klassa. Du kan også her velge mellom svaralternativene: «Hett enig», «Litt enig», «Litt uenig», «Helt uenig».

36. Relasjoner mellom elever – læringskultur				
	Helt enig	Litt enig	Litt uenig	Helt uenig
Det er lett å lage grupper som skal arbeide sammen i timene.		0	0	
Elevene i denne klassa liker å hjelpe hverandre med oppgaver og lekser.	0	0	0	0
Elevene jobber hardt i timene.	0			
Vi får som regel gjort det vi skal i timene.	0	0	0	0
Klassekameratene mine hjelper meg, hvis det er noe jeg ikke forstår	١			
37. Relasjoner mellom elever – sosialt miljø				
	Helt enig	Litt enig	Litt uenig	Helt uenig
Hvis noen i klassa er lei seg eller har problemer så snakker klassekameratene med han/henne.	۲	٢	۲	١
Hvis noen blir dårlig eller urettferdig behandlet så hjelper klassekameratene han/henne.	0	0	0	0
Elevene i denne klassa kjenner hverandre godt.		0	0	0
Elevene i klassa er gode venner.	0	0	0	0
Det er noen elever i denne klassa som ikke går så godt sammen.		0	0	
Jeg har blitt venner med mange i denne klassa.	0	0	0	0

I denne klassa blir du godtatt selv om du ikke er like flink som

eller litt annerledes enn andre.	0	٢	٢	0
Klassekameratene bryr seg ikke om hvordan jeg har det	0	0	0	0
Klassekameratene mine liker meg.	0			0
Det er elever i klassa som jeg ikke går så godt sammen med.	0	0	0	0



neste spørsmålene handler om fritid og fysisk aktivitet	lvor mange timer har du drevet fysisk aktivitet i form av svømming?																	lvor mange timer har du drevet fysisk aktivitet i form av sykling?	
De neste si	38. Tenk på de siste 7 dagene: Hvor man	<ul> <li>0 timer</li> </ul>	1 time	2 timer	<ul> <li>3 timer</li> </ul>	4 timer	<ul> <li>5 timer</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>6 timer</li> </ul>	7 timer	8 timer	<ul> <li>9 timer</li> </ul>	10 timer	<ul> <li>11 timer</li> </ul>	12 timer	<ul> <li>13 timer</li> </ul>	14 timer	Mer enn 14 timer	39. Tenk på de siste 7 dagene: Hvor man	<ul> <li>0 timer</li> </ul>



Denne undersøkelsen er produsert og tilrettelagt av Høgskolen i Innlandet



		Under 1 gang		Flere ganger
	Aldri	per uke	1 gang per uke	per uke
Utholdenhetsidrett (f.eks. løp, langrenn, sykling, svømming, aerobic)	۲		۲	۲
-ag/ballidretter (f.eks. squash, håndball, fotball, ishockey)	0	0	0	0
Ξstetisk idrett (f.eks. dans, tum, rytmisk gymnastikk)	۲	0	۲	0
styrkeidrett (f.eks. bryting, vekttrening)	0	0	0	0
<pre>campsport (f.eks. judo, karate, taekwondo)</pre>	١	۲	۲	0
rekniske idretter (f.eks. ridning, alpint, telemark, friidrett, snowboard, golf, skateboard, skøyter)	0	0	0	0
Risikoidrett (f.eks. elvepadling, fjellklatring, paragliding)	0	۲	0	۲



ſ

Ishockey, Ba Kampsport Klatring (ute Klatring (inn Fjelltur Orientering Ridning Andre aktivt 1.1. Andre aktivt	ndy, Innebandy		ndørs)	endørs)				ster	hed noen av disse aktivitetene	teter (nevn hvilke)
	Ishockey, Bandy	Kampsport	Klatring (utendø	Klatring (innend	Fjelltur	Orientering	Ridning	Andre aktivteter	Driver ikke med	1.1. Andre aktivitet

Denne undersøkelsen er produsert og tilrettelagt av Høgskolen i Innlandet



42. I altern	øpet av en vanlig uke i vinterhalvåret: Hvilke av disse aktivitetene deltar du på i fritiden? (kryss av alle ariv som dielder ded).
	Gåtur
	Jogge/løpetur
	Friidrett
	Svømming
	Sykling
	Rulleski
	Dans (f eks. selskapsdans, ballett, Hip Hop etc.)
	Aerobics
	Turn
	Styrketrening
	Fotball
	Håndball
	Basketball
	Volleybail
	Tennis
	Squash
	Golf
	Ishockey, Bandy, Innebandy

											vitetene	
Kampsport Fjelltur	Klatring (innendørs)	Isklatring	Orientering	Ridning	Langrenn	Ejellski/topptur	Alpint (Slalåm/Telemark)	Snowboard	Skøyter	Andre aktiviteter	Driver ikke med noen av disse akti	2.1 Andre aktiviteter (nevn hvilke)

Denne undersøkelsen er produsert og tilrettelagt av Høgskolen i Innlandet



43. Hvem er du som regel i fysisk aktivitet sammen med på fritiden? [Kryss av for alle alternativ som gjelder for
deg]
Ereldre
Søsken (bror og/eller søster)
Venner
Lagkamerater
Trener
Andre
43.1. Andre (nevn hvem)

Denne undersøkelsen er produsert og tilrettelagt av Høgskolen i Innlandet



Ike aktivitetsarenaer bruker du vanligvis? (kryss av for alle som -otballbane drettshall Svømmehall Treningssenter Skogen -øyper/stier Elv/stryk Elv/stryk Sjø/innsjø Andre arenaer 3jø/innsjø Andre arenaer Bruker ikke noen av disse arenaene arker ikke noen av disse arenaene <b>indre arenaer (nevn hvilke)</b>	gjelder deg)													
	Hvilke aktivitetsarenaer bruker du vanligvis? (kryss av for alle som Fotballbane	) Idrettshall	Svømmehall	Treningssenter	Skogen	Løyper/stier	Elvístryk	Fjell	Sjø/innsjø	Natrefelt	Nærmiljøanlegg	Andre arenaer	Bruker ikke noen av disse arenaene	1. Andre arenaer (nevn hvilke)



45. Hvor ofte er du engasjert med fysisk aktivitet på fritiden?
<ul> <li>Aldri</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Sjeldnere enn en gang hver måned</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>1-2 ganger i måneden</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Minst en gang i uka</li> </ul>
2 ganger i uka eller mer
<ul> <li>3-4 ganger i uka</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Nesten daglig</li> </ul>



	Holder ikke på med	2-3 ganger i måneden		2 ganger i uken eller
	denne typen aktivitet	eller sjeldnere	Omtrent 1 dag i uken	oftere
/lusikk (spiller et instrument, ;ynger i kor)	٢	٢		0
Kunst (f.eks tegning eller maling)	0	0	0	0
Saming	۲	۲	0	
Sjakk	0	0	0	0
3esøker museum eller tunstgalleri	٢	٢	٢	
Drganiserte aktiviteter i grupper f.eks kirkelige aktiviteter, speider, irama)	0	0	0	0
Annet	0	۲	0	٢





### Appendix II:

WEMWBS original Norwegian version

### WEMWBS

Nedenfor finner du en del utsagn om følelser og tanker.

Vennligst kryss av for det som best beskriver din opplevelse for hvert utsagn de siste 2 ukene.

		lkke i det hele tatt	Sjelden	En del av tiden	Ofte	Hele tiden
1.	Jeg har vært optimistisk med hensyn til fremtiden	1	2	3	4	5
2.	Jeg har følt meg nyttig	1	2	3	4	5
3.	Jeg har følt meg avslappet	1	2	3	4	5
4.	Jeg har følt interesse for andre mennesker	1	2	3	4	5
5.	Jeg har hatt masse energi	1	2	3	4	5
6.	Jeg har håndtert problemer godt	1	2	3	4	5
7.	Jeg har tenkt klart	1	2	3	4	5
8.	Jeg har vært fornøyd med meg selv	1	2	3	4	5
9.	Jeg har følt nærhet til andre mennesker	1	2	3	4	5
10.	Jeg har følt meg selvsikker	1	2	3	4	5
11.	Jeg har vært i stand til å ta beslutninger	1	2	3	4	5
12.	Jeg har følt meg elsket	1	2	3	4	5
13.	Jeg har vært interessert i nye ting	1	2	3	4	5
14.	Jeg har vært i godt humør	1	2	3	4	5

Translated by Smith O.R.F.<sup>1</sup>, Alves D.E.<sup>1</sup>, Haug E.M.M.<sup>2</sup>, Aarø L.E.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1)</sup> Division of Mental Health, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, Kalfarveien 31, 5018 Bergen, Norway

<sup>2)</sup> NLA University College, Postboks 74, Sandviken, 5812 Bergen, Norway

Appendix III:

WEMWBS Norwegian back-translations from bokmål to nynorsk

Translations from bokmål into nynorsk

Original bokmålsversjon:	Nynorsk oversetjing (Person 1)	Nynorsk oversetjing (Person 2)
Nedenfor finner du en del utsagn	Nedanfor finn du ein del utsegn	Nedanfor finn du ein del utsegn
om følelser og tanker. Vennligst	om kjensler og tankar. Ver	om følelsar og tankar. Vær
kryss av for det som best beskriver	vennleg å kryss av for det som	venleg å kryss av for det som
din opplevelse for hvert utsagn de	best skildrar di oppleving for kvar	best skildrar di oppleving for
siste 2 ukene. (Svarkategorier fra	utsegn dei siste 2 vekene.	kvart utsegn dei siste 2 vekene
«Ikke i det hele tatt» til «hele	(Svarkategoriar frå «Ikkje i det	(Svarkategoriar frå «Ikkje i det
tiden »)	heile teke» til «heile tida»)	heile tatt» til «heile tida »)
Jeg har vært optimistisk med	Eg har vore optimistisk med	Eg har vore optimistisk med
hensyn til fremtiden	omsyn til framtida	omsyn til framtida
Jeg har følt meg nyttig	Eg har følt meg nyttig	Eg har følt meg nyttig
Jeg har følt meg avslappet	Eg har følt meg avslappa	Eg har følt meg avslappa
Jeg har følt interesse for andre	Eg har følt interesse for andre	Eg har følt interesse for andre
mennesker	menneske*	menneske
Jeg har hatt masse energi	Eg har hatt masse energi	Eg har hatt mykje energi
Jeg har håndtert problemer godt	Eg har handtert problem godt**	Eg har handtert problem godt**
Jeg har tenkt klart	Eg har tenkt klårt	Eg har tenkt klart
Jeg har vært fornøyd med meg selv	Eg har vore nøgd med meg sjølv	Eg har vore nøgd med meg sjølv
Jeg har følt nærhet til andre	Eg har følt nærleik til andre	Eg har følt nærleik til andre
mennesker	menneske	menneske
Jeg har følt meg selvsikker	Eg har følt meg sjølvsikker	Eg har følt meg sjølvsikker
Jeg har vært i stand til å ta	Eg har vore i stand til å ta	Eg har vore i stand til å ta
beslutninger	avgjersler	avgjersler
Jeg har følt meg elsket	Eg har følt meg elska***	Eg har følt meg elska***
Jeg har vært interessert i nye ting	Eg har vore interessert i nye ting	Eg har vore interessert i nye ting
Jeg har vært i godt humør	Eg har vore i godt humør	Eg har vore i godt humør

\* Kommentar frå Person 1: «Her ville eg eigentleg ha skrive: Eg har vore interessert i andre menneske».

\*\* Tilbakemeldingar frå pilotundersøkjinga synte at påstanden «Eg har handtert problem godt» var vanskeleg for ein del elevar å forstå innhaldet av. Etter å ha gjennomført tilbakeoversetjingar mellom BM og NN sette ein av faglærarane opp alternativ oversetjing som han meinte var betre «Jeg har løst problemer på en god måte». Då vår vurdering er at meiningsinnhaldet frå den engelske versjonen er godt teke i vare her, har me valgt å bruka denne oversetjinga i vår bruk av WEMWBS, då me trur dette vil gjera påstanden lettare for elevane å forstå.

\*\*\*Etter analyse av pilotdata på påstand «Eg har følt meg elska» er me usikre på om alle elevar tolkar dette på måten det er meint i den engelske versjonen «I've been feeling loved». «Loved» brukast som ein samlebetegnelse for all kjærleik på engelsk, medan det blir differensiert i større grad på norsk mellom «å elske» og «å være glad i». Førstnevnte brukast i stor grad om kjærleiksforhold mellom eit par, medan sistnevnte brukast i stor grad om kjærleiksforhold mellom eit par, medan sistnevnte brukast i stor grad om kjærleiksforhold mellom eit par. Me er usikre på om elevane som har svart 0 «ikkje i det heile tatt» kan ha mistolka denne påstanden til å handla om eit kjærleiksforhold mellom eit par. For å unngå at dette blir eit usikkerheitsmoment i tolkinga av data har me kontakta to engelsklærarar ved ein av pilotskulane med den engelske påstanden og bedt dei oversetja denne. Dei overset denne då til «*Eg har følt at noen er glad i meg*». Me vel difor leggja denne til grunn i vår bruk av WEMWBS.

Back-translations from nynorsk into bokmål

Nynorskversjon (Person 1):	Bokmålsoversetjing (Person 3)	Bokmålsoversetjing (Person 4)
Nedanfor finn du ein del utsegn om kjensler og tankar. Ver vennleg å kryss av for det som best skildrar di oppleving for kvar utsegn dei siste 2 vekene. (Svarkategoriar frå «Ikkje i det heile teke» til «heile tida»)		Under finner du en del uttalelser om følelser og tanker. Vær vennlig å krysse av for det som best beskriver din opplevelse for hver uttalelse de siste to ukene. (Svarkategorier fra «ikke i det hele» til «hele tiden»)
Eg har vore optimistisk med omsyn til framtida	Jeg har vært optimistisk med tanke på framtida.	Jeg har vært optimistisk med hensyn til fremtiden.
Eg har følt meg nyttig	Jeg har følt meg nyttig.	Jeg har følt meg nyttig.
Eg har følt meg avslappa	Jeg har følt meg avslappa.	Jeg har følt meg avslappet.
Eg har følt interesse for andre menneske	Jeg har følt interesse for andre mennesker.	Jeg har følt interesse for andre mennesker.
Eg har hatt masse energi	Jeg har hatt mye energi.	Jeg har hatt masse energi.
Eg har handtert problem godt**	Jeg har løst problemer på en god måte.**	Jeg har håndtert problem godt.**
Eg har tenkt klårt	Jeg har tenkt klart.	Jeg har tenkt klart.
Eg har vore nøgd med meg sjølv	Jeg har vært fornøyd med meg selv.	Jeg har vært fornøyd med meg selv.
Eg har følt nærleik til andre menneske	Jeg har følt nærhet til andre mennesker.	Jeg har følt nærhet til andre mennesker.
Eg har følt meg sjølvsikker	Jeg har følt meg selvsikker.	Jeg har følt meg selvsikker.
Eg har vore i stand til å ta avgjersler	Jeg har vært i stand til å ta egne avgjørelser.	Jeg har vært i stand til å ta avgjørelser.
Eg har følt meg elska	Jeg har følt meg elsket.***	Jeg har følt meg elsket.***
Eg har vore interessert i nye ting	Jeg har vært interessert i nye ting.	Jeg har vært interessert i nye ting.
Eg har vore i godt humør	Jeg har vært i godt humør.	Jeg har vært i godt humør.

Appendix IV:

Study approval from the Norwegian Centre for Research data (NSD)



Ingeborg Barth Vedøy Institutt for idrett og aktiv livsstil Høgskolen i Hedmark, campus Elverum Postboks 400 2418 ELVERUM

Vår dato: 24.06.2016

Vår ref: 48192 / 3 / HIT

Deres ref:

### TILBAKEMELDING PÅ MELDING OM BEHANDLING AV PERSONOPPLYSNINGER

Vi viser til melding om behandling av personopplysninger, mottatt 04.04.2016. All nødvendig informasjon om prosjektet forelå i sin helhet 23.06.2016. Meldingen gjelder prosjektet:

Deres dato:

48192	Skoler, læring og psykisk helse: en studie av faktorer og prosesser i skolemiljøet.
Behandlingsansvarlig	Høgskolen i Hedmark, ved institusjonens øverste leder
Daglig ansvarlig	Ingeborg Barth Vedøy

Personvernombudet har vurdert prosjektet, og finner at behandlingen av personopplysninger vil være regulert av § 7-27 i personopplysningsforskriften. Personvernombudet tilrår at prosjektet gjennomføres.

Personvernombudets tilråding forutsetter at prosjektet gjennomføres i tråd med opplysningene gitt i meldeskjemaet, korrespondanse med ombudet, ombudets kommentarer samt personopplysningsloven og helseregisterloven med forskrifter. Behandlingen av personopplysninger kan settes i gang.

Det gjøres oppmerksom på at det skal gis ny melding dersom behandlingen endres i forhold til de opplysninger som ligger til grunn for personvernombudets vurdering. Endringsmeldinger gis via et eget skjema, http://www.nsd.uib.no/personvern/meldeplikt/skjema.html. Det skal også gis melding etter tre år dersom prosjektet fortsatt pågår. Meldinger skal skje skriftlig til ombudet.

Personvernombudet har lagt ut opplysninger om prosjektet i en offentlig database, http://pvo.nsd.no/prosjekt.

Personvernombudet vil ved prosjektets avslutning, 31.12.2019, rette en henvendelse angående status for behandlingen av personopplysninger.

Vennlig hilsen

Kjersti Haugstvedt

Hildur Thorarensen

Kontaktperson: Hildur Thorarensen tlf: 55 58 26 54 Vedlegg: Prosjektvurdering

Dokumentet er elektronisk produsert og godkjent ved NSDs rutiner for elektronisk godkjenning.

NSD – Norsk senter for forskningsdata AS	Harald Hårfagres gate 29	Tel: +47-55 58 21 17	nsd@nsd.no
NSD - Norwegian Centre for Research Data	NO-5007 Bergen, NORWAY	Faks: +47-55 58 96 50	www.nsd.no

Org.nr. 985 321 884

### Personvernombudet for forskning



### Prosjektvurdering - Kommentar

Prosjektnr: 48192

### BAKGRUNN OG FORMÅL

Formålet er å gjennomføre en prospektiv kohortstudie som skal innhente spørreskjemadata, objektivt fysisk aktivitetsnivå (gjennom bruk av aktivitetsmålere) og karakterutskrift hos elever alle tre årene de går på ungdomsskolen. Formålet er å øke kunnskap om hvilke individuelle- og skolefaktorer som påvirker ungdommers psykiske helse i denne perioden av livet. Man er primært opptatt av å undersøke faktorer som styrker den psykiske helsen, og vil derfor ikke undersøke prevalens av psykiske lidelser. Ungdommene sitt fysisk aktivitetsnivå, aktivitetsmønster og utvikling av dette, er tillagt en særskilt vekt i dette prosjektet. Forholdet mellom fysisk aktivitet, akademiske prestasjoner og psykisk helse vil derfor være en sentral del av dette prosjektet.

Data innhentes i form av spørreskjema, registrering av aktivitetsnivå, vekt, høyde, midjemål og karakterer.

Prosjektleder oppgir at prosjektgruppen har vært i kontakt med REK, og kommet frem til at prosjektet faller utenfor helseforskningsloven.

### INFORMASJON OG SAMTYKKE

Utvalget informeres skriftlig om prosjektet og samtykker til deltakelse. Foreldre samtykker for sine barn. Informasjonsskrivet mottatt 23.06.2016 er godt utformet.

Merk at når barn skal delta aktivt, er deltagelsen alltid frivillig for barnet, selv om de foresatte samtykker. Barnet bør få alderstilpasset informasjon om prosjektet, og det må sørges for at de forstår at deltakelse er frivillig og at de når som helst kan trekke seg dersom de ønsker det.

### INFORMASJONSSIKKERHET

Det behandles sensitive personopplysninger om helseforhold.

Personvernombudet legger til grunn at forsker etterfølger Høgskolen i Hedmark sine interne rutiner for datasikkerhet.

Høgskolen i Lillehammer er databehandler for prosjektet. Høgskolen i Hedmark skal inngå skriftlig avtale med Høgskolen i Lillehammer om hvordan personopplysninger skal behandles, jf. personopplysningsloven § 15. For råd om hva databehandleravtalen bør inneholde, se Datatilsynets veileder: http://www.datatilsynet.no/Sikkerhet-internkontroll/Databehandleravtale/.

### PROSJEKTSLUTT OG ANONYMISERING

Forventet prosjektslutt er 31.12.2019. Ifølge prosjektmeldingen skal innsamlede opplysninger da anonymiseres. Anonymisering innebærer å bearbeide datamaterialet slik at ingen enkeltpersoner kan gjenkjennes. Det gjøres

### ved å:

- slette direkte personopplysninger (som navn/koblingsnøkkel)

- slette/omskrive indirekte personopplysninger (identifiserende sammenstilling av bakgrunnsopplysninger som f.eks. bosted/arbeidssted, alder og kjønn)

Vi gjør oppmerksom på at også databehandler (Høyskolen i Lillehammer) må slette personopplysninger tilknyttet prosjektet i sine systemer. Dette inkluderer eventuelle logger og koblinger mellom IP-/epostadresser og besvarelser.

### Appendix V:

Study information and informed consent



### INFORMASJON OM SKOLE, LÆRING OG PSYKISK HELSE PROSJEKTET

Kjære elev og foreldre/foresatt,

Høgskolen i Hedmark, Avdeling for folkehelsefag ønsker å undersøke hvordan ungdom har det på skolen og i fritiden, og hvordan deres psykiske helse og læring påvirkes av hvordan de trives på skolen sammen med andre elever. Målet med studien er å få mer kunnskap om hvilke faktorer som fremmer og hemmer ungdommers psykiske helse og læring. Vi inviterer derfor ditt barn til å delta i en spørreundersøkelse på skolen høsten 2016, 2017 og 2018. Undersøkelsen gjennomføres på PC sammen med de andre elevene i klassen. Undersøkelsen vil foregå i en skoletime, og de vil bruke ca. 40 - 45 minutter på å svare på spørsmålene.

Vi ønsker også å kartlegge ditt barns aktivitetsnivå. Dette gjør vi ved hjelp av en aktivitetsmåler som de skal bære i et belte rundt livet i sju påfølgende dager. Aktivitetsmåleren er på størrelse med en fyrstikkeske, og den blir levert ut på skolen. Registreringen vil ikke påvirke deres hverdag. Samtidig ønsker vi å måle høyde, vekt og midjemål.

I tillegg til dette ønsker vi å få tilgang til ditt barns halvtårskarakterer i januar alle de tre årene som undersøkelsen varer. Vi ønsker å samle inn informasjon om dette for å kunne undersøke om hvordan ungdom har det påvirker læring og skoleprestasjon.

Vi kommer til å besøke ditt barn i skoletiden ved to anledninger med en ukes mellomrom. Den første dagen vi kommer vil vi informere om undersøkelsen, dele ut aktivitetsmålerne og måle høyde, vekt og midjemål. Ved neste skolebesøk vil vi samle inn aktivitetsmålerne og gjennomføre spørreundersøkelsen.

Ditt barns deltakelse i studien er frivillig, og all informasjon de gir vil bli behandlet konfidensielt. Dette betyr at verken foreldre/foresatte, lærere eller noen andre ungdommen kjenner vil få vite hva de har svart i spørreundersøkelsen eller noe om de andre målingene de har gjennomført. Selv om det hjelper prosjektet at de gjennomfører disse målingene, er de ikke forpliktet til å besvare alle spørsmålene i spørreskjemaet eller gjennomføre alle de andre tilhørende målingene

Dersom ditt barn deltar i studien, men på et senere tidspunkt ikke ønsker å delta lenger, kan du/ditt barn informere oss direkte eller via barnets lærer slik at vi kan slette den informasjonen som ditt barn allerede har gitt til undersøkelsen.

Innsamlede opplysninger om ditt barn oppbevares slik at navn er erstattet med en kode som viser til en atskilt navneliste. Denne listen ligger på en passordsikret server som kun prosjektansvarlig, Miranda Thurston, og stipendiat, Ingeborg Barth Vedøy, har tilgang til. Det vil ikke være mulig å identifisere ditt barn i resultatene av undersøkelsen når disse publiseres. Etter prosjektslutt 31.12.2019, vil alle personopplysninger bli anonymisert. Høgskolen i Lillehammer vil behandle data fra spørreskjemaene for prosjektet.

Dersom du har spørsmål angående prosjektet, ta kontakt med Ingeborg Barth Vedøy på tlf. 62430345/91534951 eller Hege Eikeland Tjomsland på tlf. 62430118/48510865.

Ditt barns deltakelse i studien er høyt verdsatt, og vi ser fram til å treffe ham/henne!

Vennlig hilsen Miranda Thurston

Professor, Høgskolen i Hedmark

### ELEVENES SAMTYKKEERKLÆRING

Studie: Skole, læring og psykisk helse - SL&MH-prosjektet

Prosjektansvarlig: Miranda Thurston

Jeg, \_\_\_\_\_\_ har lest informasjonsarket, og jeg forstår hensikten med prosjektet. Undersøkelsen har blitt forklart for meg, og jeg forstår at all informasjon jeg gir fra meg vil bli behandlet konfidensielt. Jeg vet at jeg når som helst kan trekke meg fra studien uten å oppgi noen grunn og uten at dette får noen konsekvenser, ved å informere lederen av studien eller læreren min.

Signatur: \_\_\_\_\_

Dato: \_\_\_\_\_

### FORELDRENES SAMTYKKEERKLÆRING

\_\_\_\_\_

Studie: Skole, læring og psykisk helse - SL&MH-prosjektet

Prosjektansvarlig: Miranda Thurston

Jeg, \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ har lest informasjonsarket, og jeg forstår hensikten med prosjektet. Undersøkelsen har blitt forklart for meg, og jeg forstår at all informasjon min sønn / datter gir fra seg vil bli behandlet konfidensielt. Jeg vet at min sønn / datter når som helst kan trekke seg fra studien uten å oppgi noen grunn og uten at dette får noen konsekvenser, ved å informere lederen av studien eller læreren hans / hennes.

Signatur: \_\_\_\_\_

Dato:

### Appendix VI:

Time spent cycling and/or swimming in T1 to T3

Time spent cycling in T1 to T3, n (%).

Time spent cycling	T1 (2016)	T2 (2017)	T3 (2018)	
0 hours	295 (51.7)	251 (46.7)	245 (48.0)	
1 hour	95 (16.6)	101 (18.8)	92 (18.0)	
2 hours	72 (12.6)	65 (12.1)	68 (13.3)	
3-5 hours	77 (13.6)	86 (15.9)	83 (16.3)	
≥ 6 hours	27 (5.0)	34 (6.3)	22 (4.4)	

Time spent swimming in T1 to T3, n (%).

Time spent swimming	T1 (2016)	T2 (2017)	T3 (2018)
0 hours	332 (57.8)	404 (76.4)	408 (80.5)
1 hour	92 (16.0)	39 (7.4)	49 (9.7)
2 hours	75 (13.1)	30 (5.7)	19 (3.7)
3-5 hours	40 (7.0)	20 (3.8)	18 (3.6)
≥ 6 hours	35 (6.2)	36 (6.8)	13 (2.6)
## Appendix VII:

Adherence to PA measurements in T1 to T3

Adherence to accelerometer measurements in T1 to T3, (%)

Time point	Valid measurements (≥2 days)
T1 (2016) <sup>1</sup>	572 (95.5)
T2 (2017) <sup>1</sup>	500 (87.1)
T3 (2018) <sup>2</sup>	461 (87.6)

<sup>1</sup> As participants with 2 and 3 days of measurement did not differ significantly from participants adhering to  $\geq$ 4 valid wear days, they were included in PA analyses in T1 and T2

<sup>2</sup> As participants with 1, 2 and 3 days of measurement did not differ significantly from participants adhering to  $\geq$ 4 valid wear days, they where included in PA analyses in T3

Ingeborg Barth Vedøy // Physical activity, mental health and academic achievement in adolescents